Agility, Adaptability and Re-Alignment




Dear Fellow Shareholders,

2020 was a year unlike any in our lifetimes. | am very pleased with the way that MEC responded
to the challenges we faced. We were steadfastly dedicated to the health and safety of our
employees. We did this by adhering to our core strengths — agility, adaptability, and
realignment — at all times. Not only did we effectively adapt our operations to continue working
throughout the year to support our customers, but we were also still able to focus on optimizing
our cost structure through facility and process improvement and fortify our financial position. |
give credit to our entire team for their resilience in diligently implementing those plans and
continually adapting to the changing environment.

After navigating a challenging second quarter, when many customers were forced to temporarily shut down their facilities, we delivered
improved results in the second half of the year as customers were able to ramp up production. | am very proud of the fact that despite
volume declines driven by the pandemic, we maintained every project and customer. And as our customers’ volumes came back, so did
ours. In addition, we were able to grow volumes with newer customers and build upon our market leading position. We were able to
adapt and quickly pivot to meet our customer’s pandemic needs.

At the same time, we continued to realign our operations and realize three significant improvements in our operational efficiency
throughout the year:
° First, by capturing full-year benefits from the acquisition of Defiance Metal Products (DMP), which is now fully integrated into
our organization and producing the expected synergies.
e Second, by realizing efficiencies from our recent investments in technology and automation.
° Third, from the consolidation of our Greenwood, South Carolina, facility during the second and third quarters. Executing this
project successfully reduced footprint and overhead costs while maintaining our manufacturing capacity. We completed it on
time, on budget and without any disruption for our customers.

Overall, we saw a strong rebound in the second half of 2020 and ended the year on a positive note. It is important to note that despite
the challenges of the pandemic we generated strong cash flow resulting in significant debt paydown of approximately $28 million, an
ending debt balance of $47.9 million, and a leverage ratio of approximately 1.5x as of year-end.

A Resolute Focus on Our Customers

As | have told many of you, MEC continues to focus on four foundational imperatives for success: quality, cost, speed, and outstanding
customer service. We demand of ourselves that we are the highest-quality, most cost-efficient, and most agile fabricator in the world.
MEC looks for ways to add value to our relationships. Our customers are our partners, and we strive for their success. We honor our
heritage, while building upon these imperatives every day. MEC partners with blue-chip companies, allowing them to focus on super-
charging their new product development, assembly, and distribution connection to their customers. We collaborate on design and
manufacturing so the product can be developed and assembled in the best way possible. Our partners know that our expertise in value
engineering and the geographic scale we can provide, combined with state-of-the-art technology, is a powerful combination. And when
you add in our most important asset — our best-in-class workforce — our customers know we will produce for them every time!

This leads to a robust pipeline of new opportunities with numerous new projects being actively pursued, which continues to build the
excitement within our organization about the potential opportunities in 2021.

Enhancing our Market Leadership

In addition to investing in the business, deepening current relationships, and pursuing new ones, we remain open to strategic acquisition
opportunities that will help us achieve long-term growth. Given the strength of our balance sheet, we are in an excellent position to
pursue the right deal at the right time to expand and diversify our product offering, address new industries, and introduce new blue-chip
customers.



The flexibility and resources we have to grow our business, even in this difficult market environment, will ensure MEC continues to thrive
when our competition starts to falter. We are seeing the benefits of the significant flexible automation capital investments we continue
to make, while continuing to implement the necessary cost adjustments that come with market fluctuations.

| continue to be invigorated every day by the large addressable opportunities that MEC has for continued growth and improved business
results. My fellow employee shareholders and their commitment to our company is outstanding. Our employee shareholders —alongside
our base of institutional investors — see the strong operational and financial foundations of this company. They know our history of
prudently yet actively investing in leading edge technology and they appreciate the three primary areas we will invest in for our future:

e Organic Growth: We believe there is a significant addressable market opportunity with our strong one-stop offerings. Outsourcing
in our served markets will continue to grow. As a well-diversified market leader, MEC can also shift between served markets,
establishing enhanced revenue streams in attractive, adjacent, or complementary platforms through new product extensions.
Capturing a wider variety of products and more platforms with the best value, quality and on time delivery both increases customer
“stickiness” and attracts potential new customers that look to simplify or shorten and restore their critical supply chains, while also
defending our market position from our competitors. We will continue to focus on customers who are #1 or #2 in their served
markets as we benefit from their comparatively steadier volume performance and best-in-class manufacturing practices.

° Process and Capital-Driven Improvement Initiatives: Driven by our imperatives of quality, cost and speed this prong of our strategy
will continue to include smart investment in flexible, redeploy able automation, coupled with continuous improvement activities.
This will allow us to extend our differentiated and defendable market-leading position, as well as drive ongoing cost and operating
improvements.

e Acquisitions: Our reputation, scale and track record of performance make us the “buyer of choice.” When the time comes to sell
their business, we believe most competitors would prefer to sell to a strategic and synergistic market leader like MEC with a long-
term, value-creating, innovative culture.

As we look ahead, we will continue to take advantage of industry trends that our scale and partnerships make possible.

Significant Opportunities in 2021 and Beyond

In our Commercial Vehicles market, 2021 looks much more positive. We anticipate that the market will remain solid in the near-term
given the continued strength of carrier profitability driving industry new truck orders and a growing backlog. We continue to pay close
attention to potential supply chain constraints that could impact our volume at some points in 2021.

The power sports market we serve also appears to be maintaining its positive momentum as outdoor recreation is expected to be a
priority for consumers again in 2021. We continue to believe that this will be an area of relative strength in the near-term as customers
work to rebuild their dealer inventories and satisfy robust customer retail demand.

In the construction and access end markets we see positive signs in residential construction, potentially offset by some uncertainty that
exists in non-residential and oil & gas markets. We believe we are positioned to respond well to any changes in retail demand going
forward.

The agriculture market we serve also looks relatively encouraging, and the market dynamics of increasing crop prices and low crop
inventories that we have seen recently bodes well for this market in the future.

Finally, our military segment has continued to be a steady market for us, and we expect it to be an ongoing source of strength for the
foreseeable future.

While | have no doubt that we are well-positioned in these markets, we also must manage our business through all cycles. We have the
resources and scale that none of our competitors possess. Our disciplined capital allocation that has driven our growth will continue to
serve us well. Our dedicated workforce will continue to help our customers through unrivaled innovation.



Leadership and Governance Changes

Lastly, we recently made some changes to our Board of Directors. First, current director Craig E. Johnson indicated he will not seek
reelection and will retire from the Board at the end of his current term expiring at the upcoming 2021 annual meeting of shareholders.
We have all been fortunate to have Craig serve on our board for the past 14 years. Our Company has grown tremendously during his
tenure, and his expertise has been an invaluable resource for MEC through times of growth and change. On a personal note, | want to
extend my gratitude to Craig for his counsel and support over the years. We all wish him the very best for his retirement from MEC in
2021.

Second, our Board elected Jennifer Kent as a director of the Company. With over 20 years of broad business and leadership experience,
including managing multiple functions at a public company, Jennie is an excellent addition to our board as a new independent director.
In addition to her extensive legal, compliance, and human resources experience, we look forward to gaining her perspectives on diverse
areas such as change management, talent development, and legal and compliance risk management.

Jennie currently serves as Executive Vice President of Administration, General Counsel & Secretary at Quad/Graphics, a worldwide
marketing partner with a strong foundation in print, where she oversees a broad range of corporate functions including legal, compliance,
human resources, corporate communications, government affairs, real estate, and safety and environmental management.

| want to leave you with this parting thought. It is a theme that | have emphasized throughout my tenure at MEC. ‘Be the Best’ truly
drives every decision, every investment, and every initiative we undertake. In short, it is why we are the largest and most successful
fabricator in the country.

In closing, | would like to thank my executive team, my board members and all MEC employees for their tireless efforts throughout this
year and their belief in our company and mission.

Sincerely,

Retect ©. %_?L_,

Robert D. Kamphuis
Chairman of the Board, President and CEO
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PARTI

Item 1. Business.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K contain forward-looking statements thatinvolve risks and
uncertainties, such as statements related to future events, business strategy, future performance, future operations, financial position,
estimated revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management. All statements other than statements of
historical factmaybe forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are often, butnotalways, identified by theuse of
words such as “seek,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “continue,” “estimate,” “expect,” “may,” “will,” “project,” “predict,” “potential,”

“targeting,” “intend,” “could,”“might,” “should,” “believe” and similar expressions or their negative. Forward-looking statements

should notbereadas a guarantee of future performance orresults, and will not necessarily be accurateindications of thetimes at, or
by, which such performance orresults will be achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on management’s belief, based on
currently available infommation, as to the outcome and timing of future events. These statements involve estimates, assumptions,
known andunknownrisks, uncertainties and other factors that may causeactualresults or events to differ materially from those
expressedin such forward-looking statements. Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. (MEC, the Company, we, our, us or similar
terms) believes the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are
reasonable, but noassurance can be given thatthese expectations will prove to be correct. Forward-looking statements should not be
unduly relied upon.

Important factors thatcould causeactual results or events to differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking
statements include, but arenot limited to, those described in “Risk Factors”in Part I, Item 1 A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the yearended December31,2020,as suchmay be amended or supplemented in Part I, Item 1 A of our subsequently filed Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, and the following:

. the negative impacts the coronavirus (COVID-19) has hadand will continue to have onourbusiness, financial condition,
cash flows, results of operations and supply chain (including future uncertain impacts);

. failure to compete successfully in our markets;

. risks relating to developments in the industries in which our customers operate;

. ourability to maintain our manufacturing, engineering and technological expertise;

. theloss of any ofourlarge customers orthe loss of their respective market shares;

. risks related to scheduling production accurately and maximizing efficiency;

. ourability to realize net sales represented by ourawarded business;

. ourability to successfully identify or integrate acquisitions;

. risks related to entering new markets;

. ourability to developnew and innovative processes and gain customer a cceptance of such processes;
. ourability to recruit and retain our key executive officers, managers and trade-skilled personnel;
. risks related to our information technology systems and infrastructure;

. manufacturingrisks, including delays and technical problems, issues with third-party suppliers, environmental risks and
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements;

. politicaland economic developments, including foreign traderelations and associated tariffs;

. volatility in the prices oravailability of raw materials criticalto our business;

. results of legaldisputes, including product liability, intellectual property infringement and other claims;
. risks associated with our capital-intensive industry;

. risks related to ourtreatment as an S Corporation prior to the consummation of our initial public offering of common
stock (IPO); and

. risks related to our employee stock ownership plan’s treatment as a tax-qualified retirement plan.

These factors arenot necessarily all of the important factors that could causeactualresults or events to differ materially from
those expressed in forward-looking statements. Other unknown or unpredictable factors could also cause actual results or events to
differmaterially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements attributable to us are
qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. Forward-looking statements speak only as ofthe date hereof. We undertake no
obligation to update orrevise any forward-looking statements after the date on which any such statement is made, whetheras a result
of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by federal securities laws.
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General

MEC is a leading U.S.-based value-added manufacturing partner that provides a broad range of prototypingandtooling,
production fabrication, coating, assembly and aftermarket components. Our customers operatein diverse end markets, including
heavy-and medium-duty commercial vehicles, construction & access equipment, powersports, a griculture, military and otherend
markets. We have developed long-standing rela tionships with our blue-chip customers basedupona high level of experience, trust and
confidence. “We Make Things Simple” by providinga diverse set of process offerings anda “one stop shop” for end-to-end solutions
with benefits throughout the entire productlifecycle, including front-end collaboration in design and prototyping, product
manufacturing, a ftermarket components and ancillary supply chain benefits. Founded as a corporation in 1945 and headquartered in
Mayville, Wisconsin, we are a leading Tier I U.S. supplier of highly engineered components to original equipment manufacturer
(OEM) customers with leading position in their respective markets. We are focused on producing the highest quality components
using complex processes at the lowest cost by working with customers throughout the productdesign and development process to
establish optimal solutions. Ourengineering expertise and technical know-how allow us to add value through every product
redevelopmentcycle (generally every three to five years for our customers). Accordingto The Fabricator, we havebeenrankedas the
largest fabricator in the United States for the past tenyears in a row (2011—2020). We are more than two times the size of ournext
largest competitor, based on The Fabricator’s projections forrevenue for metal fabricating companies.

Our customers’ complex products require a unique combination of our capabilities that allow us to achievea customized
offeringto satisfy our customers’ desired outcomes. Our capabilities, which include, but are notlimited to: metal fabrication, metal
stamping, tube bending and forming, robotic part forming, robotic welding, resistance welding, five-axis tube and fiber laser cutting
and custom coatings, including high heat and chemical a gent resistantcoating (CARC) painting, are used in a variety ofapplications
and representthe building blocks of what we produce.

Our key customers have globally recognized brands and demand the highest product quality and expertise. Over our 75-year
history, we havedeveloped capabilities and provide solutions that result in customer loyalty and long-standing rela tionships, which we
call“Experience You Can Trust”. We havea diverseand market-leading customerbasethatserves broad end markets representing
favorable near- and long-term growth prospects forus. We have a track record of growth and are well-positioned to increase our
market share and benefit from growth in customer demand as well as consolidate demand a cross the end markets that we serve. To
help pursue our strategic mission, we have approximately 2,150 employees who are tactically aligned around our core values and will
continue to participate in our employee ownership culture. We are led by an experienced management team that has contributed to our
growth by establishing deep and long-standing relationships with key customers and has worked to expand the customer baseboth
organically and through strategic acquisitions.

We maintain an established base of long-standing customers comprised ofleading, blue-chip OEM manufactures across the
United States. Ourbroad capabilities offering and track record of producing the highest quality solutions have allowed us to establish,
and subsequently deepen, relationships with additional products and platforms overtime. Forexample, ourmore than40 year
relationship with Deere & Company (John Deere) began with a small order of simple stamped parts fora farm tractorin its
agricultural segment thatexpanded overtime and represented 2020 sales in excess of $54.5 million across five market segments,
representing over 60 model platforms. We have also been successful in winning customers and ra pidly expanding rela tionships with
high-growth customers by utilizing our diversified “one-stop” offering. For instance, our relationship with Volvo Truck began with
fueltanks and has expanded overthe lasteight years to include exhaust tubing, new sleeper cab and chassis fa brications and other
fabrications. Through the expansion of multiple fabricated components from multiple facilities, we havebeenable to deepen our
relationship with this customer and solidify our positionas an important stra tegic sourcing partner.

We serve customers through 19 strategically located U.S. facilities thatare in operation, across seven states, with almost 2.7
million square feet of manufacturing capacity. Our expansive footprint enables us to service and maintain strong relationships with
existingkey customers across the United States with a “local” presence, as wellas targetnew customer opportunities. We have a
proven trackrecord of improving financial results by thoroughly understanding our ca pabilities and the markets we serve, and aligning
ourpeople andresources to optimizeresults. Coupled with our focus on market alignment and execution, we constantly strive to
improve and refine capabilities, capacities and reduce our carbon footprint. In addition, the ongoing investment in flexible, re-
deployable automationallows us to expand output while reducing costand improving quality, productivity and consistency for margin
enhancement and market leading competitiveness.

Our leading marketposition, embedded customer relationships with leading OEMs, unique value proposition and proven
acquisitionstrategy has allowed us to achieve attractive financial performanceand has positioned us for further growth. Our historical
financial success is a function of our engineering expertise, extensive manufacturing capabilities, limited commodity exposure,
investment in automation and embedded relationships with the contractual ability to pass input costs through prices. We believe we
are poised to grow though economic cycles due to our:

. market positioning and reputation;

. productbreadth;



. flexible andre-deployable capital investment in automation and process capabilities; and

. our geographic, end market and product diversification.

Our diversified profile today best positions us forstability and leading market performance through all phases ofan economic
cycle.

Acquisition

Our acquisition and integration activities have extended our manufacturing capabilities, productlines, geographical footprint,
and endmarkets served.

Our most recent acquisition was completed on December 14,2018 when we acquired Defiance Metal Products Co., Inc. (DMP),
a full-service metal fabricator and contract manufacturer with two facilities in Defiance, OH, one in Heber Springs, AR, and one in
Bedford, PA. We acquired DMP for $117.1 million, net of cashreceived. The DMP acquisition provided us with enhanced product,
customer and geographic diversification with minimal customer overlap (i.e. less than $15.0 million).

Our Industry

We compete in the highly fragmented market of contract manufacturers, the majority of which are smalllocalplayers that are
limited in scale, capabilities and technology. Many ofthese local manufacturers have single or limited production capabilities and
provide niche components in specific geographic markets. Accordingly, there are a limited number of competitors in the contract
manufacturing market in which we operate with the capacity and expertise to deliver the fullrange of solutions we offer. Forexample,
ourdiverse manufacturing capabilities across product lines have contributed to us being the recipientof The Fabricator’s “FAB 407 #1
Largest Fabricator in the attractive U.S. markets forthe pastten yearsin a row (2011 —2020). While we compete with certain
manufacturers across selected product lines, we believe thatno single manufacturer directly competes with us across our full offering
and end marketapplications.

Our end market diversification coupled with our extensive productbreadth allows us to maintain financial stability as individual
end markets fluctuate. The primary end markets we serve include heavy-and medium-duty commercial vehicles, construction &
access equipment, powersports, a griculture and military, among other machinery markets. As markets strengthen or weaken, our
output is redirected and realigned to support ongoing change. Further, as these fluctuations a ffect the market, we are favorably
positioned to benefit from the broader trend of our OEM customers to consolidate to fewer and more sophisticated suppliers in order
to improve quality and delivery while lowering the total cost of doing business. This consolidation trend willallowus to grow and
protects our cash flow as markets change and shift.

We have alsoexperienced, and benefitted from, an OEM trend of seeking to improve their strategy execution and simplify their
business through outsourcing. Based on our history, OEMs pursue a strategy that focuses on core component market differentiation,
such as structural frames and complete powertrain assemblies, and prefer to outsource the remaining product components to third
parties rather than manufacturing them in-house. This is done in order to maintain their strategic focus, drive cost savings and reduce
theirown investment in manufacturing, thereby allowing them to focus on themost importantaspects oftheir value creation process,
namely productdesign and development, final productassembly and testing, branding, sales, marketing and distribution. While each
specific OEM differs in its strategy, we see this trend continuing as customers deal with work force constraints and look for optimum
return on investments and improving cash flow. Moreover, our OEM customers focus on the production ofthe corecomponents of
their products, which leads them to rely on outsourced providers like us for the remaining components of their finished product needs.
We believe we will benefit from this continued shiftin our customers’ focus and ongoing desire for OEMs to improve efficiencies,
reduce costs and simplify supply chains. Our established and embedded relationships, breadth of capabilities and scalability will allow
us to simplify the supply chain process for our customers by actingas a single point of contact in the supply chain. Inaddition, we
believe OEMs are increasingly favoring platforms supported by larger, more sophisticated and financially stable suppliers with the
ability to serve large national and international operations all while maintaininga local touch. Our extensive manufacturing footprint,
competitive coststructure and integrated design, engineering, production planning and quality program management capabilities
positions us favorably totakeadvantage of these opportunities and trends.

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that customers turn tous for theirmanufacturing needs because we are theultimate “ReSource”. ReSource is a dual-
purpose acronym we use to describe the breadth of our capabilities and our goalto be the one-stop solution allowing customers to re-
source allof their fabricationneeds through us. We collaborate with our customers to generate a strategic alignment and position
ourselves as an essential part of our customers’ product development and manufacturing process by drawing on our deep product and
engineering knowledge to deliver best-in-class solutions. We offer a broad portfolio of end-to-end solutions comprised of advanced
and innovative processes and capabilities thatenhance quality and simplify supply chains. We are focused on producing thehighest

3



quality components using complex processes at thelowest costby working with customers throughout the product design and
development process to establish optimal solutions. Our engineering expertise and technical know-how allows us to add value through
every productredevelopment cycle (generally every three to five years for our customers).

Value-Added Supply Chain Partner with Embedded Relationships. Our embedded relationships with ourlarge and diverse
customer baseare driven by the P.R.I.D.E. (“Personal Responsibility In Daily Excellence””) approach our employees takein their
work, which emphasizes the highest quality and performancein all facets of our business, including our ability to partner with our
customers and deliver to them complex solutions across a wide range of products. Ourunique, end-to-end offering provides solutions
throughout thelife cycle of a product, including upfront product manufacturability advice and prototyping, production volumes and
aftermarket components. We strive to maintain operation alignment (and continuous re-alignment) with our customers’ strategy and
productionactivities as they evolve, allowing us to remain agile in response to market changes, while enabling our customers to be
successful, and to remain adaptable to changes in customer needs to retain flexibility to adjust appropriately. Together, these items
comprise “The MEC Mission.” Our focus on collaboration with our customers and our breadth of capabilities also generates strategic
alignmentwith our customers, resulting in sticky relationships, driving vendor reduction and providing other ancillary benefits such as
optimization of working capital investments. Our track record of engineering expertise has resulted in our consistent inclusion in
customer design and prototypingactivities, enabling customers to view us as an invaluable extension oftheir own teams. In turn, this
collaborationallows our customers to focus on the developmentof their core technologies and products. Our positionas a deeply
embedded supply chain partner of scale allows us to providea multitude of solutions, driving strong customer rela tionships with high
switching costs.

Leading and Defendable Market Position in Attractive North American Market. Accordingto the Fabricator, we havebeen
rankedas the largest fabricator in the United States for the past tenyears in a row (2011—2020). The marketis highly fragmented and
characterized by high barriers to entry given the complex nature of the work, established relationships, and high customer switching
costs. While there are numerous competitors in the markets in which we operate, few maintain the product breadth, manufacturing
capabilities, scale orengineering expertise that we do. Our depth of capabilities allows us to offer our customers:

. low volumeproduction capability;

. customized and sophisticated solutions;

. unique engineering and manufacturing capabilities throughout the productlifecycle;

. criticalscale to service large national and regional customers as wellas local customers; and
. the ability to act asasingle point of contact and offer seamless customer service.

Our position in the market, along with ouracquisition experience and reputationas the go-to consolidator, will result in
continued organic and acquisitive growth in the future.



End Marketand Customer Diversification. Our value-added manufacturing focus enables us to remain diversified across a
variety of customer end markets, including heavy- and medium-duty commercial vehicles, construction & access equipment,
powersports, agriculture and military, among others. These end markets are representative of our globally recognized customers,
which are comprised of large OEM manufacturers. In 2020, our top customer and top ten customers accounted for 15%and 79%of
net sales respectively, which collectively represents hundreds of platforms that we serve across a variety ofend markets and customer
operating segments. Ouraccess to a multitude of end markets allows us to strategically shift focus to sellinto current opportunities as
end market demand evolves. In addition to customer and end market diversification, our customers themselves are also diversified
across multiple end markets. For example, John Deere is one of our leading customers with 2020 netsales accounting for 1 5% ofour
totalnet sales, to whom we provide over 5,000 SKUs across over 60 individual John Deere platforms including the agriculture,
forestry, turfcare, power systems and construction & access equipmentend markets. Our increasingly stable performance is a direct
result of our intentional business design of agility and adaptability to realign manufacturing capacities to serve diversifiedand ever-
changing end markets.

End Market Diversification
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Breadth of Capabilities Appealing to a Variety of Applications. We have many manufacturing capabilities that together
represent thebuilding blocks forthe complex solutions we provideto our customers. We maintain a full spectrum of capabilities
across our 19 production facilities to address a wide set of customer needs, includingupfront product developmentadvice and
prototyping, unique manufacturing processes and capabilities across a variety of products and back-end finishing, assembly and
aftermarket components representing a unique end-to-end offering. Ourrange of capabilities combined with our breadth of
components, including fabrications, tubes, tanks, and performance structures, expands the applicable uses and end markets in which
we may offer our components. Throughoutour history, our capabilities have allowed us to generate growthby expanding into new
verticals and by further penetrating existing verticals through cross-selling to increase wallet share, a strategy that has driven sticky
relationships with our customers. Further, our unique combination of manufacturing processes allows us to opportunistically target
sophisticated, higher margin business. The diversity of our offering has provided our Company with financial stability through various
end market and economic cycles.

Technology-Enabled Infrastructure. We continueto investin a technology-enabled asset base that provides significant flexible
and re-deployable capacity to support our planned growth, increases profitability, efficiency, quality and employee sa fety, reduces
spend on energy anddrives a long-term costadvantage over our competitors. We have leveraged our purchasing power to make
significant investments in operational infrastructurethroughout our history, in items such as flexible and re-deployable automation and
capacity improvements to improve throughput, quality and consistency. Forexample, we were one of the first in our industry to adopt
fiberlasersandhavecontinued toinvestin this capability. We haveimplemented 10,000-watt fiber lasers with anautomation tower,
which are on average three times faster, providea cleaner, more precise cut and use one-third ofthe power compared to traditional
CO2 lasers, with a payback period of less thantwo years. Additionally, the implementation of robotic brakes has improved quality
through a continued shifttowards precision automation. By reducing setup procedures, manual employeelifting requirements and
downtime while offering additional capacity, the implementation of robotic brakes has resulted in a payback period of approximately
two years. Thesetwo examples of investments in technology-enabled infrastructure allow us to reallocate our workforce, as
employees canbe retrained and redeployed into more technically skilled positions. In today’s ever-changing labor market, the ability
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to redeploy laborto increase flexibility and capacity for our customers is of utmostimportance and interest as part of our strategy. Our
investments in continuous improvement and automation have driven operational efficiencies and improved metric tracking allowing
ourmanagement team to more effectively run the business and improve the value we provide to our customers. We have, from time-
to-time, made strategic, customer-driven investments that directly support new product and market expansion which result in further
competitive advantages and higher switching costs for our customers.

Cost Structure and Operational Excellence. We have reduced our exposure to commodity price risk by structuring our
customer contracts to pass through changes in commodity prices. As such, we have beenable to effectively limit any potentialimpact
from tariffs and commodity price volatility to our margins. Ourscale and profitability have also allowed us the flexibility to
implement continuous improvementinitiatives in driving efficiencies, such as automation and additional ca pacity, which will result in
long-term efficiency and margin improvements, and expanded capabilities.

Our Strategy

Achieve Sales Growth Through Organic Expansion. We believe thereis ample opportunity to achieve deeper penetration of
existing customers and to win new customers with our strong one-stop offerings. By leveraging our core product capabilities to
expandinto new markets, and establishing new offerings in attractive, adjacent or complementary platforms through new product
introductions, there is significant opportunity to execute on our organic growth initiatives. Expanding our wallet share with our
customers by capturing a wider variety of products and more platforms both solidifies our relationship with customers (because it
increases customer switching costs) and attracts potential new customers that seek to simplify supply chains, while also defending our
market position from our competitors. These opportunities are enhanced through cross sellingbetween MEC’s capabilities and
customer base. Our expertise allows us to producehigher quality components at cost-effective rates while our volume, equipmentand
know-how establish competitive advantages. Further, an expanded offering increases our strategic alignment with customers and
supportsour “We Make Things Simple” value proposition by presenting customers with further vendor consolidation opportunities.

Pursue Opportunistic Acquisitions. Our management team maintains a proven track record of successfully executing and
integrating strategic acquisitions. We have completed two significant acquisitions since 2012 (Center Mfg. Co.in 2012 and DMP in
December2018)and four other complementary acquisitions since 2004, which have contributed new capabilities, product offerings,
end markets served, and technologies to ourlegacy business, along with significantsynergy opportunities that have enhanced our
financial position. Our strategy is to continue to identify, and opportunistically executeon, accretive acquisitions that will allow our
Company to achieve further growth. We believe thatourreputation, scale and track record of performance makes us a “consolidator of
choice” among industry participants, which has led to an ample pipeline ofactionable acquisition opportunities. Our investment
criteria foracquisitions are U.S.-based companies with long-standing customer bases comprised ofleading OEMs, and specialized
manufacturing capabilities that allows us to enhance our existing expertise or expand into new types of capabilities, among other
criteria. It is ourview that continued execution of our acquisition strategy provides significant opportunity to generate shareholder
value through further consolidation of our fragmented industry. The market environment, comprised mainly of smalllocaland
regionalplayers, provides ample add-on acquisition opportunities to bolster our one-stop shop approach to broadly serving our
customers. Beyond our existing served markets, we see potential acquisition opportunities within therail, aerospace, medical, fitness,
energy, heavy fabrication and food & beverage end markets, among others.

Continue Process-Driven Improvement Initiatives. Our process-driven improvement initiatives have resulted in significant
savings throughout our history, leading to improved financial results and positive customer outcomes. Our strategy will continue to
include a keen focus oncontinuous improvements in order to maintain a differentiated and defendable market-leading position, as well
asongoing costs and operating improvements including investments in technology and automation, plantconsolidations, and
acquisition integration synergies, which are expected to drive immediate and long-term productivity and margin improvements
through permanent headcountreductions. Examples of recentprocess driven improvement plans include:

. successfulintegration ofnew 10,000 watt fiber lasers, robotic brakepresses, and automated material handling equipment
in Mayville, WI and Defiance, OH;

. consolidation of shifts through better utilization ofautomation on paintlines, new laserand robotic brake press
technology, automated machining centers and optimization of companywide assets;

. closure of our Greenwood, SC and Wytheville, VA facilities and consolidation of their production capabilities into our
other facilities, maintaining overallmanufacturing ca pacity with a smaller footprintby leveraging our investments in
technology and automation; and

. acquisition synergies between DMP and legacy MEC through centers of competencies driving best practices throughout
the organization.



Maintain Alignmentwith Employee Base and Employee-Driven Results. Ourrich history of employee ownership and
P.R.I.D.E has cultivated a strategic management-employee alignment and results-driven organization with each employee contributing
to a common goal. Ouremployees maintain a significant ownership stake since our IPO, which we believe benefits theentire
organization as our strategic alignment remains in place and continues to generate employee-driven results. As we continue to invest
in ourbusiness and increasingly implementa more technology-enabled infrastructure, we will strive to redeploy our employees in
other, higher-skilled areas of our business and investin training where needed. Our employees are the foundation of our company;
with experience across a diverse range of markets and capabilities, they drive innovation, believe in our process and the outcomes of
theirwork and oursuccess. Ourinvestmentin new technology attracts technically savvy employees to replace retiring traditionally
skilled employees. We and ouremployees are also highly involved in, and actively support, the communities in which our facilities
are located; our2,150 employees take P.R.I.D.E. in creating value and support for both our customers and communities every day.

Our Capabilities

We offera broad portfolio of end-to-end processes and solutions comprised of advanced and innovative capabilities that
enhance quality and simplify supply chains for our customers. Through our collaborative approach, we maintain a complete, and
growing, set of sophisticated manufacturing capabilities to meetthe diverse needs of our customers, including:

. Program Management— We offer our customers a complete solution from conceptto launch following the APQP
(Advanced Product Quality Planning) process (planning, design for manufacturability and development, process design
and improvement, productand process validation and continuous improvement).

. Engineering— We collaborate with our customers and provide design for manufacturing, off-line programming (lasers,
brake press, machining, robotwelding, coordinate measuring machines), value engineering and CI (continuous
improvement).

. Tool Design and Build— Our in-house tool design and toolroom capability ensures quality from start to finish. We build
and service all categories of tooling, including large progressive dies.

. Laser Cutting— Our programmable fiberand CO2 laser cutting capabilities eliminate expensive hard tooling. Our
equipment cancut metalup to 1 inch thick while maintaining tolerances to .002 inches at speeds up to 3,300 per minute.
Our tube lasers are state of the artcutting machines thatoffer exceptional tolerances and through-put.

. Brake Press— We combine our operator’s expertise with the proper equipmentrequiredto offer top versatility to our
clients forbending, forming, coiningand airbending. Our facilities house the latest press brake machinery including
robotic part manipulation and stacking.

. Stamping— We provide custom metal stamping capabilities for short, medium or long productionruns. For longer runs,
ourproductionof sheetmetal stampinguses 50 to 1,200-ton manual or automatic feed presses with state-of-the-art feed
lines forprecision metal stamping. Our small, high-speed presses are ideal for producing intricate high-volume stampings.

. Machining— We provide a variety of machining ca pabilities to meet our customer needs by providing in-house
machining assistance for parts that arepart oflarger fabrications and assemblies.

. Tube Bending— We maintain vasttube bending capabilities, including (i) manufacturing of oval, round and square tubes
from .25 inch up throughsix inch and (ii) leveraging our extensive inventory of equipment including the latest CNC
(computer numerical control) benders; and state-of-the-arttechnologies such as CNC electro-servo-driven bending with
multi-task heads.

3 Welding— We have earned our reputation as one of the premier manufacturers of weldments. Our welding departments
offermanual and robotic wire welding, including GMAW (Gas Metal Arc Weldingand also known as MIG, or Metal
Inert Gas), GTAW (Gas Tungsten Arc Weldingand also knownas TIG (Tungsten Inert Gas), Heliarc), Fluxcore,
Metalcore, Aluminum, Plasma Weld, Brazing and Pulse Heliarc.

. Coatings, Assembly and Logistics— We provide premier full-service coating, assembly and logistics solutions forblue
chip OEMs. Our coating capabilities offera full-range ofhigh technology industrial coating capabilities, including: E-
Coat, military certified CARC, commercial and industrial powder and liquid coatings. Our coating systems utilize pre-
treatmentincludingacid pickle, zinc phosphate and in-line Alodine for the conversion of aluminum.



Our Proven Approach

We collaborate with our customers to generatea strategic alignment and position ourselves as anessential part of our customers’
productdevelopment and manufacturing process by drawing on our deep product and engineering knowledge to deliver best-in-class
solutions. Ourapproachis simple: we view quality as a significantbusiness strategy with a strongreturn on investment. Our
philosophy on quality is based on Continuous Improvement with anIATF (international automotive task force) and ISO (international
organization for standardization) foundation. Our skilled and experienced staffis highly trained in areas of quality planning,
metrology, geometric dimensioning and tolerancing (ASME Y14.5M 1994),1S0, QS9000, statistical techniques (SPC)and ISO 14001
certifications. Our Quality Management System is comprised ofthe following:

. TATF 16949:2016 certification (one ofthe automotive industry ’s most widely used international standards for quality
management);

. 1SO9001:2015 registration (international standard for quality management systems);
. process and assembly line audits with focus onprocess control;
. process capability that is provenatvalidation and monitored during production; and

. specialized validations for paintand weld operations.

We periodically enter into joint process improvement efforts with key customers. Such exercises have historically resulted in
reduced manufacturing critical path time, cost reductions and quality improvements through effective batch sizes and more repeatable
processes. Our continuous improvement initia tives have resulted in the acquisition and application of state-of-the-art technologies and
plant improvements that support lean, quick response manufacturing flexibility thatputus at the forefront of our market. Moreover,
the agility thatour quick response manufacturing methodology provides us keeps our purchasing, manufacturing, engineering and
quality teams on the cutting edge of flexible manufacturing. This adaptable approach also decreases manufacturing costs, allows for
fasterorderturnaround times, and elimination ofexcess waste.

We maintain anadvanced machinery portfolio in our facilities that allow us to leverage our employee workforce with state-of-
the-art capabilities and functionality. We strive to maintain our assets or upgrade capabilities where deterioration has driven
obsolescence or better technology is a vailable, reducing our carbon footprint. Mostrecently, we haveinvested in two fiber laser
systems with automation aimed atreducing labor content and optimizing floor space which allows us to generate morerevenue with
the sameworkforce and footprint. We have alsorecently invested in a machining center with palletizers, robotic brake presses, robotic
weld cells and a direct-to-metal paint line.

Our Markets

Our primary end markets include (butare not limited to) the heavy- and medium-duty commercial vehicles, construction &
access equipment, powersports, a griculture and military markets. While our individual end markets may be exposedto cyclical
variations, the diversified nature of our end markets a ffords us theability to shift production with demand as certain end markets trend
lower and others trend higher. In our experience, our diversification has muted the impact of downturns on our business thatwe have
facedin the past. Forexample, we experienced netsales growth during the 2008 and 2009 recessions due to strong orders, particularly
from our customers focused on the military end market. Moreover, as our heavy- and medium-duty commercial vehicles, construction
& access equipment, powersports, and a griculture customers’ revenues fluctuated from 2013 to 2017, with median peak-to-trough
sales decline of 23%, our peak-to-trough sales declines were less than that ofthose respective markets at only 10%. We were able to
accomplish this by reallocating our resources to serve our heavy- and medium-duty commercial vehicles and powersports customers,
leadingto strong double-digit growth in thoseend markets.

. Heavy-and Medium-Duty Commercial Vehicles: Heavy-duty commercial vehicles includeclass 8 heavy trucks such as
standard semi-trucks. Medium-duty commercial vehicles include classes 3-7 trucks such as box trucks;

. Construction & Access Equipment: Primary applications include wheel loaders, crawlers, skid steer loaders, excavators,
motor graders, aerial lifts, boom lifts and other construction equipment;

. Powersports: Encompasses our all-terrain (ATV) and multi-utility (MUV) vehicles, as wellas marineand motorcycle
markets;

. Agriculture: Primary applications include tractors, combines, sprayers, turf care, implements and other a griculture-related
equipment;

. Military: We providea variety of components for military vehicle platforms;

. Other: We provide components and assemblies to a variety of other industrialand automotive end markets, suchas power
generation, mining and medical cabinetry.



Our Customers

We are a criticaland deeply embedded supply partner with strong strategic alignment and relationships with our customers. We
have developed long-standing business relationships with our OEM customers, many of which span decades. Further, we are
diversified by customers and end markets with net sales attributed to ourtop 20 customers accounting for $320 million 0f 2020 net
sales, and nosingle end marketaccounting formore than33%of netsales. Forthe yearended December 31,2020, John Deere,
Honda, PACCAR Inc.and AB Volvo accounted for 15%, 13%, 12% and 1 1% of net sales, respectively. We havenothistorically
experienced customer attrition given high customer switching costs resulting from our embedded relationships driven by our broad
capabilities andscale.

Raw Materials and Manufactured Components

Our purchases primarily include steeland aluminum. We maintain a broad and diverse base of over 1,000 suppliers. Our
established relationships provide efficient and flexible access to resources and redundancy to ensure supportof our customers. We
have nohistory of material supply issues or outages. In 2020, no single supplier represented more than 16% of our total purchases and
96% of the raw materials we purchased were sourced from domestic suppliers. Our suppliers are strategically located in orderto
maximizeefficiencies and minimize shipping costs, although switching costs are minimal and we maintain a multitude of alternative
suppliers thatwe could transfer orders to, if needed. We have structured our customer contracts to pass through commodity price
changes, which has allowed us to remain mostly unaffected by the recentraw material price volatility and tariffs. As we continue to
grow, we intend to leverage oursize and scale to further reduce material costs.

Sales and Marketing

Wehave a strongsales team comprised of approximately 50 experienced professionals responsible for managing and expanding
client relationships, and proactively pursuing new opportunities. Sales personnel are aligned by market segmentand customer,
including heavy- and medium-duty commercial vehicles, construction & access equipment, powersports, a griculture, military and
otherend markets, and employ a highly technical and collaborative sales process with deep knowledge of our customers and
capabilities. Sales personnel have assigned support teams comprised of inside sales, marketing, and sales administration personnel.
We are consistently involved in request for proposal processes, where our sales teams with deep processexpertise collaborate with
customers on optimal designs for manufacturability and manufacturing efficiency. The upfront collaboration drives formalization of
productspecifications, program lifecycle planning, cost estimates and risk mitigation. The sales process typically takes 3 — 1 8 months
and ultimately ends in the implementation of product lifecycle timelines and purchase orders under long-term customer arrangements.
The sales team utilizes systems infrastructure that effectively track and managebacklogs, quotes and bookings information, strategic
projects and callreports, allof which are reviewed atweekly sales team meetings.

Information Systems

We utilize standardized information technology systems across all areas of quoting and estimating, enterprise resource planning,
materials resource planning, capacity planning and accounting for enhanced procurement of work, project execution and financial
controls. We provide information technology oversight and support from our corporate headquarters in Mayville, WI. The operational
information systems we employ throughout our company are industry specific applications that in some cases havebeen internally or
vendor modified and improved to fit our operations. Our enterprise resource planning software is integrated with our operational
information systems wherever possible to deliver relevant, real-time operational data to designated personnel. Accountingand
operations personnel of acquired companies are trainednotonly by our information technology support staff, butby long- tenured
employees in our organization with extensive experience using our systems. We believe our information systems provide our people
with the tools to executetheir individual job function and achieve our strategic initiatives.

Our Competition

We participatein a highly fragmented market with competitors in each of the end markets we serve ranging in size from small
companies focused ona single capability or end market, to large multi-disciplinary companies. While there can beinstances of intense
competition from specific end markets, we believe that we havebeenable to effectively compete, and maintain competitive
advantages onthe basis of our:

. scale and product offering with the ability to cross-selland provide our customers with a one-stop solution;
. broad manufacturing capability and flexibility to fulfill requests that require complex solutions;
. customer service with our highly skilled and knowledgeable work force able to provide consultativeadvice; and

. regionalized geographic focus provides a defensible position from both foreign and domestic competitors as our
customers continue to take a regionalized approach to production, which provides a shorter supply chain with greater
flexibility.



Our Human Capital Management

As of December31,2020, we hadapproximately 2,150 full-time employees, approximately 1,725 of whom are production
employees, none of whichare unionized.

We maintain anexperienced and skilled work force. We havebeen highly focused on attracting and retaining high quality
personnel as theyrepresent a critical factor in our continued success. Despite the recent market challenges in the hiring of trade-skilled
employees, our continued investment in newer technologies and capabilities has allowed us to opportunistically re-train and redeploy
certain roles that were previously human capital-intensive, andre-train and repurpose employees into other areas of the company. On
average, ouremployees haveapproximately seven years of service with us. We believe we maintain strong relations with our
employees and believe they are aligned with our employee-owned mindset.

Environmental Matters

We are subjectto numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to manufacturing, handling and disposal of
materials into the environment. We believe that our environmental control procedures are adequate.

Information About Our Executive Officers

The followingtable sets forth certain informationas of February 1,2021, regarding our executive officers:

Name Age Position

Robert D. Kamphuis 62 Chairman, Presidentand Chief Executive Officer

Todd M. Butz 49 Chief Financial Officer

Ryan F.Raber 38 Executive Vice President—Strategy, Sales & Marketing
Rand P. Stille 50 Chief Operating Officer

Eric J. Welak 45 Executive Vice President—Fabrication

Robert D. Kamp huis joined our company as Presidentand Chief Executive Officerin 2005 and has served as the Chairman,
President and Chief Executive Officer since January 2007. Mr. Kamphuis also serves as a board member and past Chairman of
Wisconsin Manufacturers & Commerce, a board member of Brakebush Brothers, Inc. and The Nordic Group of Companies, Ltd.,and
Subzero GroupInc.,and amember of the UW System Business Council, the John Deere Direct Material Supplier Council, and a past
member of the Harley Davidson Supplier Advisory Council. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Kamphuis held various roles with
Giddings & Lewis, Inc. including as Presidentand Chief Executive Officer of Gilman Engineering and Manufacturing Co., LLC,a
designer and manufacturer of automated assembly systems, and began his career with Ernst & Young. Mr. Kamphuis is a graduateof
the Executive International Leadership Program at Stanford University and earneda Bachelor of Business Administration &
Accounting from the University of Wisconsin-Whitewater. He is also a licensed certified public accountant.

Todd M. Butz joined our company in 2008 and has served as our Chief Financial Officer since January 2014. Mr. Butz also
serves on the Board of Trustees for Marian University. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Butz spenttimein various roles including
Managerof Worldwide Financial Reporting at Mercury Marine, a subsidiary of the Brunswick Corporation, and Audit Supervisorat
Schenck Business Solutions, now Clifton Larsen Allen. Mr. Butz earned a Bachelor of Science in Accountingand Business
Management from Marian University and is currently a licensed certified public accountant.

Ryan F. Raberjoined our company in 2009 and has served asour Executive Vice President — Strategy, Sales & Marketing since
June 2019. Priorto serving in his current position, Mr. Raberserved as our Executive Vice President — Sales & Marketing beginning
in November2018 andas our Vice President of Sales & Marketing beginningin August 2013. Mr. Raberearned a Masters of
Business Administration from the University of Wisconsin-Madisonand a Bachelor of Science in Mechanical Engineering from
Purdue University.

Rand P. Stille joined our company in April 2019 and has served as our Chief Operating Officer since March 2020. Prior to
servingin his current position, Mr. Stille served as our Executive Vice President— DMP & Performance Structures Operations and
Vice President — Performance Structures Operations. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Stille held various roles with Universal
Logistics Holding including Senior Vice President of Operations, Vice President & Executive Director of Westport Axle and Vice
President of Mexican Operations. Mr. Stille earned a Master of Science in Supply Chain Management from the University of
Michigan State and a Bachelor of Arts, Economics and Management degree from the University of Depauw.

EricJ. Welak joined our company in 1996 and has servedas our Executive Vice President— Fabrication sinceJanuary2017.
Prior to servingin his current position, Mr. Welak served as our Operations Manager, Plant Manager, Director of Operations and Vice
President of Operations. Mr. Welak earned an Associate of Industrial Engineering from Moraine Park Technical College anda
Bachelor of Science in Business Administration, Management and Operations from Marian University.
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Available Information

Our website address is www.mecinc.com. We are not including the information provided on our websiteas a part of, or
incorporating it by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We make available free of charge (otherthan aninvestor’s own
internet access charges) through our website our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, currentreports on
Form 8-K, amendments to these reports and our proxy statements, assoonas reasonably practicable a fter we electronically file such
material with, or furnish such material to, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC).
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described
below, together with all of the other information in this Annual Reporton Form 10-K, including “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes, before
making a decision to invest in our common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below may not be the only ones we face. If
any of'the risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, operating results andprospects could be materially and adversely
affected. Inthat event, the market price of our common stock coulddecline, and you couldlose part or allof your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business

The coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, andwill continue to have, a negative impact on our business, financial condition,
cash flows, results of operations and supply chain.

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in national, state and local government authorities implementing numerous measures to
try to contain the virus, suchas travel bans and restrictions, border closings, restrictions on public gatherings, quarantining of people
who mayhave been exposed to the virus, shelter-in-placerestrictions, and limitations or shutdowns of business operations. These
measures haveimpacted and may further impact our workforce and operations, including disruptions at some of our manufacturing
operations and facilities, as well as the operations of our customers, and those of our suppliers. There is still uncertainty regarding the
fullimpact and duration of such measures and potential future measures, and restrictions on ouraccess to our facilities or on our
support operations or workforce, or similar limita tions for our suppliers.

The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly increased economic and demand uncertainty and has caused an economic slowdown

that may continue. The pandemic has also weakened demand for our components, products and services, which has resulted in a
decline in sales activities and customer orders, and it remains uncertain whatimpactthis weakened demand will have on future sales
activities and customer orders once conditions further improve. The pandemic could also continueto disrupt our supply chain.

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to disruptionand volatility in the global capital markets, whichmay adversely a ffect our
customers’ and suppliers’ liquidity, costof capital and ability to access the capital markets. As a result, the pandemic could adversely
affect our liquidity as well as the ability of our customers to perform, including in making timely payments to us, which could further
adversely impactour business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and will continue tohave, a negativeimpact on our business, financial condition, cash flows,
results of operations, supply chain, and raw material a vailability, although the full extent is still uncertain. As the pandemic continues
to evolve, the extentof theimpact on our business, financial condition, cash flows, results of operations and supply chain willdepend
on future developments, including, but not limited to, the duration ofthe pandemic (includingany continuing relapses), the actions to
contain the virus and/or treat its impact, restrictions on travel, the duration, timing and severity ofthe impact on customer spending,
and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions canresume, all of which are highly uncertain and
cannotbe predicted.

Failure to competesuccessfullyin our markets could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations or prospects.

We offer our processes and solutions in highly competitivemarkets. The competitors in these markets may, among other things:
. respond more quickly to new oremerging technologies;

. have greatername recognition, critical mass or geographic market presence;

. be better positioned to take advantage of acquisition opportunities;

. adaptmore quickly to changes in customer requirements;

. devotegreater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their processes and solutions;

. be better positioned to compete on price due to any combination of low-costlabor, raw materials, components, facilities or
otheroperating items, or willingness to make sales at lower margins thanus;

. consolidate with other competitors in the industry with may create increased pricing and competitive pressures on our
business; and

. be betterable to utilize excess capacity which may reduce the cost oftheir processes and solutions.

12



Competitors with lower cost structures may havea competitive advantage overus. We also expect our competitors to continue
to improve the performance of their current processes and solutions, to reducethe prices oftheir existing processes and solutions and
to introducenew processes or solutions that may offer greater performance and improved pricing. Additionally, we may face
competition from new entrants to the industry in which we operate. Any of these developments could cause a decline in sales and
average selling prices, loss of marketshare or profit margin compression. Maintaining and improving our competitive position will
require successful management of these factors, including continued investmentby us in research and development, engineering,
marketingand customer serviceand support. Our future growthrate depends upon our agility to compete successfully, which is
impacted by a number of factors, including, but not limited to, our ability to (i) identify emerging technological trends in our target
end markets, (i) develop and maintain a wide range of competitive and appropriately priced processes and solutions and defend our
market share a gainst an ever-expanding number of competitors including many new and non-traditional competitors, (iii) ensure that
ourprocesses and solutions remain cost-competitive and (iv) attract, develop and retain individuals with the requisite technical
expertise and understand of customers’ needs to develop and sellnew technologies and processes.

We are affected by developments in the industries in which our customers operate.

We derive a large amountof ournet sales from customers in the following industry sectors: heavy- and medium-duty
commercial vehicles, construction & access equipment, powersports, a griculture and military. Factors affecting any of these industries
in general, orany of our customers in particular, could adversely affectus because ournetsales growth largely depends on the
continued growth of our customers’ businesses in their respective industries. These factors include:

. seasonality of demand for our customers’ products which may cause our manufacturing ca pacity to be underutilized for
periods of time;

. ourcustomers’ failure to successfully markettheir products, to gain orretain widespread commercial acceptance of their
products orto compete effectively in their industries;

. loss of market share for our customers’ products, which may lead our customers to reduce or discontinue purchasing our
processes and solutions and toreduce prices, thereby exerting pricing pressure on us;

. economic conditions in the markets in which our customers operate, in particular, the United States, including
recessionary periods such as a global economic downturn and thestilluncertain negativeimpacts on economic conditions
asaresultof COVID-19;

. our customers’ decision to insource the production of components thathas traditionally been outsourced to us; and
. productdesign changes or manufacturing process changes that may reduce or eliminate demand for the components we

supply.

We expect that future sales will continueto depend on thesuccess of our customers. If economic conditions and demand for our
customers’ products deteriorate, we may experiencea materialadverseeffect on our business, operating results and financial
condition.

Most of our customers do not commit to long-term production schedules, which makes it difficultfor us to schedule production
accurately and achieve maximum efficiency of our manufacturing capacity.

Most of our customers do not commit to long-term contracts or firm production schedules, and we continue to experience
reduced lead-times in customer orders. Additionally, customers may change production quantities or delay production with little lead-
time oradvance notice. Therefore, we rely on and planour productionandinventory levels based on our customers’ advance orders,
commitments and/or forecasts as wellas our internal assessments and forecasts of customer demand. The volumeandtiming of sales
to our customers may vary due to, among others:

. variation in demand for or discontinuation of our customers’ products;
. our customers’ attempts to manage their inventory;

. design changes;

. changes in our customers’ manufacturing strategies;

. disruptive events in the markets in which our customers operate, including natural disa sters, epidemics and pandemics like
COVID-19; and

. acquisitions of or consolidation among customers.
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The variations in volumeand timing of sales make it difficult to schedule production and optimize utilization of manufacturing
capacity. This uncertainty may require us to increase staffing and incur other expenses in order to meet an unexpected increase in
customer demand, potentially placinga significant burden onourresources. Additionally, aninability to respond to suchincreasesin a
timely manner may cause customer dissatisfaction, which may negatively a ffect our customer relationships.

Further, in order to secure sufficient production scale, we may make capital investments in advance of anticipated customer
demand. Suchinvestments may leadto low utilization levels if customer demand forecasts change and we are unable to utilize the
additional capacity. Because fixed costs make up a large proportion of our total production costs, a reduction in customer demand can
have a significantadverse impact on our gross profits and operatingresults. Additionally, we order materials and components based
on customer forecasts and orders and suppliers may require us to purchase materials and components in minimum quantities that
exceed customer requirements, which may haveanadverse impact onour gross profits and operating results. In the past, anticipated
orders from some of our customers have failed to materialize and delivery schedules have been deferredas a result of changes in our
customers’ business needs.

We may not be able to maintain our manufacturing, engineering and technological expertise.

The markets for our processes and solutions are characterized by changing technology and evolving process development. The
continued success of our business willdepend upon our ability to:

. hire, retain and expand our pool of qualified engineering and trade-skilled personnel;
. maintain technological leadership in our industry;
. implement new and expand upon current robotics, automation and tooling technologies; and

. anticipate orrespond to changes in manufacturing processes in a cost-effective and timely manner.

We cannot be certain that we will develop the capabilities required by our customers in the future. The emergenceof new
technologies, industry standards or customer requirements may render our equipment, inventory or processes obsolete or
uncompetitive. We may have toacquire new technologies and equipment to remain competitive. The acquisition and implementation
of new technologies and equipment may require us to incur significant expense and capital investment, which could reduce our
margins and affectour operating results. When we establish or acquire new facilities, we may not be able to maintain or develop our
manufacturing, engineering and technological expertise dueto a lack oftrained personnel, effective training of new staff or technical
difficulties with machinery. Failure to anticipate and adapt to customers’ changing technological needs and requirements or to hire and
retain a sufficient number of engineers and maintain manufacturing, engineering and technological expertise may have a material
adverseeffect onourbusiness, operating results and financial condition.

We are dependenton a limited number of large customers for current and future net sales. The loss of any ofthese customers or
the loss of market share by these customers could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

We depend ona limited number of major manufacturers fora majority of ournet sales. For example, our largest customers in
2020, includingJJohn Deere, Honda, PACCAR Inc.and AB Volvoaccounted for 15%, 13%, 12%and 11%of ournet sales,
respectively. Our financial performance depends in large part on our ability to continueto arrange for the purchase of our processes
and solutions with these customers, and we expectthese customers to continue to make upa large portionof ournetsales in the
foreseeable future. The loss of allora substantial portion of our sales to any of our large-volume customers could have a material
adverseeffect onour business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows by reducing cash flows and by limiting our
ability to spread our fixed costs overa largernet sales base. We may make fewer sales to these customers fora variety ofreasons,
including, but not limited to:

. loss of business relationship;

. reduced ordelayed customer requirements;

. the insourcing of business thathas been traditionally outsourced to us;

. strikes or other work stoppages a ffecting production by our customers; or

. reduced demand for our customers’ products, including as a result ofthe COVID-19 pandemic.
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We may be unable to realize net sales represented by our awarded business, which could materially and adversely impact our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The realization of future netsales from awarded business is inherently subject to a number of important risks and uncertainties,
includinga lack oflong-term commitments and production schedules with customers. Accordingly, we cannotassure you that we will
realize any orall of the future net sales represented by ourawarded business. Any failure to realize these net sales could have a
materialadverseeffect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In addition tonot havinga commitment from our customers regarding the minimum number of components they must purchase
from us if we obtainawardedbusiness, typically the terms and conditions of the a greements with our customers providethatthey have
the contractual right to unilaterally terminate our contracts with them with no notice or limited notice. In many cases, we mustcommit
substantial resources in preparation for production under awarded customer business well in advance ofthe customer’s production
start date. If suchcontracts are terminated by our customers, our ability to obtain compensation from our customers forsuch
termination is generally limited to the direct out-of-pocket costs that we incurred for raw materials and work-in-progress. Although we
havebeensuccessfulin recovering these costs under appropriate circumstances in the past, we cannot assure you that our results of
operations will not be materially adversely impacted in the future if we are unable to recover thesetypes of pre-production costs
related to our customers’ cancellation of awarded business.

Our growth strategy includes acquisitions, andwe may not be ableto identify attractive acquisition targets or successfullyintegrate
acquiredtargets withoutimpacting our business.

Acquisitions have playeda keyrole in our growth strategy, and we expectto continue to grow through acquisitions in the future.
We expect to continue evaluating potential strategic acquisitions of businesses, assets and product lines. We maynot be able to
identify suitable candidates, negotiate appropriate or favorable acquisition terms, obtain financingthatmay be needed to consummate
such transactions or complete proposed acquisitions. There is significant competition for acquisition and expansion opportunities in
ourbusinesses, whichmay increasethe cost ofany acquisition orresult in the loss of attractive acquisition targets.

In addition, acquisitions involve numerous risks, including (i) incurring the time and expense associated with identifyingand
evaluating potential acquisitions and negotiating potential transactions, resulting in management’s a ttention being diverted from the
operation of our existing business; (i) using estimates and judgments to evaluate credit, operations, funding, liquidity, business,
management and market risks with respect to the targetentity orassets; (iii) litiga tion relating to an acquisition, particularly in the
context ofa publicly held acquisition target, couldrequire us to incur significant expenses or result in the delaying orenjoining of the
transaction; (iv) failing to properly identify an acquisition candidate’s liabilities, potential liabilities orrisks; and (v) not receiving
required regulatory approvals or such approvals being delayed or restrictively conditional. In addition, any acquisitions could involve
the incurrence of substantial additional indebtedness or dilution to our shareholders. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
successfully integrate any acquisitions that we undertake or thatsuch acquisitions will perform as planned or prove to bebeneficial to
ouroperations and cash flow. Any such failure could seriously harm our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We routinely evaluate potential acquisition candidates and engage in discussions and negotiations regarding potential
acquisitions; however, evenif we execute a definitive agreement for an acquisition, there canbe no assurance that we will
consummatethe transaction within the anticipated closingtimeframe, orat all. Further, acquisitions typically involve the paymentof a
premium over book-and market-value for thetarget business orassetand, therefore, somedilution of our tangible book value and/or
earnings per common share may occur in connection with any future transaction.

Entering new markets, either organically or via acquisition, poses new competitive threats and commercialrisks.

As we expand into new markets, either organically or via acquisition, we expect to diversify ournetsales by leveraging our
development, engineering and manufacturing capabilities in order to source necessary parts and components for other industries. Such
diversificationrequires investments and resources that may not be available as needed. Furthermore, evenif we sign contracts in new
markets, we cannot guarantee that we will be successfulin leveraging our capabilities into these new markets and thus in meeting the
needs of these customers and competing fa vorably in thesenew markets. If these customers experience reduced demand for their
products or financial difficulties, our future prospects will be negatively affectedas well.

Ifwe fail to develop new and innovative processes or if customers in our market do not accept them, our results would be
negatively affected.

Our processes must be kept currentto meet our customers’ needs. To remain competitive, we therefore mustdevelopnew and
innovative processes on anongoing basis. If we failto make innovations or the market does notacceptournew processes, our sales
and results would suffer. We invest significantly in the research and development ofnew processes; however, these expenditures do
notalwaysresult in processes that willbe accepted by the market. To theextent they donot, whetheras a function ofthe process or
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the business cycle, we will haveincreased expenses withoutsignificantsales to offsetsuch costs. Failure to develop successfulnew
processes may also cause potential customers to purchase from competitors.

We depend on our key executive officers, managers, andtrade-skilled personnel and may have difficulty retaining andrecruiting
qualified employees. Moreover, we operate in competitivelabor markets, which may alsoimpact our ability to hire andretain
employees at our facilities.

Our success depends to a large extent upon the continued services of our executive officers, senior management, managers and
trade-skilled personnel and our ability to recruit and retain skilled personnel to maintain and expand our operations. We could be
affected by theloss of any of our executive officers who areresponsible for fommulating and implementing our business planand
strategy, and who havebeen instrumental in our growth and development. In addition, in orderto manage our growth, we will need to
recruit and retainadditional management personnel and other skilled employees atour facilities. However, competition for our trade-
skilled laboris high, particularly in someof the geographic locations where our facilities are located. Although we intend to continue
to devotesignificantresources torecruit, train and retain qualified employees, we may not be able to attract, effectively trainand
retain theseemployees. Any failure to do so could impair our ability to conduct design, engineering and manufacturing activities,
efficiently perform our contractual obligations, develop marketable components, timely meet our customers’ needs and ultimately win
new business, allof which could adversely a ffect our business, financial condition and results of operations. If we are not able to do
s0, ourbusiness and our ability to continue to grow could be negatively a ffected. In addition, salaries and related costs are a significant
portion of the costof providing our solutions and, accordingly, ourability to efficiently utilize our work force impacts our profitability.
If ouremployees are under-utilized, our profitability could suffer.

We are dependenton information technology and our systems andinfrastructure face certain risks, including cyber security risks
and data leakage risks.

We are dependenton information technology systemsand infrastructure that could be damaged or interrupted by a variety of
factors. Any significant breach, breakdown, destruction or interruption of these systems by employees, others with authorized access
to oursystems orunauthorized persons has the potential to negatively affectour operations. There is also a risk that we could
experiencea business interruption, theft of information or reputational damage as a result ofa cyberattack, such as the infiltrationof a
data center, ordata leakage of confidential information either internally orat our third-party providers. Although we have invested in
the protection of our data and information technology to reduce these risks and periodically test the security of our information
systems network, there can beno assurance that our efforts will preventbreakdowns or breaches in our systems thatcould have a
material adverseeffect on our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

We may incur additional expenses and delays due to technicalproblems or other interruptions at our manufacturing facilities.

Disruptions in operations due to technical problems or power interruptions as wellas other interruptions such as floods, fire,
othernatural disasters, epidemics or pandemics like COVID-19 could adversely a ffect the manufacturing capacity of our facilities.
Such interruptions could cause delays in productionand cause us to incur additional expenses such as charges for expedited deliveries
forcomponents thataredelayed. In addition, our customers have the ability to cancel purchase orders in the eventof any delays in
productionand may decrease future orders if delays are persistent. Additionally, to the extentthatsuch disruptions do not result from
damage to our physical property, these maynot becovered by our business interruption insurance. Any such disruptions may
adversely affect our operations and financial results.

Political and economic developments could adversely affect our business.

Increased political instability and social unrest, evidenced by thethreat or occurrence of terrorist a ttacks, enhanced national
security measures, the risks related to epidemics or pandemics like COVID-19 and therelated decline in consumer confidence may
hinderourability to dobusiness. Any escalation in theseevents or similar future events may disruptour operations orthoseof our
customers and suppliers and could a ffect the a vailability of raw materials and components we need in our manufacturing operations or
the means to transport those materials or components to our manufacturing facilities and finished parts to our customers. These events
have hadand may continue to havean adverse effect, generally, on the economy and consumer confidence and spending, which could
adversely affect ournet sales and operating results. The effect ofthese events on the volatility of the financial markets could in the
future leadto volatility of the market price of our securities and may limit the capital resources available to us, our customers and our
suppliers.

Availability of, and volatility in the prices of, raw materials and energy prices and our abilityto pass alongincreased costs to our
customers could adversely affect our results of operations.

The prices and availability of raw materials critical to our business and performance are based on global supply and demand
conditions. Certain raw materials used by us are only available from a limited number of suppliers, and it may be difficult to find
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alternative suppliers at the sameor similar costs. While we strive to pass through theprice of raw materials to our customers, we may
notbe able to doso in the future, and volatility in the prices of raw materials may affect customer demand for certain components. In
addition, we, along with our suppliers and customers, rely on various energy sources fora number of activities connected with our
business, such as the transportation of raw materials and finished parts. The availability and pricing of these resources are subject to
market forcesthatare beyond our control. Furthermore, we are vulnerable to any reliability issues experienced by our suppliers, which
also are beyond our control. Our suppliers contractseparately forthe purchase of such resources, and our sources of supply could be
interrupted should our suppliers not beable to obtain thesematerials due to higher demand or other factors that interrupt their
availability (such as theimpactsof the COVID-19 pandemic). Energy and utility prices, including electricity and water prices, and in
particular prices for petroleum-based energy sources, are volatile. Increased supplier and customer operating costs arising from
volatility in the prices of energy sources, suchas increased energy and utility costs and transportation costs, could be passed through
tous and we may not be able to increase our product prices sufficiently oratallto offsetsuchincreased costs. The impact ofany
volatility in the prices of energy orthe raw materials on which we rely, including the reduction in demand for certain components
causedby such price volatility, could result in a loss of net sales and profitability and adversely affectourresults of operations.

Our manufacturing operations are dependent up on third-party suppliers, making us vulnerable to supply shortages.

We obtain raw materials, parts and certain components from third-party suppliers. Any delay in receiving supplies (includingas
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic) could impair our ability to timely deliver components to our customers and, accordingly, could
have an adverse effect on ourbusiness, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The volatility in the financial markets
and uncertainty in the sectors our suppliers service (includingas a result ofthe COVID-19 pandemic) could result in exposure related
to the financial viability of certain of our suppliers. Suppliers may also exit certain business lines, causingus to find other suppliers for
materials orcomponents and potentially delaying our ability to deliver components to customers, or our suppliers may change the
terms on which they are willing to provide parts or materials to us, any of which could adversely affect our financial condition and
results of operations. In addition, many of our suppliers ha ve unionized work forces thatcould be subject to work stoppages as a result
of'laborrelations issues. Someof our suppliers supply components and materials that cannotbe quickly or inexpensively re-sourced to
another supplier due to longleadtimes and contractual commitments that might be required by another supplier in orderto providethe
components or materials.

Theimpact of foreign trade relations and associated tariffs, as well as our reliance on international suppliers for certain raw
materials, could adversely impact our business.

We currently source certain raw materials from international suppliers. Import tariffs, taxes, customs duties and/or other trade
regulations imposed by the U.S. government on foreign countries, or by foreign countries on the United States, could significantly
increase theprices we pay for certain raw materials, such as steel, aluminum and purchased components, thatarecriticalto ourability
to manufacture components for our customers. The international sourcing for these materials may also be hurt by health concerns
regarding infectious diseases in countries in which these materials are purchased from (suchas COVID-19), adverse weather or
natural disasters. In addition, we may be unable to find a domestic supplier to providethe necessary raw materials on an economical
basis in the amounts we require. If the costof ourraw materials increases, or if we are unable to procure the necessary raw materials
required to manufacture our components, then we could experience a negative impacton our operating results, profitability, customer
relationships and future cash flows.

Additionally, our customers’ businesses may be negatively impacted by import tariffs, taxes, customs duties and/or other trade
regulations imposed by the U.S. government on foreign countries or by foreign countries on the United States, which could, in turn,
reduce our customers’ demand for the components that we manufacture for them. Any reduction in customer demand for our
components as a result of such tariffs, taxes, customs duties and/or other traderegulations, oras a result of the impact of infectious
diseases suchas COVID-19. could have a materialadverse impact on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and
liquidity.

Because our industry is capital intensive and we have significant fixed and semi-fixed costs, our profitability is sensitiveto changes
in volume.

The property, plants and equipmentneeded to produce components for our customers and provide our processes and solutions
canbe very expensive. We must spend a substantialamount of capital to purchaseand maintain such property, plants and equipment.
Although we believe our current cash balance, along with our projected internal cash flows and available financing sources, will
provide sufficient cash to supportour currently anticipated operating and capital needs, if we are unable to generate sufficient cashto
purchase and maintain the property, plants and equipment necessary to operate our business, we may be required toreduce ordelay
planned capital expenditures or to incur additional indebtedness.
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The risks associated with climate change, as well as climate change legislation and regulations, could adversely affect our
operations and financial condition.

The physicalrisks of climate change, suchas more frequentor more extreme weather events, changes in temperature and
precipitation patterns, changesto groundand surface wateravailability and otherrelated phenomena, could affect some, orall, of our
operations. Severe weather or other natural disasters could be destructive, which could result in increased costs, including supply
chain costs.

In addition, a number of governmentbodies have finalized, proposed or arecontemplating legislative and regulatory changes in
response to growing concerns about climate change. In recent years, federal, stateand local governments havetaken steps toreduce
emissions of greenhouse gases (GHGs). The Environmental Protection Agency has finalized a series of GHG monitoring, reporting
and emissions controlrules for certain large sources of GHGs, andthe U.S. Congress has, from time to time, considered adopting
legislation to reduce GHG emissions. Numerous states have already taken measures to reduce GHG emissions, primarily through the
development of GHG emission inventories and/or regional GHG cap-and-trade programs.

Although it is not possible atthis time to predicthow future legislation orregulations to address GHG emissions would impact
our business, any such laws and regulationsimposing reporting obligations on, or limiting emissions of GHGs from, our equipment
and operations, couldrequire us to incur costs to reduce GHG emissions associated with our operations. We cannot assure you that our
costs, liabilities and obligations relating to environmental matters will not ha ve a materialadverse effecton our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our manufacturing, painting and coating operations are subjectto environmental, health and safety laws andregulations that
could result in liabilities to us.

Our manufacturing, paintingand coating operations are subject to environmental, health and safety laws and regulations,
includingthose governing discharges to air and water, the managementand disposal of hazardous substances, the cleanup of
contaminated sites and health and safety matters. We could incur material costs, including cleanup costs, civiland criminal fines,
penalties and third-party claims for cost recovery, property damage or personalinjury as a result of violations of or liabilities under
such laws andregulations. The ultimate cost of remediating contaminated sites, if any, is difficult to accurately predictand could
exceed estimates. In addition, as environmental, health and sa fety laws and regulations have tended to become stricter, we could incur
additional costs complying with requirements thatare promulgated in the future.

If our manufacturing processes do not comply with applicable statutory and regulatory requirements, or if we manufacture
components containing manufacturing defects, demand for our capabilities may decline andwe may be subjectto liability claims.

Our manufacturing processes and facilities need to comply with applicable statutory and regulatory requirements. We may also
have the responsibility to ensure that the processes we use satisfy sa fety and regulatory standards, including thoseapplicable to our
customers and to obtain any necessary certifications. In addition, our customers’ products, as well as the manufacturing processes and
components that we use to produce such products, are often highly complex. As a result, components that we manufacturemayat
times contain manufacturing defects, and our manufacturing processes may be subject to errors ornot be in compliance with
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements or demandsof our customers. Defects in the components we manufacture, whether
caused by a manufacturing or component failure or error, or deficiencies in our manufacturing processes, may result in delayed
shipments to customers, replacement costs orreduced or cancelled customer orders. If these defects or deficiencies are significant, our
business reputation may also be damaged. The failure ofthe components that we manufacture for our customers to comply with
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements may subject us to legal fines or penalties and, in somecases, require us to shutdown
or incur considerable expense to correct a manufacturing process or facility. In addition, these defects may expose us to liability to pay
forthe recallofa customer’s productor to indemnify our customers for the costs of any such claims orrecalls which they faceasa
result of usingitems manufactured by us in theirproducts.

Adverse judgments or settlements in legal disputes, including product liability, intellectual property infringement and other claims,
could result in materially adverse monetary damages or injunctiverelief and damage our business and/or our reputation.

We are subjectto, and maybecome a party to, a variety of litigation or other claims and suits thatarise from time totime in the
ordinary courseof ourbusiness. The results of litigationand other legal proceedings are inherently uncertain and adverse judgments or
settlements in some orallof theselegaldisputes may result in materially adverse monetary damages or injunctive relief against us.
Additionally, our insurance policies may not protect us against potential liability due to various exclusions in the policies and self-
insured retention amounts. Partially or completely uninsured claims, if successful and of significant magnitude, could have a material
adverseeffect onourbusiness, financial conditionand results of operations. Furthemmore, any claims or litigation, evenif fully
indemnified orinsured, could damage our reputation and make it more difficult to compete effectively or obtain adequate insurance in
the future.
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The components we manufacture can expose us to potential liabilities. For instance, our manufacturing operations expose us to
potential productliability claims resulting from injuries caused by defects in components we design or manufacture, as wellas
potential claims that components we design infringe on third-party intellectual property rights. Such claims could subject us to
significant liability for damages, subjectthe infringing portion of our business to injunctionand, regardless of their merits, couldbe
time-consuming and expensive toresolve. We may also have greater potential exposure from warranty claims and recalls due to
problems caused by component or product design. Although we have product liability insurance coverage, it maynot be sufficientto
coverthe fullextentof our product liability, if at all. A successful product liability claim in excess or outside of our insurance
coverage or any material claim for which insurance coverage was denied or limited and for which indemnification was not a vailable
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and/or financial condition.

Increasesinthe cost of employee benefits couldimpact our financial results and cash flows.

Our expenses relating to employee health benefits are significant. Unfavorable changes in the cost ofand the unpredictability of
claims under suchbenefits, includingas a result ofthe COVID-19 pandemic, could impact our financial results and cash flows.
Healthcare costs have risen significantly in recent years, and recent legislative and private sector initiatives regarding healthcare
reform could result in significant changes to the U.S. healthcare system. Pursuant to the Affordable Care Act, employees maybe
ineligible for certain healthcare subsidies if suchemployee is eligible and offered qualifying and a ffordable healthcare coverageunder
an employer’s plan. Due to thebreadth and complexity of the healthcare reform legislation, the lack of implementing regulations and
interpretive guidance and the uncertainty surrounding further reform proposals, we are not able to fully determine the impactthat
healthcarereform willhave in the future on company sponsored medical plans.

Compliance or the failure to comply with regulations and governmentalpolicies could cause us to incur significant expense.

We are subjectto a variety oflocaland foreign laws and regulations including those relating to laborand health and safety
concerns. Such laws mayrequire us to pay mandated compensation and penalties. Additionally, we mayneed to obtain and maintain
licenses and permits to conduct business in various jurisdictions. If we or the businesses or companies we acquire have failed or fail in
the futureto comply with suchlaws andregulations, then we could incur liabilities and fines and our operations could be suspended.
Such laws andregulations could also restrict our ability to modify or expand our facilities, could require us to acquire costly
equipment, or could impose other significantexpenditures.

Priorto ourinitial public offering, we weretreated as an S Corporation, and claims oftaxing authorities related to our prior status
asan S Corporation could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition andresults of op erations.

Upon the consummation of our initial public offering, ourstatus asan S Corporation was terminated and we have since been
treatedasa “C Corporation” for U.S. federal incometax purposes and thus are now subject to U.S. federalincome tax. If the
unaudited, opentax years in which we were an S Corporationareaudited by theInternal Revenue Service (IRS), and we determined
not to have qualified for, orto have violated any requirementfor maintaining our S Corporation status, we will be obligated to pay
back taxes, interest and possibly penalties. The amounts that we would be obligated to pay could include taxes on allourtaxable
income attributable to such opentax years. Any such claims could result in additional costs tous and could havea materialadverse
effect onourbusiness, financial condition and results of operations.

Priorto the completion of our initial public offering we were 100% owned by the ESOP, which is a retirement plan intendedto be
tax-qualified. If the ESOP fails to meet the requirements of a tax-qualified retirement plan, we could be subject to substantial
Ppenallties.

The Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the ESOP), is a defined contribution retirement
plan subjectto therequirements ofthe Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), and the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974, asamended (ERISA). The ESOP hasreceived a determination letter from the IRS that it meets the requirements
of a tax-qualified retirement plan in form and we endeavor to maintain and administer the ESOP in compliance with allrequirements
ofthe Codeand ERISA. However, therules regarding tax-qualified plans, and especially ESOPs, are complex and change frequently.
Accordingly, it is possible thatthe ESOP may not have been and maynotin the future be administered in full compliance with all
applicable rulesunderthe Codeor ERISA.
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Ifthe IRS were to detemmine that the ESOP was notin material compliance with the Codeor ERISA, then the ESOP could lose
its tax-qualified status and we could be subject to substantial penalties under the Codeand/or ERISA, which could have a material
adverseeffect onourbusiness, financial condition or results of operations. Additionally, any retroactiveloss of the ESOP’s tax-
qualified status would adversely impact our prior treatmentas an S Corporation. See “—Prior to our initial public offering, we were
treatedas an S Corporation, andclaims of taxing authorities related to our prior status as an S Corporation could have anadverse
effect onourbusiness, financial condition and results of operations.”

Any failure to protect our customers’intellectual property that we use in the products we manufacture for them could harm our
customer relationships and subject us to liability.

The products we manufacture for our customers often contain our customers’ intellectual property, including copyrights,
patents, trade secrets and know-how. Our success depends, in part, on our ability to protect our customers’ intellectual property. The
steps we take to protectour customers’ intellectual property may not adequately prevent its disclosure or misappropriation. [fwe fail
to protect our customers’ intellectual property, our customer relationships could be harmed, and we may experience difficulty in
establishing new customer relationships. Inaddition, our customers might pursue legal claims against us for any failure to protecttheir
intellectual property, possibly resulting in hamm to our reputation and our business, financial condition and operating results.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement restricts our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to engagein some business
and financialtransactions.

On September26,2019,andas lastamendedas ofJune 30,2020, we entered into an amended and restated credit agreement
(Credit Agreement) with certain lenders and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent. The Credit Agreement
provides for (i) a $200.0 million revolving credit facility (the Revolving Loan), with a letter of credit sub-facility in an aggregate
amount not to exceed $5.0 million,anda swingline facility in an aggregateamount 0f$20.0 million. The Credit Agreement also
provides foran additional $ 100.0 million of capacity through anaccordion feature.

Our Credit Agreement contains a number of covenants that limit our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to:

. create, incur or assume indebtedness (other than certain pemitted indebtedness);

. create orincur liens (other than certain pemitted liens);

. makeinvestments (other than certain pemmitted investments);

. merge or consolidate with another entity;

. makeasset dispositions (other than certain permitted dispositions);

. declare orpayanydividend orany other distributionto shareholders;

° enterinto transactions with affiliates;

. makecertain organizational changes, including changing our fiscal year end oramending our organizational documents;

. enterinto any agreement further restricting our ability to create orassume any lien;

. sell notes receivable or accounts receivable except under certain circumstances;

° enterinto sale leaseback transactions;

. incur capital expenditures in excess 0£$35,000,000in any fiscal year;

. permit any person or group other than the ESOP or other employee benefit plan of ours (like our401(k) plan) to own or
controlmorethan35% of our equity interests; or

. permit ourboard of directors to notbe composed of a majority of our continuing directors (i.e., our directors as of
September26,2019 and any additional orreplacement directors thathave been approved by atleast51%of thedirectors
then in office).

Our Credit Agreement also requires us to maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio and a consolidated total leverage ratio,
and contains certain customary representations and warranties, a ffirmative covenants and events of default (including, among others,
paymentdefault, covenantdefault, breach ofrepresentation or warranty, bankruptcy, cross-default, material ERISA events, certain
changes of control, material money judgements and failure to maintain subsidiary guarantees). [f aneventof default occurs underthe
Credit Agreement, the lenders under the Credit Agreement will be entitled to take various actions, including the acceleration of
amounts due thereunder, the termination of such credit facility and allactionspermitted to be taken by a secured creditor. Our failure
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to comply with our obligations underthe Credit Agreementmay result in an event of default under the Credit Agreement. A default, if
not cured or waived, may permit acceleration of our indebtedness. [four indebtedness is accelerated, we cannot be certain that we will
have sufficient funds available to pay the accelerated indebtedness or that we will have theability to refinance theaccelerated
indebtedness onterms favorable tousoratall

We are able to incur additional debt, which couldreduce our ability to satisfy our current obligations under our existing
indebtedness.

At December31,2020, we had $45.3 million outstandingunder the Revolving Loan. In addition, we may be able to incur
significant additional indebtedness in the future, and we may do so, amongotherreasons, to fund acquisitions as part of our growth
strategy. Although the Credit Agreement contains restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, theserestrictions are
subject toa number of qualifications and exceptions, and we could incur substantial additional indebtedness in compliance with these
restrictions.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Your ability to influence corporate matters may be limited becausethe ESOP and our 401(k) plan own a substantial amount of our
stock and continueto have significant influence over us, which may limit your abilityto influence the outcome of important
transactions, including a change in control.

As of December 31,2020, ouremployees and certain former employees, through their interests in the ESOP and the Mayville
Engineering Company, Inc. 40 1(k) Plan (the 401(k) Plan), beneficially owned a pproximately 55.2% of the outstanding shares of our
common stock. Each participantin the ESOP andthe 401(k) Planis entitled to direct thevote of the shares allocated tohis orher
accounts, in his orhersole discretion. As a result, ouremployees and former employees, if acting together, will be able to influence or
control matters requiring approval by our shareholders, including the election of directors, influence over our management and
policies and the approval of mergers, acquisitions or other extraordinary transactions. As employees and former employees, the ESOP
and 401(k) Plan participants’ interests may be contrary to other investors. This concentration of ownership may havethe effectof
delaying, preventing or deterringa change in control of our company, could deprive ournon-ESOP and non-401(k) Planshareholders
of an opportunity to receive a premium for theircommon stock as part of a sale of our company and might ultimately a ffect the market
price of ourcommon sstock.

The Trustees ofthe ESOP and the 401 (k) Plan may havethe power to vote a large block of shares on matters presented to
shareholders for approval.

ESOP and 401 (k) Plan participants have theright to direct the voteof theshares allocated to his orher ESOP and 401(k) Plan
accounts. However, if a participant does nottimely direct the voting of his or her shares, then (1) GreatBanc Trust Company (the
ESOP Trustee) will vote such shares in its independent fiduciary discretion and (2) Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (the 401 (k) Plan Trustee)
will vote suchshares as directed by the 401(k) Plansponsor, which is the Company. Additionally, the ESOP Trustee and the 401(k)
Plan Trustee have fiduciary duties under ERISA whichmay cause the ESOP Trustee orthe 401(k) Plan Trustee to override
participants’ voting discretions. Consequently, there may be circumstances in which the ESOP Trustee andthe401(k) Plan Trustee
have the ability to vote a significantblock of shares on matters presented to shareholders for approval. The ESOP and the401(k) Plan,
which asretirement plans have the purpose of providing retirement benefits to current and former employees ofthe Company and
theirbeneficiaries, may haveinterests thatare different from other investors and may vote in a way with which other shareholders
disagree and which maybe adverseto other shareholders interests.

The market priceof our common stock may be volatile, and you couldlose all or partofyour investment.

Since ourinitial public offeringin May 2019, the market price of our common stock has beenvolatile and has been and could
continue to be subjectto wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. These fluctuations
could cause investors to lose allorpart of their investment in our common stock. Factors thatcould cause fluctuations in the market
price of our commonstock include the following: sales of substantial amounts of our securities by our directors, executive officers or
significant shareholders (including our current and former employees via the ESOP and the 401 (k) Plan) orthe perception that such
sales could occur; general economic and political conditions such as the COVID-19 pandemic, recessions, interestrates, tariffs, fuel
prices, international currency fluctuations and acts of war or terrorism; price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from
time to time; relatively small percentage of our commonstock available publicly; actual oranticipated fluctuations in our quarterly
financialresults or the quarterly financial results of companies perceived to be similar to us; changes in the market’s expectations
about our operating results; changes in ourorders in a given period; success of competitors; our operating results failingto meetthe
expectation of securities analysts or investors in a particular period; changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities
analysts concerningus or the markets in general; operating and stock price performance of other companies thatinvestors deem
comparable to us; ourability to manufacture new and enhanced components forthe products of our customers on a timely basis;
changes in laws andregulations a ffecting our business; commencement of, orinvolvementin, litigation involving us; changes in our
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capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of additional debt; the volume ofsecurities available for
public sale; any major change in our board ofdirectors or management; and changes in our investor base.

In the past, followingperiods of volatility in the overallmarket and the market price of a particular company’s securities,
securities class action litigation has often been instituted againstthese companies. This litigation, if instituted againstus, could result
in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.

We do not expect to declareany dividends in the foreseeable future.

The continued operation and growth of our business, including a cquisitions and capital expenditures, will require substantial
cash. Accordingly, we do not anticipate declaring any cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future. Any
determination to pay dividends in the future willbe at the discretion of our board of directors and will dependuponresults of
operations, financial condition, any contractual restrictions, our indebtedness, restrictions imposed by applicable law and other factors
ourboardof directors deem relevant. Consequently, investors may needto sellallor part of theirholdings of our common stock after
price appreciation, which mayneveroccur, as theonly way torealize any future gains on their investment.

Some provisions of Wisconsin law and our articles of incorporation and bylaws could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest
difficult, thereby depressing the trading price of our common stock.

Our status asa Wisconsin corporation and the anti-takeover provisions ofthe Wisconsin Business Corporation Law (the WBCL)
may discourage, delay orpreventa change in controleven if a change in control would be beneficial to our shareholders by
prohibitingus from engaging in a business combination with aninterested shareholder fora period ofthreeyears after the person
becomes an interested sharcholder. We may engage in a business combination with an interested sharcholder a fter the expiration of the
three-year period with respect to thatshareholder only if one or more of the following conditions is satisfied: (i) our board of directors
approved the acquisition of the stock beforethe date on which the shareholder acquired the shares, (ii) the business combination is
approved by a majority of our outstanding voting stock not beneficially owned by theinterested shareholder or (iii) the consideration
to bereceived by shareholders meets certain fair prices requirements of the WBCL with respectto form and amount.

In addition, our articles of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions thatmay makethe acquisition ofthe company more
difficult, including the following:

. establishinga classified board of directors so that not allmembers of ourboard of directors are elected at one time, which
could delaytheability of shareholders to change the membership of a majority of our board of directors;

. authorizing undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be issued by
ourboardof directors without shareholder approval;

. requiring certain procedures to be satisfied in order fora shareholderto calla special meeting of shareholders, including
requiring that we receive written demands fora special meeting from holders of 10%ormore ofall the votes entitled to be
caston anyissue proposed to be considered,;

. requiringthat a director may be removed from office only for “cause” and with the affirmative vote of sharcholders
holdingat least66 2/3% ofthe then outstanding shares of stock entitled to votein the election of directors;

. not providing for cumulative voting in the election of directors, which would otherwise allow holders of less thana
majority of stock to elect some directors; and

. establishingadvance notice procedures for shareholder proposals or the nomination of candidates for election as directors.

These provisions could have theeffect of discouraging, delaying or preventing a transaction involving a change in control of the
Company. These provisions could also have theeffect of discouraging proxy contests and make it more difficult for shareholders to
elect directors of their choosing or prevent us from taking other corporate actions thatshareholders may desire.

Risks Related to Being a New Public Company

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources and distract our management, which could make it difficult
to manage our business.

As a public company, we are required to comply with various regulatory and reporting requirements, including those required
by the SEC. Complying with these reporting and other regula tory requirements are time-consuming and result in increased costs tous
and could have a negative effecton ourbusiness, financial condition and operating results.
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As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asamended (the
Exchange Act),andtherequirements ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act 02002 (the Sarbanes-Oxley Act). Theserequirements may place a
strain on our systems andresources. The Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our
business and financial condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and
internal controls over financial reporting. In addition, Section404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires annual management
assessments oftheeffectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting anda report by our independent auditors addressing
these assessments. Under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (JOBS Act), as an “emerging growth company” we are
only subject to management reporting on the assessmentof internal control over financial reporting currently. Assuming we havenot
ceasedto qualify as an“emerging growth company” earlier, we will be required to comply with boththe management and theauditor
assessment ofinternal control over financial reporting requirements of Section 404 at the time we file ourannualreport for2024.

To maintain and improve theeffectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal controls over financial
reporting, we mayneed to commit significantresources, hire additional staff and provide additional managementoversight. We have
and continueto implement additional procedures and processes for the purpose ofaddressing the standards and requirements
applicable to public companies. Sustaining our growth also requires us to commit additional management, operational and financial
resources to identify new professionals to join the Company and to maintain appropriate operational and financial systems to
adequately support expansion. These activities may divert management’s a ttention from other business concerns, which could have a
materialadverseeffect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

If'we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls in the future, or if we experience any additional material weaknesses
in the future, we may not be able to accurately or timely reportour financial condition or results of operations, which may
adversely affectinvestor confidence in us and, as a result, the value of our common stock.

As a public company, we are required to documentand assess theeffectiveness of our system of internal controls over financial
reportingto satisfy the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

While preparing forthe IPOin 2019andas of December31,2019, we identified material weaknesses in the design and
operationof ourinternal control over financial reporting thathavebeenremediated as of December31,2020.1n 2019 and 2020, we
have taken numerous steps to enhance our internal control environmentand remediate the prior material wea knesses. Despite these
actions, we may identify additional material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in the future.

If we identify future material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting or if we are unable to comply with the
demands thatare placed upon us as a public company, including the current and future requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, in a timely manner, we may be unable to accurately reportour financial results, or report them within the timeframes
required by the SEC. In addition, if we are unable to assertthatour internal control over financialreporting is effectivein future years,
or if ourindependentregistered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinionas to the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting when required, investors may lose confidencein the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, we
may face restricted access to the capital markets and our stock price may be adversely affected.

We are an emerging growth company, and any decision on our part to comply onlywith certain reduced reporting and disclosure
requirements applicable to emerging growth companies could make our common stock less attractive toinvestors.

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined by the JOBS Act. Underthe JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can
delay adoptingnew orrevised accounting standards until such timeas those standards apply to private companies. We haveelected to
use this exemption from new orrevised accounting standards and, therefore, we will not be subject to the same new orrevised
accounting standards as other public companies thathavenotmadethis election.

Foraslongaswe continue to be anemerging growth company, we also intend to take advantage of certain other exemptions
from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies including, but not limited to, reduced disclosure
obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of
holdinga nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not
previously approved. We cannot predictif investors will find our commonstock less attractive because we will rely on these
exemptions. [fsome investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, theremaybe a less activetrading market for our
common stockand our stock price may be more volatile.
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We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day ofthe year which we havetotal annual gross
revenue of $1.07 billion ormore; (1) the last day oftheyear following the fifth anniversary of thedate of the closing of ourinitial
public offering; (iii) the date on which we have issued morethan $1.0 billion in nonconvertible debtduring the previous three years;
or (iv) the date on whichwe are deemedto be a large accelerated filerunder therules of the SEC.

Our business and stock price may suffer as a result of our lack of public company operating experience.

The obligations of beinga public company, including substantial public reporting, auditing and investor relations obligations,
require significantadditional expenditures, place additional demands on our managementand require thehiring of additional
personnel. These obligationsincrease our operating expenses and could divert our management’s attention from our operations. The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act andthe SEC rules andregulations implementing such Act, as wellas various New York Stock Exchange (the
NYSE) rules, required us to implement additional corporate governance practices and mayrequire further changes. These rules and
regulations increase our legaland financial compliance costs, and make some activities more difficult, time-consuming and/or costly.
These rules and regulations could also make it moredifficult for us to attract and retain qualified independent members of our board of
directors and qualified members of our management team.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

We maintain 19 strategically located U.S. facilities that are in operation comprising a pproximately 2.7 million square feet of
manufacturing space. We are headquartered in Mayville, WI. We believe that our facilities are sufficientto meet our current and near-
term manufacturing needs.

Approximate
Facility Description of Use Square Feet Ownership
1. Mayville, WI Manufacturing/
Corporate

Headquarters 340,000 Owned
2. Mayville, WI Manufacturing 167,000 Owned
3. Defiance, OH Manufacturing 250,000 Owned
4. Defiance, OH Manufacturing 192,000 Owned
5. Defiance, OH Manufacturing 90,000 Leased
6. BeaverDam, WI Manufacturing 303,000 Owned
7. BeaverDam, WI Manufacturing 163,000 Owned
8. Heber Springs, AR Manufacturing 190,000 Owned
9. Bedford,PA Manufacturing 181,000 Leased
10. Wautoma, WI Manufacturing 157,000 Owned
11. Atkins, VA Manufacturing 150,000 Owned
12. Byron Center, MI Manufacturing 138,000 Leased
13. Neillsville, WI Manufacturing 58,000 Owned
14. Neillsville, WI Manufacturing 42,000 Owned
15. Vanderbilt, MI Manufacturing 50,000 Owned
16. Vanderbilt, MI Manufacturing 40,000 Owned
17. Greenville, MS Manufacturing 76,000 Leased
18. Wayland, MI Manufacturing 75,000 Leased
19. Piedmont, MI Manufacturing 34,000 Leased
TOTAL 2,696,000

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are not currently a party to any material litigation proceedings. From timeto time, however we may be a party to litigation
and subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business. Regardless of the outcome, litigation canhave anadverse impacton
us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Notapplicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Price Information

Our common stockis traded onthe NYSE underthe symbol MEC. As of February 1,2021, there were two registered
shareholders of record of our common stock and thousands ofbeneficial holders of our common stock, includingall the participants in
our ESOP and many participants in our401(k) Plan.

Wehaveneverdeclared or paid any cash dividends on our commonstock. We intend to retain allavailable funds and any future
earnings foruse in the operation and expansion of our business and donotanticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. Any future detemminationas to the declaration and payment of dividends will be at the discretion of our board of
directors and will depend on then-existing conditions, including our financial condition, results of operations, contractual restrictions,
capital requirements, business prospects and other factors that our board of directors considers relevant. In addition, the tems of the
Credit Agreement restrict our ability to pay cash dividends to the holders of our common stock.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The table below sets forth information with respect to purchases we made of shares of our common stock duringthe three
months ended December31,2020:

Total Number Dollar Value of
of Shares Shares that
Total Purchased as May Yet Be
Number Part of Publicly Purchased
of Shares Average Price Announced Plans Under the Plans
Period Purchased Paid per Share or Programs M or Programs m
October2020 — § — — $ 19,896,406
November2020 — 3 — — $ 19,896,406
December2020 —  $ — — $ 19,896,406
Total — —

(" OnJune 12,2019, ourboard of directors authorized the purchase of up to $4.0 million of shares of our common stock to be used

to meet ourrequired 2019 safe harbor funding obligation under the ESOP. On October 28,2019, our board ofdirectors approved
an increase of our share repurchase program from $4 million to $25 million through 2021.
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Securities Authorized ForIssuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See Part I11,Item 12, ofthis Annual Report on Form 10-K for certain information regarding our equity compensation plans.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Management’s Discussionand Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is intended to assist in the
understanding and assessing the trends and significant changes in ourresults of operations and financial condition. Historical results
may not be indicative of future performance. This discussion includes forward-looking statements thatreflect our plans, estimates and
beliefs. Such statements involverisks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materia lly from those contemplated by these
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forthin “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1 A and
“Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussionshould be read
in conjunction with ouraudited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in Part I1, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. In this discussion, we use certain financial measures that arenotprepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). Explanation of thesenon-GAAP financial measures and
reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures are included in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Conditionand Results of Operations. Investors should not considernon-GAAP financial measures in isolation oras
substitutes for financial information presented in compliance with GAAP.

All amounts are presented in thousands except share amounts, per sharedata, years and ratios.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Criticalaccounting policies are those policies that, in management’s view, are most important in the portrayal of our financial
conditionand results of operations. The notes to the consolidated financial statements include full disclosure of'significantaccounting
policies. The methods, estimates and judgments that we use in applying ouraccounting policies have a significantimpact onthe
results that we reportin our financial statements. These critical accounting policies require us to makedifficult and subjective
judgments, oftenas aresult of theneed to make estimates regarding matters thatare inherently uncertain. Those critical accounting
policies and estimates that require the most significant judgmentare discussed further below. See Note 1 — Nature of business and
summary ofsignificant accounting policies, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item § of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K formore specifics.

Goodwill, Other Intangibles and Other Long-Lived Assets

Our long-lived assets consist primarily of property, equipment, purchased intangible assets and goodwill. The valuationandthe
impairment testing of these long-lived assets involve significant judgments and assumptions, particularly as theyrelate to the
identification ofreporting units, asset groups and the determination of fair marketvalue.

We test ourtangible and intangible long-lived assets subject to amortization for impairment whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that the carryingamountof an assetmay not be recoverable. We test goodwilland indefinite lived intangible assets for
impairment annually, or more frequently if triggering events occur indicating that there may be impairment.

We have recorded goodwill and perform testing for potential goodwillimpairment at a reporting unit level. A reportingunit is
an operating segment, ora business unit one level below an operating segment for which discrete financial informationis available,
and for which management regularly reviews the operating results. Additionally, components within anoperating segmentcanbe
aggregatedasa single reportingunit if they have similar economic characteristics. We have performed testing on our onereporting
unit.

We determine the fair value of our reporting units using multiple valuation methodologies, relying largely on an income
approachbut also incorporating value indicators from a marketapproach. Under the income approach, we calculatethe fairvalueofa
reportingunit based on the present value of estimated future cash flows. The income approach is dependent onseveralkey
management assumptions, including estimates of future sales, gross margins, operating costs, interest expense, income tax rates,
capital expenditures, changes in working capital requirements and the weighted average costof capital or the discount rate. Discount
rate assumptions include an assessmentof therisk inherentin the futurecash flows ofthe reporting unit. Expected cash flows used
under the income approach are developed in conjunction with our budgeting and forecasting process. Under themarketapproach, we
estimate fair value of thereporting units using EBITDA multiples. The multiples are derived from comparable publicly traded
companies with similar operating and investment characteristics as the respective reporting units.

We test our goodwill forimpairment onan annualbasis in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year,and more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Due to the economic conditions during the second quarterof 2020as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we detemmined that an impairment triggering eventoccurred, which required an interim
quantitative impairment assessment of goodwill. Based on our interim quantitative a ssessments, the fair value of our reporting unit
exceeded ourrelated carrying valueby more than 50%, thus no impairment of goodwill was indicated. We also performed our annual
qualitative goodwill impairmenttest during the fourth quarter of fiscal years 2020 and 2019, which did not indicatean impairment
existed.

Changes to management assumptions and estimates utilized in the income and market approaches could negatively impactthe
fairvalue conclusions for ourreporting unit resulting in goodwillimpairment. Allkey assumptions and valuations are determined by
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and are the responsibility of management. The factors used in the impairment analysis are inherently subject touncertainty. We
believe that the estimates and assumptions are reasonable to determine the fair value of ourreportingunit, however, if actual results
are not consistent with these estimates and assumptions, goodwilland other intangible assets may be overstated which could trigger an
impairment charge.

Forimpairmenttesting of long-lived assets, we identify asset groups at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are
largely independent of the cash flows of other groups ofassets and liabilities. Recoverability of assets to be heldand used is measured
by a comparison ofthe carryingamount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flow expected to be generated by the assets.
Ifthe carryingamountof an assetexceeds its estimated future cash flows, animpairment charge is recognized by the amountby which
the carryingamount ofthe assetexceeds theestimated fair value ofthe asset. Forthe years ended December31,2020and2019, there
were no events or changes in circumstances that would indicate a material impairmentof our long-lived assets.

Determining the useful life of an intangible assetalso requires judgment. Certain intangible assets are expected tohave
indefinite lives based on their history and our plans to continueto support and build the acquired brands. Otheracquired intangible
assets suchas customer rela tionships, trade names, and non-compete agreements are expected to have determinable useful lives. The
costs of determinable-lived intangibles are amortized to expense over their estimated lives.

Income Taxes

The provision for, or benefit from, income taxes includes deferred taxes resulting from temporary differences in income for
financialandtax purposes using the liability method. Such temporary differences result primarily from differences in the carrying
value of assets and liabilities. Future realization of deferred income tax assetsrequires sufficient taxable income within the carryback
and/or carry forward period available under tax law.

The Company evaluates on a quarterly basis whether, based onallavailable evidence, it is probable that the deferred income tax
assets are realizable. Valuation allowances are established when it is estimated thatit is more likely than not that thetax benefit of the
deferred tax asset willnot be realized. The evaluation includesthe consideration of allavailable evidence, both positiveand negative,
regardingthe estimated futurereversals of existing taxable temporary differences, estimated future taxable income exclusive of
reversing temporary differences and carryforwards, historical taxable income in prior carryback periods if carryback is permitted, and
potential tax planning strategies which may be employed to prevent an operating loss ortax credit carry forward from expiring unused.
The verifiable evidence suchas future reversals of existing temporary differences and the ability to carryback are considered before
the subjective sources such as estimate future taxable income exclusive oftemporary differences and tax planning strategies.
Additionally, we record uncertain tax positions at their net recognizable amount, based on the amount that management deems is more
likely thannotto be sustained uponultimate settlement with the tax authorities in jurisdictions in which we operate.

Revenuerecognition

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification 606 January 1,2019, where the Company recognizes revenue forthe
transfer of goods orservices to a customer in an amount thatreflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange forthose
goods orservices. When goods areshipped, the customer takes ownership at shipment, and this is when control transfers. Sales are
supported by documentation suchas supply agreements and purchase order, which specify certain terms and conditions including
productspecifications, quantities, fixed prices, delivery dates and payments terms. Revenue related to services is recognized in the
period services are performed, thus the Company recognizes revenueat a pointin time.

There are many customers where the Company designs, engineers and builds productiontooling, which is purchased by the
customer. Most ofthe tooling revenue is completeat the point the customer signs off onthe product through the Product Part
Approval Process (PPAP)andthe toolis placedinto service. Revenueis recognized when control of thetooling promised undera
contractis transferred to the customer eitherat a point in time orovera period of timein an amount thatreflects the consideration to
which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods or services.

The Company offers certain customers discounts for early payments. These discounts are recorded a gainst netsales in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) and accounts receivable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company
doesnot offerany other customer incentives, rebates orallowances.

ESOP

Underthe Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the ESOP), the Company can make annual
contributions to thetrust for the benefit ofeligible employees in the form of cash or shares of common stock ofthe Company. Priorto
December31,2019, the annual contribution was discretionary exceptthatit must havebeenatleast3% of the compensation forall
safe harbor participants forthe planyear. Beginning on January 1,2020, all contributions are discretionary. The stock in the ESOP is
held in trust forthe sole benefit of the participants. Shares allocated to a participant’s accountare fully vested.

Upon retirement, death, termination of employment or exercise of diversificationrights, the eligible portion of a participant’s
ESOP account is redeemable annually atthe current price per share ofthe stock. Under the terms of the ESOP prior to the IPO, we
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were obligated to redeem eligible participant account balances for cash (in accordance with the redemption schedule and subject to the
limitations set forth in the ESOP). Following the IPO, (i) we no longerredeem participants’ ESOP interests, as distributions from the
ESOP made to a participant following retirement, death or termination of employment, or the exercise of diversificationrights under
the Traditional ESOP, will be made in our commonsstock, and uponreceivinga distribution of our common stock from the ESOP a
participant willbe able to sell such shares of commonstock in the market, subjectto any requirements of federal securities law; and
(i) with respect to any participant who exercises statutory diversification rights under the ESOP, the ESOP Trustee will sell, on behalf
of the participant, the shares thatthe participanthas elected to diversify and reinvest the sale proceeds in an alternate investment
option as directed by the participant.

Emerging Growth Company

The JOBS Act permits an “emerging growth company” like us to takeadvantage of an extended transition period to comply
with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies. We are choosingto use this provisionand, as a result, we
will comply with new orrevised accounting standards as required for private companies.

Internal Controls and Procedures

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for our
company. Internal control over financial reporting is a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding thereliability of our
financialreportingand the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Internal control over
financialreporting includes maintaining records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions; providing
reasonable assurancethattransactions arerecorded as necessary for preparation of our financial statements; providing reasonable
assurance that receipts and expenditures of our assets are made in accordance with management’s authorization; and providing
reasonable assurance thatunauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements would be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reportingis not intended to provide absolute assurancethata misstatement of our financial statements would be prevented or detected.
Furthermore, our controls and procedures can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two ormore
people orby management override of the control, and misstatements dueto error or fraud may occurandnotbe detected on a timely
basis.

While preparing forthe IPOin 2019andas of December31,2019, we identified material weaknesses in the design and
operationof our internal control over financial reportingthathavebeenremediated as of December31,2020.1n 2019 and 2020, we
have taken numerous steps to enhance our internal control environmentand remediate the prior material wea knesses. Despite these
actions, we may identify additional material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in the future.

If we identify future material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting or if we are unable to comply with the
demands thatare placed upon us as a public company, including the current and future requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, in a timely manner, we may be unable to accurately reportour financial results, or report them within the timeframes
required by the SEC. In addition, if we are unable to assertthatour internal control over financial reporting is effectivein future years,
or if ourindependentregistered public accounting firm is unable to express anopinionas to the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting whenrequired, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, we
may face restricted access to the capital markets and our stock price may be adversely affected.

Overview

MEC is a leading U.S.-based value-added manufacturing partner that provides a broad range of prototypingandtooling,
production fabrication, coating, assembly and aftermarketcomponents. Our customers operatein diverse end markets, including
heavy-and medium-duty commercial vehicles, construction & access equipment, powersports, a griculture, military and otherend
markets. We have developed long-standing rela tionships with our blue-chip customers basedupona high level of experience, trust and
confidence.

Our one opernating segment focuses on producing metal components thatare used in a broad range of heavy- and medium-duty
commercial vehicles, construction & access equipment, powersports, a gricultural, military and other products.

In May 2019, we completed our IPO. In conjunction with the IPO, the Company’s legacy business converted from an S

Corporation toa C Corporation. As a result, the consolidated business is subject to paying federal and state corporateincometaxes on
its taxable income from May 9,2019 forward.
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COVID-19 Impact

COVID-19 has hadand will continueto have a negative impact on our business, financial condition, cash flows, results of
operations and supply chain, although the full extent is still uncertain.

Forthe twelve months ended December 31,2020, net sales reflected the significant disruption we encountered primarily dueto
COVID-19 with customer shutdowns, demand changes, and continued destocking, which were mostapparentin the commercial
vehicle, agriculture and construction & access equipment end markets served. Despite MEC and its customer base carryingthe
essential business designation, customer production facilities shut down 5 — 6 weeks on average during the second quarter of 2020 due
to COVID-19. As a direct result of the customer shutdowns, MEC temporarily halted production at someof its facilities during the
second quarter. Customer manufacturing facilities gradually reopened toward the end of the second quarter, but MEC production
volumes remained below pre-pandemic levels through theremainder of the year with alMEC facilities open. Despite thedeclinein
volumes forthe second, third and fourth quarters due to COVID-19, all pre-existing customer relationships and manufacturing
programs remain intact. While end markets have started to stabilize, we have improved our near- and long-term cost structure through
facility and process optimization and are actively working with our customers to grow our partnerships while pursuing incremental
sales througha wide range of new customer and market opportunities.

The future financial effects of COVID-19 are unknown due to many factors. These factors include uncertainty of the
effectiveness of governmental actions to address COVID-19, including health, monetary and fiscal policies, the effectof elevated
levels of sovereign and state debt, capital market disruptions, changes in demand and pricing, trade a greements, other geopolitical
events, and the availability and volatility in the price of raw materials and other commodities. As a result, predicting the Company’s
forecasted financial performance is difficult and subjectto many assumptions.

The Company’s first priority has been to safeguard the health and well-being of its employees while fulfillingits obligations as
an essential business serving its customer base. This proactive approach has keptemployees safe and production facilities operational
based oncustomer demand. Our goalis to continue to successfully manage through the effects of COVID-19 and strengthen our
position serving customers in the future.

How We Assess Performance

Net Sales. Net sales reflect sales of our components and products netof allowances for returns and discounts. Several factors
affect ournet sales in any given period, including general economic conditions, weather, timing of acquisitions and the production
schedules of our customers. Net sales are recognized at thetime of shipmentto the customer.

Manufacturing Margins. Manufacturing margins represents netsales less cost of'sales. Cost of sales consists ofall direct and
indirect costs used in the manufacturing process, including raw materials, labor, equipment costs, depreciation, lease expenses,
subcontract costs and other directly related overhead costs. Our cost of sales is directly affected by the fluctuations in commodity
prices, primarily sheet steeland aluminum, but these changes arelargely mitigated by contractual a greements with our customers that
allowus to pass through theseprice changes based upon certain market indexes.

Depreciation and Amortization. We carry property, plant and equipment on our balance sheet at cost, netof accumulated
depreciationand amortization. Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated
usefullife of the asset. Amortization expense is the periodic expenserelated to leasehold improvements and intangible assets.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over thelesser of the life of the underlying assetor the remaining lea se term. Our intangible
assets were recognized as a result of certain acquisitions and are generally amortized ona straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of the assets.

Other Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses. Other selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of
salaries and personnel costs for our sales and marketing, finance, human resources, information systems, a dministration and certain
othermanagerial employees and certain corporate level administrative expenses such as incentive compensation, audit, accounting,
legaland other consulting and professional services, travel, and insurance.

Other Key Performance Indicators
EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

EBITDA represents netincome before interest expense, provision (benefit) for income taxes, depreciation and amortization.
EBITDA Margin represents EBITDA as a percentage of net sales foreachperiod.

Adjusted EBITDA represents EBITDA before transaction fees incurred in connection with the DMP acquisition and the [PO,
the loss on debt extinguishmentrelating to our December 201 8 credit a greement, non-cash purchase accounting charges including
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costs recognized on the step-up of acquired inventory and contingent consideration fair va lue adjustments, one-time increases in
deferred compensationand longterm incentive plan expenses related to the PO, stock-based compensation, and restructuring
expenses related to the closure ofthe Greenwood facility. Adjusted EBITDA Margin represents Adjusted EBITDA as a percentageof
net sales foreach period. These metrics are supplemental measures of our operating performancethatare neitherrequired by, nor
presented in accordance with, GAAP. These measures should notbe considered as an alternative tonet income or any other
performance measure derived in accordance with GAAP as an indicator of our operating performance. We present Adjusted EBITDA
and Adjusted EBITDA Margin as management uses these measures as key performance indicators, and we believe they are measures
frequentlyused by securities analysts, investors and other parties to evaluate companies in our industry. These measures have
limitations as analyticaltools and should not be considered in isolation or as substitutes for analysis of ourresults as reported under
GAAP.

Starting in the first quarter of 2020, we excluded stock-based compensation expense from Adjusted EBITDA. Management
excludes this charge when evaluating the performance ofthebusiness because it is a non-cash charge, and the Companyis able to
fund vesting obligations through its Omnibus Incentive Plan. Further, the exclusion of these charges aligns with the calculation of
Adjusted EBITDA for purposes of our covenant calculations under the Credit Agreement. And finally, revaluations of grant date fair
values can vary significantly with the passage of time withoutany accounting impact. For example, the fair value of the stock-based
compensation awards granted in May 2019 would have been approximately one-third ofthatvaluehad they been granted at the same
time during 2020.

Our calculation of EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin maynotbe comparable to the
similarly named measures reported by other companies. Potential differences between our measures of EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA comparedto other similar companies’ measures of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA may include differences in capital
structure and tax positions.

The followingtable presents a reconciliation of netincome (loss), the most directly comparable measure calculated in
accordance with GAAP, to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, and the calculation of EBITDA Margin and Adjusted EBITDA Margin
foreach ofthe periods presented.

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Net income (loss) $ (7,092) $ 4,753) $ 17,935
Interest expense 2,668 6,728 3,879
Benefit forincome taxes (2,074) (4,088) 459)
Depreciation and amortization 32,089 33,002 20,468

EBITDA 25,591 30,890 41,823
Loss on the extinguishment of debt — 154 814
Costsrecognized onstep-up of acquired inventory — 395 583
Contingent consideration revaluation — (6,054) @n)
Deferred compensation expense specific to [PO — 10,159 —
Longterm incentive plan expense specific to [PO — 9,921 —
Other [IPO and DMP acquisition related expenses — 5,744 495
IPO stock-based compensation expense 1,029 1,871 —
Stock based compensation expense 3,703 1,616 —
Greenwoodrestructuring charges 2,524 — —

Adjusted EBITDA $ 32,847 $ 54,696 § 43,694
Netsales $ 357,606 $ 519,704  $ 354,526

EBITDA Margin 7.2% 5.9% 11.8%

Adjusted EBITDA Margin 9.2% 10.5% 12.3%
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Consolidated Results of Operations
Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2020 Comparedto Twelve Months Ended December 31,2019

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2020 2019 Increase (Decrease)
% of Net % of Net Amount
Amount Sales Amount Sales Change % Change
Netsales $357,606 100.0% $519,704 100.0% $(162,098) 312%
Costof'sales 326,105 91.2% 460,986 88.7% (134881) -29.3%
Manufacturing margins 31,501 88% 58,718 113% (27,217) -46.4 %
Amortization of intangibles 10,706 3.0% 10,706 2.1% — 0.0%
Profit sharing, bonuses and deferred compensation 8,250 23% 25,105 48% (16,855) -67.1%
Employee stock ownership plan expense — 0.0% 5,453 1.0%  (5,453) -100.0 %
Otherselling, generaland administrative expenses 19,043 53% 25,466 49%  (6,423) 252%
Contingent considerationrevaluation — 0.0% (6,054) -1.2% (6,054) -100.0%
Loss from operations (6,498) -1.8% (1,958) -0.4% 4,540 231.9%
Interest expense (2,668) 0.7%  (6,728) 1.3%  (4,060) -60.3 %
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 0.0% (154) 0.0% (154) -100.0 %
Benefit forincome taxes (2,074) -0.6%  (4,088) -08%  (2,014) -49.3%
Net loss and comprehensive loss $ (7,092) 2.0% $§ (4,753) -09% § 2,339 49.2 %
EBITDA $ 25,591 72% $ 30,890 59% $ (5,299) -17.2%
Adjusted EBITDA $ 32,847 92% $ 54,696 10.5% $(21,849) -39.9%

Net Sales. Net sales were $357,606 for the twelve months ended December31,2020as comparedto $519,704 forthetwelve
months ended December31,2019 fora decrease 0f$162,098, or31.2%, which was driven by volume reductions across nearly allend
markets served due to COVID-19, along with continued market demand changes and customer destocking activities which were most
apparentin the commercial vehicle, agriculture and construction & access equipment end markets served. Despite MEC and its
customer base carrying theessential business designation, customer production facilities shut down 5 — 6 weeks on average during the
second quarter of 2020 dueto COVID-19. As a direct result of the customer shutdowns, MEC temporarily halted productionat some
of'its facilities during this time period. Customer manufacturing facilities gradually reopened, but MEC production volumes remained
below pre-pandemic levels through theremainder of the year. Despite these volume declines, all pre-existing customer relationships
and manufacturing programs remain intact.

Manufacturing Margins. Manufacturing margins were $3 1,501 forthetwelve months ended December31,2020as compared
to $58,718 forthe twelve months ended December31,2019, a decreaseof $27,217,0r46.4%. Thedecline was mainly driven by the
aforementioned volumereductions driven by COVID-19 along with the continued impact of market demand changes and destocking
activities resulting in higher under-absorbed manufacturing costs, and $2,524 of restructuring costs related to the Greenwood facility
consolidation, the details of which areoutlined in Note 22 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, costof sales includes
approximately $775 of inventory obsolescence and health care charges specific to theestimated potential impacts of COVID-19.

Our traditional methods of determining inventory obsolescence and health careaccruals significantly rely upon historical data.
When estimating the approximately $775 of COVID-19reserves during the current year, we hadneither historical information, nor
much other data from which to compute an estimated impact for this typeof event. Nevertheless, the Company believes the obvious
risk posed by thepandemic may havea financialimpact in these areas. This charge forthese COVID-19 specific accruals represents
ourbest good faith estimate of the potential financial impact to the Company based on information available to us. Due to the
continuedrisk posed by COVID-19, these reserves have remained mostly unchanged since establishment during the first quarter ofthe
current year. We will continueto evaluate and report on our position with respect to these reserves as we work through the pandemic
and monitor theeffectiveness of vaccines.

Manufacturing margin percentages were 8.8% for the twelve months ended December31,2020as comparedto 11.3% forthe
twelve months ended December31,2019, a decline of250basis points. This decline was mostly attributable to the aforementioned
impacts of COVID-19, market demand changes and destocking activities resulting in under-absorbed fixed overhead costs along with
Greenwood facility restructuring costs and COVID-19 specific reserves. Based on the cost reduction initiatives enacted, the Company
believes manufacturing margin percentages should improve beyond historical percentages when volumes return to historical levels.

Amortization of Intangibles Expense. Amortization of intangibles expense was $10,706 for both the twelvemonths ended
December31,2020and 2019.
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Profit Sharing, Bonuses and Deferred Compensation Expenses. Profit sharing, bonuses and deferred compensation expenses
were $8,250 forthe twelve months ended December 31,2020 as compared to $25,105 for thetwelve months ended December31,
2019. The prioryear included $20,080 of one-time IPO expenses, including $10,159 for deferred compensation and $9,921 for long-
term incentive plan. Excluding these items from the prior year, these expenses increased $3,225. The increase is primarily due to
increased stock-based compensation expense during 2020 because ofthe timing of awards.

Employee Stock Ownership Plan Expense. Employee stock ownership plan expense was zero for the twelve months ended
December31,2020as comparedto $5,453 forthe twelvemonths ended December31,2019,a decreaseof $5,453,0r 100.0%. Priorto
December31,2019, the annual ESOP contribution was discretionary except that it musthave been at least 3% ofthe compensation for
all safe harbor participants for the plan year. Beginning in 2020, all contributions are discretionary. The change is due to thedecision
to eliminatethis particular discretionary gain sharing contribution for the fiscal year 2020 as a result of lower financial performance
due to the adverse impacts of COVID-19.

Other Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Other selling, general and administrative expenses were $19,043 forthe
twelve months ended December 31,2020 as compared to $25,466 for thetwelve months ended December31,2019. The prioryear
includes $5,744 of one-time other IPO and DMP acquisition related expenses. Excluding these one-time charges, these expenses
decreased $679. The decrease was driven by synergies achieved through the integration of DMP, lower tra vel and entertainment
expenses in the current period dueto COVID-19restrictions, and other costsaving initiatives initiated in the current year, slightly
offset by anincreasein costs associated with beinga publicly traded company.

Contingent Consideration Revaluation. The DMP purchase agreement provided fora payoutto the previous shareholders of
DMP of $7,500, butnot morethan $10,000 if a certain levelof EBITDA was generated during the twelve-month period ended
September30,2019. We estimated the fair value of the contingent consideration payable balance 0f$6,076 as of theacquisition date
of December 14,2018. We thenremeasured the fair value each quarter through September 30, 2019, with the change recordedas a
contingent consideration revaluation adjustment. Based on our calculations in accordance with the purchaseagreement, and as agreed
to by DMP’s former shareholders, it was determined DMP’s EBITDA fell short of the payoutthreshold and as a result, the contingent
consideration payable balance was adjusted to zero in the third quarter of 2019, resulting in income of $6,054 for the twelve months
ended December31,2019.

Interest Expense. Interestexpense was $2,668 for the twelvemonths ended December 31,2020 as compared to $6,728 forthe
twelve months ended December31,2019,a decrease of$4,060, or 60.3%. Thechange is due to lower borrowings during the current
period as compared to thesame prior year period along with lower interest rates attributable to the more favorable terms afforded
underouramended and restated Credit Agreement.

Benefit for Income Taxes. Incometax benefits were $2,074 forthe twelve months ended December 31,2020 as compared to
$4,088 forthe twelve months ended December31,2019. The decrease is due to a less pretax loss in the current period. Please
reference Note 9 of the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for more specifics. As of December31,2020, our federal net
operatingloss (NOL) carry forward was $11,833 driven by the pretax losses incurred during the current year and the entirety of the
prioryear. The NOL does not expire and will be used to offset future pretax income. We expect our long-term effective tax rate to be
26%,based on current tax regulations.

Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss. Net loss and comprehensive loss was $7,092 for the twelve months ended December 31,
2020 as comparedto $4,753 for the twelve months ended December31,2019. The increase of $2,339 was due to the previously
discussed items.

EBITDA and EBITDA Margin. EBITDA and EBITDA Margin were $25,591 and 7.2%, respectively, for thetwelve months
ended December31,2020,as comparedto $30,890and 5.9%, respectively, for thetwelve months ended December31,2019. The
$5,299 decline in EBITDA was dueto thereduction in sales volumes driven by COVID-19, the decline in market demand, destocking
activities, and the Greenwood facility closure costs in the current period.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin were $32,847and 9.2%,
respectively, forthe twelvemonths ended December 31,2020, as compared to $54,696 and 10.5%, respectively, for the twelve months
ended December31,2019. The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA of $21,849 was primarily due to the reduction in sales volumes in the
current period driven by COVID-19, the decline in market demand, and destocking activities.
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Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2019 Comparedto Twelve Months Ended December 31,2018

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2019 2018 Increase (Decrease)
% of Net % of Net Amount
Amount Sales Amount Sales Change % Change

Netsales $519,704 100.0% $354,526 100.0% $165,178 46.6 %
Costof'sales 460,986 88.7% 303,948 85.7% 157,038 51.7%

Manufacturing margins 58,718 11.3% 50,578 14.3% 8,141 16.1 %
Amortization ofintangibles 10,706 2.1% 4,096 1.2% 6,610 161.4 %
Profit sharing, bonuses and deferred compensation 25,105 4.8% 8,058 23% 17,047 211.6%
Employee stock ownership planexpense 5,453 1.0% 4,000 1.1% 1,453 36.3%
Otherselling, generaland administrative expenses 25,466 49% 12,276 35% 13,190 107.5%
Contingent considerationrevaluation (6,054) -1.2% (21) 0.0 % (6,033) -287286%

Income (loss) from operations (1,958) -04% 22,169 63% (24,127) -108.8%
Interest expense (6,728) 1.3% (3.879) 1.1% 2,849 73.5%
Loss on extinguishment of debt (154) 0.0% 814) 0.2% (660) -81.1%
Benefit forincome taxes (4,088) -0.8% 459) -0.1% 3,628 790.0 %

Net income (loss) and comprehensive income

(loss) $ (4,753) -09% $ 17,935 5.1% $(22,688) -126.5%
EBITDA $ 30,890 59% $ 41,823 11.8% $(10,933) -26.1%
Adjusted EBITDA $ 54,696 10.5% $ 43,694 123% $ 11,002 252 %

Net Sales. Net sales were $519,704 for the twelve months ended December 31,2019 as comparedto $354,526 forthetwelve
months ended December31,2018 foranincrease of$165,178, or46.6%, which was driven by approximately $189,000 ofnet
contributions from the former DMP locations slightly offset by modest declines within our legacy business. Both the legacy MEC and
former DMP businesses were adversely impacted by sudden declines in market demand thatbegan latein the third quarterand
continued through the fourth quarter, particularly in the commercial vehicle (CV), agricultural and construction & access equipment
end markets served. These market demand changes drovedestocking activities which had a more pronounced impacton thelegacy
MEC business, especially in the fourth quarter. Destocking stems from lower retail sales resulting in customer decisions to reduce
dealerinventory levels by reducingand curtailing near-term production schedules. In addition, severalkey customers in the CV
market experienced laborunion issues in the third and fourth quarters 0f2019, which negatively impacted production schedules for
both the legacy MEC and former DMP businesses.

Manufacturing Margins. Manufacturing margins were $58,718 for the twelve months ended December 31,2019 as compared
to $50,578 forthe twelve months ended December31,2018,anincrease of$8,141,0r16.1%. Theincreasewas drivenby
approximately $21,000 of contributions from the former DMP locations slightly offsetby modestdeclines atthe legacy MEC
locations. The declines in market demand, destocking, andimpactof customer labor issues adversely impacted volumes and the labor
absorptionassociated with it. These circumstances, along with the costs associated with working through the consolidation of the
Company’s Virginia facilities, shift consolidations across multiple facilities and increased healthcare costs, coupled with fewer
workingdays in the fourth quarter, negatively impacted our costs. These conditions collectively produced an unusualamountof
under-absorbed manufacturing expenses and lower manufacturing margins in the third quarter and especially in the fourth quarter of
2019.

Amortization of Intangibles. Amortization of intangibles expense was $10,706 for the twelve months ended December 31,2019
ascomparedto $4,096 forthetwelve months ended December31,2018. The increase 0f$6,610, 0r 161.4%, was solely due to the
amortization expense associated with the identifiable intangible assets from the DMP acquisition.

Profit Sharing, Bonuses and Deferred Compensation. Profit sharing, bonuses, and deferred compensation expenses were
$25,105 forthe twelvemonths ended December 31,2019 as comparedto $8,058 for the twelvemonths ended December31,2018.
The increase of$17,047 was primarily drivenby a one-time increase of $10,159 in deferred compensation plan expense and a one-
time increaseof $9,921 in long term incentive plan (LTIP) expense, bothrelatedto the IPO, offsetby approximately a $2,600
reductionin annual incentive-based bonus expense.

Employee Stock Ownership Plan Expense. Employee stock ownership planexpense was $5,453 forthe twelvemonths ended
December31,2019as comparedto $4,000 forthe twelvemonths ended December31,2018. The increaseof $1,453,01r36.3%, was
primarily due to the addition of plan participants as a result ofthe DMP acquisition.

Other Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Other selling, general and administrative expenses were $25,466 for the
twelve months ended December 31,2019 as compared to $12,276 for thetwelve months ended December31,2018. The increase of
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$13,190,0r107.5%, was driven by $5,744 of one-time IPO and DMP acquisition expenses, approximately $5,300 from the former
DMP acquired entities, and additional costs associated with beinga publicly traded company.

Contingent Consideration Revaluation. The DMP purchase agreementprovided fora payoutto the previous shareholders of
DMP of $7,500, butnot morethan $10,000 if a certain level of EBITDA was generated during the twelve-month period ended
September30,2019. We estimated the fair value of the contingent consideration payable balance 0f$6,076 as of theacquisition date.
We then remeasured the fair value each quarter through September 30,2019, with the change recorded as a contingent consideration
revaluationadjustment. Based on our calculations in accordance with the purchase agreement, andas agreed to by DMP’s former
shareholders, it was determined DMP’s EBITDA fell short of the payout threshold and as a result, the contingent consideration
payable balance was adjusted to zero in the third quarter of 2019, resulting in income of $6,054 for the twelve months ended
December31,2019.

Interest Expense. Interestexpense was $6,728 forthe twelvemonths ended December 31,2019 as compared to $3,879 forthe
twelve months ended December31,2018. Theincrease of $2,849, or 73.5%, was dueto additional debt used to fundthe DMP
acquisition, slightly offsetby thepartial paydown of our debtwith the IPO proceeds in May and netpositive cash flows generated by
the business.

Benefit for Income Taxes. Incometax benefits were $4,088 for the twelve months ended December 31,2019 as compared to
$459 forthetwelve months ended December31,2018. The currentperiod benefit is the result of the Company’s lega cy business
convertingto a C Corporationin May 2019 andthe one-time [PO expenses incurred which are deductible, causing the benefit. Prior to
the IPO, the Company’s legacy business was a S Corporation, where substantially all taxes were passed to the shareholders and the
Company did not pay federal or state corporate income taxes onits taxable income. The DMP entities have been taxable underthe
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and certain state statutes since beingacquired. The consolidated business has been subject to
paying federal and state corporate incometaxes on its taxable income since May 9,2019.

Net Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss). Net loss and comprehensive loss was $4,753 forthetwelve months
ended December31,2019as comparedto net incomeand comprehensiveincomeof $17,935 for the twelve months ended December
31,2018. The decrease 0f$22,688 was due to the previously discussed expenseincreases, most notably the one-time LTIP and
deferred compensation plan expenses related to the IPO, and other one-time IPO and DMP acquisitionrelated expenses, slightly offset
by the contingent consideration fair value revaluation adjustmentand net income generated by DMP.

EBITDA and EBITDA Margin. EBITDA and EBITDA Margin were $30,890 and 5.9%, respectively, for thetwelve months
ended December31,2019,as comparedto $41,823 and 11.8%, respectively, for thetwelve months ended December31,2018. The
$10,933 decline in EBITDA was due to the previously mentioned increase in LTIP and deferred compensation planexpenses related
to the IPO, and other one-time [PO and DMP acquisition related expenses. These one-time expenses and charges were slightly offset
by the gain recorded forthe DMP contingent consideration fair value revaluation adjustmentand the addition of DMP.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin were $54,696 and
10.5%, respectively, forthetwelve months ended December31,2019, as compared to $43,694 and 12.3%, respectively, forthe twelve
months ended December31,2018. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA of $11,002 was primarily driven by the acquisition of DMP.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows Analysis Twelve Months Ended December 31,2020 Compared to Twelve Months Ended December 31,2019

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2020 2019 $ Change % Change
Net cash provided by operating a ctivities $§ 36,523 § 33,402 3,121 9.3%
Net cash used in investing activities (5,774) (28,090) 22,316 -79.4%
Net cash used in financing activities (30,629) (8,400) (22,229) 264.6%
Net change in cash $ 120 $ (3,088) $ 3,208 103.9%

Operating Activities. Cash provided by operatingactivities was $36,523 for the twelvemonths ended December 31,2020 as
comparedto $33,402 for the twelve months ended December31,2019. The $3,12 1 increase in operating cash flows was primarily due
to a greaterreduction in inventory, prepaids and other assets, along with beneficial changes in a variety of other operatingassets and
liability categories in the current yearas compared to thesame prior year period. Changes to pricing, paymentterms and credit terms
did not have a significantimpact on changes to working capital items, or any other elementof the operating cash flow activities for the
periods presented.
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Investing Activities. Cash used in investing activities was $5,774 for the twelvemonths ended December 31,2020, as compared
to $28,090 for the twelve months ended December31,2019. The $22,316, or 79.4%, decreasein cashused in investing activities was
driven by our capital spend changing from a focus on investments in new technology and automationin 2019, to leveraging those
investments and preserving cashin 2020. In addition, dueto the Greenwood facility closure, the Company generated more proceeds
forthe sale of equipment in the current period as compared to the same prior year period.

Financing Activities. Cashused by financingactivities was $30,629 for the twelve months ended December 31,2020, as
comparedto cash used in financingactivities of $8,400 for thetwelve months ended December31,2019. The $22,229 change was
driven by the use of operating cash flow in the current period to pay down debtas compared to net cashused in the prioryear driven
by IPO proceeds usedto pay downdebt.

Cash Flows Analysis Twelve Months Ended December 31,2019 Compared to Twelve Months Ended December 31,2018

Twelve Months Ended

December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2019 2018 $ Change % Change
Net cash provided by operatingactivities $ 33,402 § 36,715 (3,313) -9.0%
Net cash used in investing activities (28,090) (132,569) 104,479 -78.8%
Net cash provided by (usedin) financing a ctivities (8,400) 98,867 (107,267) -108.5%
Net change in cash $ (3,088) $ 3,013 § (6,101) -202.5%

Operating Activities. Cash provided by operatingactivities was $33,402 for the twelvemonths ended December31,2019 as
comparedto $36,715 for the twelve months ended December31,2018. The $3,313, 0r9.0% decline in operating cash flows was
primarily driven by the LTIP payoutof approximately $10,600 in the second quarter of 2019 and a pproximately $5,000 of payments
madein 2019 specific to the PO, offsetby additional cash flow generated by the consolidated business during2019. Changes to
pricing, payment terms and credit terms did not havea significant impact on changes to working capital items, or any other element of
the operating cash flow activities, for the periodspresented.

Investing Activities. Cash used in investing activities was $28,090 for the twelve months ended December31,2019,as
comparedto $132,569 forthetwelve months ended December31,2018. The $104,479, or 78.8%, decrease in cashused in investing
activities was predominantly driven by cash utilized to acquire DMP in 2018, slightly offset by greater capital expenditures in 2019.

Financing Activities. Cashused by financingactivities was $8,400 for thetwelve months ended December31,2019,as
comparedto cash provided in financingactivities of $98,867 for the twelvemonths ended December31,2018. The $107,267 change
was primarily dueto $101,763 of netIPO proceeds receivedin May 2019, net of debtrepayments.

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

On September26,2019,andas lastamendedas ofJune 30,2020, we entered into the Credit Agreement with certain lenders and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (the Agent). The Credit Agreementprovides fora $200,000
Revolving Loan, with a letter of credit sub-facility in an aggregate amountnotto exceed $5,000, and a swingline facility inan
aggregate amountof $20,000. The Credit Agreementalso provides foranadditional $100,000 of capacity through an accordion
feature. Allamounts borrowed under the Credit Agreement mature on September26,2024.

Our obligations under the Credit Agreementare secured by first priority security interests in substantially allof our personal
property and guaranteed by, and secured by first priority security interests in, substantially all of the personal property of, our direct
and indirectsubsidiaries: Center Manufacturing, Inc., Center Manufacturing Holdings, Inc., Center—M oeller Products LLC, Defiance
MetalProducts Co., Defiance Metal Products of Arkansas, Inc., Defiance Metal Products of PA., Inc. and Defiance Metal Products of
WI, Inc.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreementbear interest at a fluctuating London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) (which may be
adjusted for certain reserve requirements), plus 1.00-2.00% depending on the current Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in
the Credit Agreement). Under certain circumstances, we may not be able to pay interestbased on LIBOR. If that happens, we will be
required to pay interest at the Base Rate, which is the sum of (a) thehigher of (i) the Prime Rate (as publicly announced by the Agent
from time to time) and (ii) the Federal Funds Rateplus 0.50%, plus (b) 0.00% to 1.00%, depending on the current Total Consolidated
Leverage Ratio. The Credit Agreement also includes provisions for determining a replacement rate when LIBOR isno longer
available.

At December31,2020,the interestrate on outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Loan was 2.50%. At December 31,
2020, we hadavailability of $154,743 under the Revolving Loan.
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We must paya commitment feeat arate of 0.20% perannum on theaverage daily unused portion of the a ggregate unused
revolving commitments under the Credit Agreement. We mustalso pay fees as specified in the Fee Letter (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) and with respect to any letters of credit issuedunder the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement contains usual and customary negative covenants for agreements ofthis type, including, but not limited
to, restrictions on ourability to, subject to certain exceptions, create, incur or assume indebtedness, create or incur liens, make certain
investments, merge or consolidate with another entity, make certain assetdispositions, pay dividends or other distributions to
shareholders, enter into transactions with a ffiliates, enter into sale leaseback transactions or make capital expenditures. The Credit
Agreement also requires us to satisfy certain financial covenants, including a minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.00 to 1.00. At
December31,2020, ourinterestcoverage ratiowas 9.07to 1.00. The Credit Agreement also requires us to maintain a consolidated
totalleverage ratio not to exceed 3.25 to 1.00, although suchleverage ratio can be increased in connection with certain acquisitions.
Thisratio was increased through the Second Amendment tothe Credit Agreement to 4.25 to 1.00 forthis quarter, as discussed in more
detailbelow. At December 31,2020, our consolidated total leverage ratio was 1.46to 1.00.

The Credit Agreement includes customary events of default, including, among other things, payment default, covenant default,
breachof representation or warranty, bankruptcy, cross-default, material ERISA events, material money judgments, and failure to
maintain subsidiary guarantees. [f anevent of default occurs, the Agent will be entitled to take various actions, including the
acceleration of amounts due under the Credit Agreement, termination ofthe credit facility, andall otheractions permitted to be taken
by a secured creditor.

Second Amendmentto the Credit Agreement

On June 30,2020, the Company entered into an amendment (Second Amendment) to the Credit Agreement. The Second
Amendment provides the Company with temporary relief regarding a financial covenant (the consolidated total leverage ratio) forthe
period from June 30,2020, through December 31,2021, or such earlier date as the Company may elect (Covenant Relief Period), in
return for certain increases in interestrates and fees and restrictions on certain activities of the Company, including capital
expenditures, acquisitions, dividends and sharerepurchases. New pricing, which takes effect for the quarters ended onand a fter
September 30,2020, includes interestata fluctuating LIBOR (ata floor of 75 basis points), plus 1.00%to 2.75%, along with the
commitment fee ranging from 20 to 50 basis points.

During the Covenant Relief Period, the required ceiling on the Company’s consolidated total leverage ratio willbe 4.25 to 1.00
forquarters ending June30,2020 throughand including December 31,2020 and will decline in quarterly increments to 3.25to 1.00
forthe quarterending December31,2021.

As of December 31,2020, our consolidated total leverage ratio was 1.46 to 1.00 in accordance with the Second Amendment of
the Credit Agreement.

At December31,2020, we were in compliance with all covenants under the Credit Agreement and Second Amendment.

Capital Requirements and Sources of Liquidity

During the twelve months ended December 31,2020 and 2019, our capital expenditures were $7,794and $25,797, respectively.
The decrease 0f'$18,003 was driven by shifts in focuses from investments in new technology and automationin 2019 to leveraging
those investments and controlling spend in 2020.

We have historically relied upon cash available through credit facilities, in addition to cash from operations, to finance our
working capital requirements and to support our growth. At December 31,2020, we had immediate availability of$ 154,743 through
ourRevolving Loan andanother $100,000 through an accordion feature under our Credit Agreement, subject to covenants under the
Credit Agreement and Second Amendment. We regularly monitor potential capital sources, including equity and debt financings, in an
effort to meetour planned capital expenditures and liquidity requirements. Our future success will be highly dependenton our ability
to access outside sources of capital. We will continue to have access to the availability currently provided under the Credit Agreement
aslongasweremain compliant with the financial covenants. Based onour estimates ofthe impact of COVID-19 at this time, we
expect to be in compliance with these financial covenants through2021 and the foreseeable future.

We believe that our operating cash flow and a vailable borrowings under the Credit Agreement are sufficientto fund our
operations for202 1 whentaking into consideration the estimated impacts of COVID-19 based onthe information we have available at
this time. However, future cash flows are subject to a number of variables, and additional capital expenditures will be required to
conduct our operations. There can beno assurance that operations and other capital resources will provide cash in sufficient amounts
to maintain planned or future levels of capital expenditures. In theevent we make one ormore acquisitions and theamount of capital
required is greater than the amount we have available foracquisitions at that time, we could be required to reduce the expected level of
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capital expenditures and/or seek additional capital. If we seek additional capital, we may do so through borrowings under the Credit
Agreement, joint ventures, asset sales, offerings of debt or equity securities or other means. We cannot guarantee that this additional
capital will be available on acceptable terms oratall. If we are unable to obtain the funds we need, we maynotbe able to complete
acquisitions that may be favorable to us or finance the capital expenditures necessary to conduct our operations.

Contractual Obligations

The followingtable presents our obliga tions and commitments to make future payments under contracts and contingent
commitmentsatDecember31,2020:
Payments Due by Period

Total 2021 2022 -2023 2024 —2025 Thereafter
Long-term debtprincipal payment obligations ") $ 45257 $ — § — $ 45257 $ —
Forecasted intereston debtpayment obliga tions ¥ 5,402 1,440 2,881 1,081 —
Capitalleaseobligations 2,943 734 1,468 741 —
Operating leaseobligations 12,474 3,256 4,660 2,396 2,162
Total $ 66076 S 5430 S§ 9009 $ 49475 § 2,162

(M The long-term amounts in the table include principal payments under the Company’s Credit Agreement, which expires in 2024.
@ Forecasted intereston debtobligations are based on the debt balance, interestrate, and unused feeas of December 31,2020

Item 7 A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to market risk from changes in customer forecasts, interest rates, inflation, and, to a lesser extent, commodities.
To reduce suchrisks, we selectively use financial instruments and other proactive management techniques.

Customer Forecasts

The use and consumption of our components, products and services fluctuates depending on order forecasts we receive from our
customers. These order forecasts can change dramatically from quarter to quarter dependentupon the respective markets thatour
customers provide products.

Interest RateRisk

We are exposedto interest rate risk on certain of our short-and long-term debt obligations used to finance our operationsand
acquisitions. We have LIBOR-based floating rateborrowings under the Credit Agreement, which exposes us to variability in interest
payments dueto changes in the reference interestrates.

The amountborrowed under the Revolver Loanunder the Credit Agreement was $45.3 million as of December31,2020. The
interest rate was 2.50% as of December 3 1,2020. Pleasesee “Liquidity and Capital Resources — Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement”in Part I, Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K andNote4 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

formore specifics.

A hypothetical 100-basis-point increase in our borrowing rates would have resulted in an additional $0.6 million of interest
expensebasedon our variable rate debtat December31,2020. We do not use derivative financial instruments to manage interest risk
or to speculate on future changes in interest rates. A rise in interest rates could negatively a ffect our cash flow.

Commodity Risk

We source a wide variety of materials and components from a network of suppliers. While such materials are generally available
from numerous suppliers, COVID-19 has resulted in availability delays attimes. Inaddition, commodity raw materials, such as steel,
aluminum, copper, paintand paint chemicals, and other production costs are subjectto price fluctuations, which could have a negative
impacton ourresults. We strive to pass along such commodity price increases to customers to avoid profit margin erosionandin
many cases utilize contracts with those customers to mitigate the impactof commodity raw material price fluctuations. As of
December31,2020, we did not have any commodity hedging instruments in place.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Reportof Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Mayville Engineering Company, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
"Company")asofDecember31,2020 and 2019, therelated consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’
equity, and cash flows, for each ofthe three years in the period ended December 31,2020, and the related notes (collectively referred
to asthe "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Companyas ofDecember31,2020 and 2019 and theresults of its operations and its cash flows foreach ofthe three years in the
period ended December 31,2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are theresponsibility of the Company's management. Ourresponsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company's financial statements based onouraudits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)andare required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations ofthe Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted ouraudits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain rea sonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether dueto error or
fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we enga ged to perform, anaudit of its internal control over financial reporting.
As part of ouraudits, we are required to obtain anunderstanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Ouraudits also included evaluating theaccounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as wellas evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that ouraudits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Milwaukee, WI
March 5,2021

Wehave servedas the Company's auditor since 2018.
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Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share amounts)

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 121 $ 1
Receivables, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $1,298 as of December 31,2020
and $526 as of December 31,2019 42,080 40,188
Inventories, net 41,366 45,692
Toolingin progress 3,126 1,589
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,555 3,007
Total current assets 89,248 90,477
Property, plant and equipment, net 106,688 125,063
Assets held for sale 3,552 —
Goodwill 71,535 71,535
Intangible assets-net 61,467 72,173
Capital lease, net 2,581 3,227
Other long-term assets 3,462 1,107
Total 338,533 363,582
LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY EQUITY, AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Accounts payable 33,495 32,173
Current portion of capital lease obligation 626 598
Accrued liabilities:
Salaries, wages, and payroll taxes 10,190 5,752
Profit sharingand bonus 3,089 6,229
Other current liabilities 5,340 3,439
Total current liabilities 52,740 48,191
Bank revolvingcredit notes 45,257 72,572
Capital lease obligation, less current maturities 2,061 2,687
Deferred compensation and long-term incentive, less current portion 25,631 24,949
Deferred income tax liability 11,887 14,188
Other long-term liabilities 100 100
Total liabilities 137,676 162,687
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 10)
Common shares, no par value, 75,000,000 authorized, 21,093,035 shares issued at
December 31,2020 and 20,845,693 at December 31,2019 — —
Additional paid-in-capital 190,793 183,687
Retained earnings 14,998 22,090
Treasury shares at cost, 1,033,645 shares at December 31,2020 and 1,213,482 at
December 31,2019 (4,934) (4,882)
Total shareholders’ equity 200,857 200,895
Total $ 338,533 $ 363,582

The accompanyingnotes areanintegral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(in thousands, except share amounts andper share data)

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Net sales $ 357,606 $ 519,704 $ 354,526
Costofsales 326,105 460,986 303,948
Amortization ofintangibles 10,706 10,706 4,096
Profit sharing, bonuses, and deferred compensation 8,250 25,105 8,058
Employee stock ownership plan expense — 5,453 4,000
Otherselling, generaland administrative expenses 19,043 25,466 12,276
Contingent consideration revaluation — (6,054) 21)
Income (loss) fromoperations (6,498) (1,958) 22,169
Interest expense (2,668) (6,728) (3,879)
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (154) (814)
Income (loss) before taxes (9,166) (8,840) 17,476
Income tax benefit (2,074) (4,088) (459)
Net income (loss) and comprehensiveincome (loss) $ (7,092) $ 4,753) $ 17,935
Earnings (loss) per share

Net income (loss) available to shareholders $ (7,092) $ 4,753) $ 17,935

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) pershare $ 0.36) $ 027) $ 1.29

Basic anddiluted weighted average shares outstanding 19,898,122 17,447,464 13,891,301
Tax-adjusted pro forma information

Net income (loss) available to shareholders $ (7,092) $ 4,753) $ 17,935

Pro forma provision forincometaxes — 173 4,663

Pro formanet income (loss) $ (7,092) $ 4,926) $ 13,272

Pro forma basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 036) $ (0.28) $ 0.96

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding 19,898,122 17,447,464 13,891,301

Weighted average shares give effectto the issuance of a stock dividend ofapproximately 1,334.34-for-1related tothe
Company’s initial public offering of common sstock (IPO), as if the IPO occurredatthe beginning 0f2018.

Tax adjusted pro forma amounts reflect income tax adjustments as if the Company was a taxable entity as ofthe beginning of
2018 usinga 26%effective taxrate.

The accompanyingnotes areanintegral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,
2020 2019 2018
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) $ (7,092) $ (4,753) $ 17,935
Adjustments to reconcile netincome to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation 21,383 22,296 16,372
Amortization 10,706 10,706 4,096
Allowance for doubtful accounts 772 284 (48)
Inventory excess and obsolescence reserve 80 (60) 90
Stock-based compensation expense 4,732 3,486
Costs recognized on step-up of acquired inventory — 395 583
Contingent consideration revaluation — (6,054) 21)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 667 (62) (177)
Deferred compensation and long-term incentive 682 11,598 4,466
Loss (gain) on extinguishment or forgiveness of debt — (367) 814
Non-cash adjustments 358 (237) 128
Changes in operating assets and liabilities — net of effects of acquisition:
Accounts receivable (2,664) 11,853 1,042
Inventories 4,246 8,886 (6,873)
Toolingin progress (1,537) 729 489
Prepaids and other current assets 500 (1,358) (4,425)
Accounts payable 515 (11,010) 834
Deferred income taxes (4,857) (5,992) —
Accrued liabilities, excluding long-term incentive 8,032 (6,938) 1,410
Net cash provided by operating activities 36,523 33,402 36,715
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plantand equipment (7,794) (25,797) (17,879)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2,020 76 10
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (2,369) (114,700)
Net cash used in investing activities (5,774) (28,090) (132,569)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank revolving credit notes 267,169 442,154 257,428
Payments on bank revolving creditnotes (294,484) (429,211) (228,137)
Proceeds from issuance of other long-term debt — — 167,094
Repayments of other long-term debt — (120,046) (87,389)
Deferred financing costs (207) — (2,173)
Proceeds from IPO, net — 101,763 —
Purchase of treasury stock (2,509) (2,591) (7,833)
Payments on capital leases (598) (469) (123)
Net cash provided by (used in) financingactivities (30,629) (8,400) 98,867
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 120 (3,088) 3,013
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1 3,089 76
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 121 $ 1 3 3,089
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 3,011  $ 6,629 § 4,117
Cash paid for taxes $ 744  § 544  § 54
In conjunction with the DMP acquisition, fair value of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed were as followed: (1)
Fair value of assets acquired, net of cash acquired $ — 3 — 3 167,781
Liabilities assumed — — (53,081)
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired $ — 3 — 3 114,700
Non-cash construction in progress in accounts payable $ 1,559 § 2,809 $ 1,240

(M 2019 relate to net working capital true-ups.

The accompanyingnotes areanintegral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity
(in thousands)

BalanceasofDecember31,2017
BalanceasofDecember31,2018
Transfer from temporary equity (see Note 17)
Share issuance — IPO

Cancellation of treasury stock
Share repurchases

Stock-based compensation

Net loss post IPO
BalanceasofDecember31,2019
Net loss

Share repurchases

ESOP contribution

Stock based compensation expense
BalanceasofDecember31,2020

Shareholder’s Equity

Additional Treasury Retained
Paid-in-Capital Shares Earnings Total
$ — $ — $ — § —
$ — — $ — —
133,806 (57,659) 29,698 105,845
101,763 — — 101,763
(55,369) 55,369 — —
— (2,592) — (2,592)
3,486 — — 3,486
— — (7,609) (7,609)
$ 183,687 § (4,882) $ 22,089 $§ 200,895
— — (7,092) (7,092)
— (2,509) — (2,509)
2,374 2,457 — 4,831
4,732 — — 4,732
$§ 190,793 § (4934) § 14998 § 200,857

The accompanyingnotes areanintegral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except share amounts andper share data)

Note 1. Nature of business and summary of significant accounting policies

Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. and subsidiaries (MEC, the Company, we, our, us or similarterms)is a leading U.S.-based
value-added manufacturing partner that provides a broad range of prototyping and tooling, production fabrication, coating, assembly
and aftermarket components. Our customers operate in diverse end markets, including heavy- and medium-duty commercial vehicle,
construction & access equipment, powersports, a griculture, military and other end markets. Founded in 1945 and headquartered in
Mayville, Wisconsin, we are a leading Tier [ U.S. supplier of highly engineered components to original equipment manu facturers
(OEM) customers with leading positions in their respective markets. The Company operates 19 facilities located in Arkansas,
Michigan, Mississippi, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Virginia, and Wisconsin. Our engineering expertise and technical know-how allow us to
add valuethrough every product redevelopment cycle (generally every threeto five years for our customers).

In December 1985, the Company formed the Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP).
The ESOP s a tax qualified retirement plan and is designed to invest primarily in the Company’s commonstock whichisheld in a
Trust. From January 2003 until the Company’s [PO in May 2019, the ESOP owned 100% of the Company’s outstanding shares of
common stock which have been fully allocated to active orretired eligible employees. In connection with the IPO, the Company
initially sold 6,250,000 shares of common stock into the public market, reducing ESOP ownership to a pproximately 67%. As of
December31,2020,55.2% ofall outstanding shares were held by the ESOP or within the Company’s 401(k) plan.

Basis of presentation and consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements havebeen prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). They includethe accountsof the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates
and assumptions that a ffect the reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly-liquid investments purchased with original maturities of 90 days orless to be cashand cash
equivalents.

Concentration of creditrisk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of bank balances above the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurability limits of $250 per official custodian. The Company has notexperienced any losses
on these accounts and managementbelieves the Company is not exposed to any significantcredit risk on cash.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are generally uncollateralized customer obligations due under normal trade terms requiring payment within
30 to 60 days from the invoice date. Managementperiodically reviews pastdue balances and established anallowance for doubtful
accounts ofapproximately $1,298 and $526 as of December31,2020and 2019, respectively, for probable uncollectible amounts
based onits assessment ofthe currentstatus ofindividual accounts. The estimated valuationallowanceresults in a charge to cost of
sales and the accounts are written-off through a charge tothe valuation allowanceanda credit to accounts receivable after the
Company has used allreasonable collection efforts.

Inventories

Inventories are statedatthe lower of cost, determined on the first-in, first-out method (FIFO), and net realizable value. Net
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion,
disposaland transportation. Work-in-process and finished goods are valued at production costconsisting of material, laborand
overhead. The Company maintains a reserve for obsoleteand slow-moving inventory ofapproximately $3,199and $3,119 as of
December31,2020and 2019, respectively, which is based uponthe aging of current inventory as wellas assumptions on future
demand and market conditions.

Toolingin progress

The Company has agreements with its customers to provide production tooling which will be used to produce specific parts for
its customers. The costs to design, engineer, and manufacture the tooling are charged to tooling in progress as incurred and based on
when control of the tooling is promised under contract, is transferred to the customer eitherat a point in time orovera period of time
is when revenueis recognized. The Company may also provide production tooling that is not sold to customers butis capitalized in
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property, plant and equipment. To theextent that estimated costs exceed expected reimbursement from the customer, the Company
recognizes a loss. Toolingin progress was $3,126 and $1,589 as of December31,2020and 2019, respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plantand equipmentare stated atcost. Expenditures for additions and improvements are capitalized while
replacements, maintenanceand repairs which do notimprove orextend thelives of the respective assets areexpensed as incurred.
Properties sold, or otherwise disposed of, are removed from the property accounts, with gains or losses on disposal credited or charged
to the results of operations. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respectiveassets, using the straight-line
depreciationmethod for financial reporting purposes and begins when the asset is placed into service. Depreciation expense forthe
twelve months ended December31,2020,2019and 2018 was $21,383,$22,296 and $16,372, respectively, andis included in cost of
sales on the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Business combinations

The Company accounts forall business combinations in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 805, “Business Combinations”. In connection with a business combination, the
acquiring company must allocate the costof theacquisition to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on fair values as ofthe
acquisitiondate. Any excess or shortage of amounts assigned to assets and liabilities over orunder the purchase price is recordedas a
gain on bargain purchase or goodwill. Transaction costs associated with acquisitions are expensed as incurred within selling, general
and administrative expenses.

Goodwill

We test goodwill forimpairment annually, ormore frequently if triggering events occur indicating thatthere maybe an
impairment. We have recorded goodwilland perform testing for potential goodwillimpairmentat a reportingunit level. A reporting
unit is an operating segment, or a business unit one level below an operating segment for which discrete financial information is
available, and for which management regularly reviews the operating results. Additionally, components within an operating segment
canbeaggregatedasa single reportingunit if they have similar economic characteristics. We have performed testingon ourone
reporting unit.

We determine the fair value of our reporting units using multiple valuation methodologies, relying largely on an income
approachbut also incorporating value indicators from a marketapproach. Under the income approach, we calculatethe fairvalueofa
reporting unit based on the present value of estimated future cash flows. The income approach is dependent onseveral key
management assumptions, including estimates of future sales, gross margins, operating costs, interest expense, income tax rates,
capital expenditures, changes in working capital requirements and the weighted average costof capital orthe discount rate. Discount
rate assumptions include an assessmentof therisk inherentin the futurecash flows ofthe reporting unit. Expected cash flows used
under the income approach are developed in conjunction with our budgeting and forecasting process. Under themarketapproach, we
estimate fair valueof thereporting units using EBITDA multiples. The multiples are derived from comparable publicly traded
companies with similar operating and investment characteristics as the respective reporting units.

We test our goodwill forimpairment onanannualbasis in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year,and more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Due to the economic conditions during the second quarterof 2020as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we determined that an impairment triggering eventoccurred, which required an interim
quantitative im pairment assessment of goodwill. Based on our interim quantitative assessments, the fair value of our reporting unit
exceeded ourrelated carrying valueby more than 50%, thus noimpairment of goodwill was indicated. We also performed our annual
qualitative goodwillimpairmenttest during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, consistent with the timingof 2019. At December 31,
2020, the Company had goodwill with a carryingamount of$71,535. The fair value substantially exceeded the carrying value for
2020.

If the market valuation of our common shares or operating results of our reporting unit significantly decline beyond current
levels, we may again need to conductan evaluation of the fair value of our goodwill, which mayresult in an impairment change.

Changes to management assumptions and estimates utilized in the income and market approaches could negatively impactthe
fairvalue conclusions for our reporting units resulting in goodwillimpairment. Allkey assumptions and valuations are determined by
and are the responsibility of management. The factors used in the impairment analysis are inherently subject touncertainty. We
believe that the estimates and assumptions are reasonable to determine the fair value of our reporting units, however, if actual results
are not consistent with these estimates and assumptions, goodwill and other intangible assets may be overstated which could trigger an
impairment charge.

FairValue of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and long-term debt. The
carryingamountof all significantfinancial instruments approximates fair value due to either the short maturity or the existence of
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variable interestrates that approximate prevailing marketrates. Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable
are classified as Level 1 fair value inputs as further described in Note 15. Long-term debtis classified as a Level 2 fairvalue input.

Impairmentof long-lived assets

When events or conditions warrant, the Company evaluates therecoverability oflong-lived assets and considers whether these
assets are impaired. The Company assesses the recoverability of these assets based on several factors, including management’s
intention with respectto these assets and their projected undiscounted cash flows. If projected undiscounted cash flows are less than
the carryingamount ofthe respective assets, the Company adjusts the carrying amounts of such assets to their estimated fair value. To
the extent that thecarrying valueof thenet assets ofa reportable unit is greater thanthe estimated fair value, the Company may be
required to record impairment charges.

Deferred financing costs

Loan issuancecosts and discounts are capitalized upon the issuance oflong-temm debtand amortized over the life of the related
debtand are presentedas a reduction ofthe associated long-term debton the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Loanissuance costs
associated with revolving debt arrangements arepresented as a component of other assets. Loan issuance costs incurred in connection
with revolving debt arrangements are amortized using the straight-line method over thelife of the credit agreement. Loan issuance
costs and discounts incurred in connection with term debtare amortized using the effective interestmethod. Amortization of deferred
loan issuance costs and discounts are included in interest expense. During 2020,2019 and 2018, the Company recorded $207, $142
and $2,173, respectively of deferred financing costs associated with its long-term debt and line of credit arrangements. Amortization
expenseassociated with the deferred debt issuance costs and discounts in 2020,2019and 2018 was approximately $358,$381 and
$198. Accumulated amortization was approximately $6 16, $474 and $114 as of December31,2020,2019 and 2018, respectively.
Amendments made to existingdebtin 2020,2019and 2018 resulted in the write-offs of $zero, $154 and $814, respectively of
unamortized costs associated with the debt that was replaced.

Revenuerecognition

The Company adopted ASC 606 January 1,2019, where the Company recognizes revenue forthetransfer of goods orservices
to a customer in an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange forthose goods orservices. When goods
are shipped, the customer takes ownership at shipment, and this is when control transfers. Sales are supported by documentation such
as supply agreements and purchase order, which specify certain terms and conditions including product specifications, quantities,
fixed prices, delivery dates and payments terms. Revenue related to services is recognized in the period services are performed, thus
the Company recognizes revenueat a point in time.

There are many customers where the Company designs, engineers and builds productiontooling, which is purchased by the
customer. Most ofthe toolingrevenue is completeat the point the customer signs off on the product through the Product Part
Approval Process (PPAP)andthe toolis placedinto service. Revenueis recognized when control of thetooling promised undera
contractis transferred to the customer eitherat a point in time or over a period of timein an amount thatreflects the consideration to
which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods or services.

The Company offers certain customers discounts for early payments. These discounts are recorded a gainst netsales in the
consolidated statementof comprehensive income and accounts receivable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company does not
offerany other customer incentives, rebates orallowances.

Shipping and handling

The Company expenses shippingandhandling costs as incurred. These costs are generally comprised of'salaries and wa ges,
shipping supplies and warehouse costs. Inbound freight costs, whichmostly relateto raw materials, are included in cost of'sales onthe
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). Outbound freight costs, whichmostly relate tosales, are included in net
sales on the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). The Company does not charge customers norrecognize
revenue for shippingand handling, The Company’s OEM customers arrange and pay the freight for delivery.

Advertising

The Company expenses the costs of advertising when incurred. Advertising expense was approximately $100,$110and$116
forthe twelve months ended December31,2020,2019and 2018, respectively. Advertising costs are charged to selling, generaland
administrative expenses.

Income Taxes

Income taxes and uncertain tax positions are accounted for in accordance with ASC 740, “Accounting for Income Taxes”.
Deferred incometaxes are provided for the differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for financial reportingand income
tax purposes. The Company measures deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect forthe years in which the
differences are expected toreverse and recognizes the effectof a change in enactedrates in the period of enactment. Tax positions
meeting the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are measured pursuantto the guidance set forthin ASC 740. A valuation
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allowance is established whennecessary to reduce deferred tax assets tothe amountexpectedto be realized. See Note 9 “Income
Taxes” ofthese Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

Earnings (loss) per share

The Company computes basic earnings (loss) pershare by dividing net income (loss) available to shareholders by the actual
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the reporting period. The dilutive impact to basic earnings per share
considers the impact to earnings if allconvertible securities were exercised or outstanding that donot haveanantidilutiveimpacton
earnings per share.

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock purchases are accounted forunder the cost method whereby the entire cost ofthe acquired stock is recorded as
treasury stock. Subsequent reissuance of shares to the ESOP are recorded as a reduction to treasury stockandas ESOP expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

InMay 2014, FASB issued Accounting Standard Update (ASU) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASU2014-
09), and issued subsequentamendments to the initial guidance within ASU 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
Principalversus Agent Considerations (ASU2016-08) issued in March2016, ASU2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing (ASU2016-10) issued in April2016, ASU2016-12, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients (ASU2016-12)issued in May 2016 and ASU 2016-20, Technical
Corrections and Improvements to Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASU 2016-20) issued in December2016
(ASU 2014-09,ASU2016-08, ASU2016-10, ASU2016-12and ASU 2016-20 collectively “Topic 606”). Topic 606 provides a
comprehensive revenuerecognition model requiring companies to recognize revenue for the transfer of goods or servicesto a
customer in an amountthatreflects the consideration it expects toreceive in exchange for those goods orservices. The guidance also
requires additional disclosure aboutthe nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer
contracts. In July 2015, the FASB voted to deferthe effective date of ASU 2014-09 by one year, and therefore the standard is effective
forthe Company's annual and interim periods beginning a fter December 15,2019. EffectiveJanuary 1,2019,the Company
implemented the new standard usinga five-step model specified in the guidance using the modified retrospective method. The
implementation did not havea materialimpacton the consolidated financial statements and there was no adjustment to retained
earnings from implementation.

In February 2016,the FASB issued ASU2016-02, Leases, creating Topic 842, which requires lessees to record theassets and
liabilities arising from allleases in the statement of financial position. Under ASU 2016-02, lessees will recognize a liability forlease
payments anda right-of-use asset. When measuring assets and liabilities, a lessee should include amounts related to option tems, such
asthe option of extending or terminating the lease or purchasing the underlying asset, thatare reasonably certain to be exercised. For
leases with a term of 12 months or less, lessees are permitted to make an accounting policy electionto not recognize lease assets and
liabilities. This guidanceretains the distinction between finance leases and operating leases and the classification criteria remains
similarto existing guidance. For financing leases, a lessee will recognize the interest on a lease liability separate from amortization of
the right-of-use asset. In addition, repayments of principal will be presented within financingactivities, and interest payments will be
presented within operating activities in the statement of cash flows. For operating leases, a lessee will recognize a single lease cost on
a straight-line basis and classify all cash payments within operating activities in the statement of cash flows. For public companies,
this guidancewill be effective for fiscal years beginning a fter December 15,2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years.
Foraslongasthe Company remains an emerging growth company (EGC), the new guidance is effective for annual reporting periods
beginningafter December 15,2021, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning a fter December 15,2022. Early adoption is
permitted. The Company is evaluating the potential impact of this guidance on the consolidated financial statements.

InJune2016,the FASB issued ASUNo.2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which establishes
ASC 326, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses. The ASU revises the measurement of credit losses for financial assets measured at
amortized cost from an incurred loss methodology to an expected loss methodology. The ASU affects tradereceivables, debt
securities, net investment in leases, and mostother financial assets thatrepresenta right to receive cash. Additional disclosures about
significant estimates and credit quality are also required. In November 2018, the FASB issued ASUNo. 2018-19, Codification
Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses. This ASU clarifies that receivables from operating leases are
accounted forusingthe lease guidanceand not as financial instruments. In May 2019, the FASB issued ASU No.2019-05, Targeted
Transition Relief, which amends ASC 326. This ASU provides anoptionto irrevocably elect to measure certain individual financial
assetsat fair value instead ofamortized cost. In November2019, the FASB issued ASUNo.2019-11, Codification Improvements to
Topic 326, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses. The ASU clarifies the treatment of expected recoveries for amounts previously
written off on purchased receivables, provides transition relief for troubled debtrestructuring, and allows for certain disclosure
simplifications of accrued interest. Foraslongas the Company remains an EGC, thenew guidanceis effective forannual reporting
periods beginninga fter December 15,2022. The Company is evaluating the potential effects on the consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017,the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, Clarifying the Definition of a Business, which narrows the application of when
an integrated set of assets and activities is considered a business and provides a framework to assist entities in evaluating whether both
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aninputanda substantive process are presentto be considered a business. It is expected thatthe new guidance willreduce the number
of transactions that would need to be further evaluated and accounted foras a business. For public companies, this guidance is
effective forannual reporting periods beginning a fier December 15,2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Foras
longasthe Company remains an EGC, thenew guidanceis effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15,2018
and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15,2019. Early adoptionis permitted. The adoptionhad no
impacton the financial statements.

In January 2017,the FASB issued ASU, 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which simplifies the
subsequent measurement of goodwillby removing the requirementto perform a hypothetical purchase price allocationto compute the
implied fair value of goodwill to measure impairment. Instead, any goodwill impairment will equalthe amountby whicha reporting
unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. Further, the guidance eliminates the
requirements for any reportingunit with a zero ornegative carryingamount to perform a qualitative assessmentand, if it fails that
qualitative test, to perform Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. For public companies, this guidanceis effective forannual orany
interim goodwillimpairment test in annual reporting periods beginning a fter December 15,2018. Foras longas the Company remains
an EGC, the new guidance is effective forany annual or interim goodwill impairment test in annual reporting periods beginning a fter
December 15,2021. Duringthe periodended March31,2020, the Company elected to early adopt this guidance. This adoption had no
impacton the financial statements.

In August2018,the FASB issued ASU2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework—Changes to the
Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement (ASU 2018-13) to improve the effectiveness of fair va lue measurement
disclosures. The amendments in this Update modify the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements in Topic 820, Fair Value
Measurementbased onthe concepts in FASB Concept Statement, including the consideration of costs and benefits. The amendments
in this Updateare effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning a fter December 15,2019. Early
adoption ofthis guidance is permitted for removed or modified disclosures uponissuance ofthis Update while a delayed adoption of
the additional disclosures is allowed until the effective date. During the period ended March 31,2020, the Company elected to adopt
this guidance. The adoptionhad no impact on the financial statements.

In December2019,the FASB issued ASU2019-12, Income Taxes, creating Topic 740, which removes certain exceptions for
recognizing deferred taxes for investments, performing intra -period allocation, and calculating incometaxes in interim periods. The
ASU also adds guidance to reduce complexity in certain areas, including recognizing deferred taxes for tax goodwilland allocating
taxes to members of a consolidated group. For public companies, this guidance will be effective for fiscal years beginning a fter
December 15,2020. Foraslongasthe Company remains an EGC, the new guidance is effective for annual reporting periods
beginningafter December 15,2021, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning a fter December 15,2022. Early adoption s
permitted. The Company is evaluating the potential impact of this guidance on the consolidated financial statements.

Note 2. IPO

The IPO of shares ofthe Company’s common stock was completed in May 2019. In connection with the offering, the Company
initially sold 6,250,000 shares of common stockat $17 pershare generating proceeds of $99,344, netof underwriting discounts and
commissions. Additional shares were also sold under an option granted to the underwriters that same month, resultingin a sale of an
additional 152,209 shares of common stockat$17 pershare, generatingadditional proceeds of $2,419, net of underwriting discounts
and commissions

In conjunction with the IPO, the Company issued a stock dividend specific to pre-IPO shares, of approximately 1,334.34-for-1,
resulting in the conversionof 10,075 shares in our Employee Stock Ownership Plan to 13,443,484 shares.

Note 3. Selectbalance sheetdata

Inventory

Inventories as of December 31,2020 and December31,2019 consist of:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Finished goods and purchased parts $ 24,561 $ 28,664
Rawmaterials 11,266 10,834
Work-in-process 5,539 6,194
Total $ 41,366 $ 45,692
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plantand equipmentas of December31,2020and December31,2019 consist of:

Useful Lives December 31, December 31,
Years 2020 2019
Land Indefinite  $ 1,033 $ 1,264
Land improvements 15-39 3,169 3,169
Building and building improvements 15-39 55,172 58,021
Machinery, equipmentand tooling 3-10 199,854 204,248
Vehicles 5 3,778 3,738
Office furniture and fixtures 3-7 16,242 15,469
Construction in progress N/A 3,931 3,154
Totalproperty, plantand equipment, gross 283,179 289,063
Lessaccumulated depreciation 176,491 164,000
Totalproperty, plantand equipment, net $ 106,688 $§ 125,063

Additionally, the Company completed the closure of its Greenwood, SC manufacturing facility during the third quarter of the
current period. The net amountof property, plant and equipment associated with the facility was $3,552, which is classified in assets
held forsale on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December31,2020.

Goodwill

We test our goodwill forimpairment onanannualbasis in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year,and more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Due to the economic conditions during the second quarterof 2020 asa
result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we detemmined that animpairment triggering eventoccurred, which required an interim
quantitative impairment assessment of goodwill. Based on our interim quantitative a ssessments, the fair value of our reporting unit
exceeded ourrelated carrying valueby more than 50%, thus no impairment of goodwill was indicated. We also performed our annual
qualitative goodwillimpairmenttest during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, consistent with the timingof 2019. At December31,
2020, the Company had goodwill with a carryingamount 0f$71,535. The fair value substantially exceeded thecarrying value for
2020.

Changes in goodwillbetween December31,2019 and December 31,2020 consist of:

BalanceasofDecember31,2019 $ 71,535
Impairment —
BalanceasofDecember31,2020 $ 71,535

Intangible Assets

The following s a listing of intangible assets, theusefullives in years (amortization period) and accumulated amortizationas of
December31,2020and December31,2019:

Useful Lives December 31, December 31,
Years 2020 2019
Amortizable intangible assets:

Customer relationships and contracts 9-12 $ 78,340 $ 78,340
Trade name 10 14,780 14,780
Non-compete a greements 5 8,800 8,800
Patents 19 24 24
Accumulated amortization (44,288) (33,582)

Totalamortizable intangible assets, net 57,656 68,362
Non-amortizable brand name 3811 3811

Totalintangible assets, net $ 61,467 $ 72,173

Non-amortizable brand name is tested annually for impairment.
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Changes in intangible assets between December31,2019 and December 31,2020 consist of:

BalanceasofDecember31,2019 $ 72,173
Amortization expense (10,706)
BalanceasofDecember31,2020 $ 61,467

Amortization expense was $10,706,$10,706 and $4,096 for the twelve monthsended December31,2020,2019and2018
respectively.

Future amortization expenseis expected to be as followed:

Year ending December 31,

2021 $ 10,706
2022 $ 6,952
2023 $ 6,866
2024 $ 5,192
2025 $ 5,192
Therea fter $ 22,748

Note 4. Bank revolving credit notes

On September26,2019,andas lastamendedas ofJune 30,2020, we entered into an amended and restated credit agreement
(Credit Agreement) with certain lenders and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent(the Agent). The Credit
Agreement provides fora $200,000 revolving credit facility (the Revolving Loan), with a letter of credit sub-facility in an a ggregate
amount not to exceed $5,000, anda swingline facility in an aggregate amountof $20,000. The Credit Agreementalsoprovides foran
additional $100,000 of capacity throughanaccordion feature. All amounts borrowed under the Credit Agreement mature on
September26,2024.

The Credit Agreementcontains usualand customary negative covenants for agreements of this type, including, butnotlimited
to, restrictions on ourability to, subject to certain exceptions, create, incur or assume indebtedness, create or incur liens, make certain
investments, merge or consolidate with another entity, make certain asset dispositions, pay dividends or other distributions to
shareholders, enter into transactions with a ffiliates, enter into sale leaseback transactions or make capital expenditures. The Credit
Agreement also requires us to satisfy certain financial covenants, including a minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.00 to 1.00 as well
asa consolidated total leverage ratio notto exceed 3.25to 1.00, although such leverageratio canbe increased in connection with
certain acquisitions.

In orderto providea means ofinsurancea gainst future macroeconomic events, we entered into an amendment (Second
Amendment)to the Credit Agreementon June 30,2020. The Second Amendment provides the Company with temporary changes to
the total leverage ratio covenant for the period from June 30,2020, through December31,2021, orsuch earlierdate as the Company
may elect(Covenant Relief Period), in return for certain increases in interest rates, fees and restrictions on certain activities of the
Company, including capital expenditures, acquisitions, dividends and share repurchases. New pricing, which takes effect forthe
quarters ending on and a fter September 30,2020, includes interest at a fluctuating London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) (at a floor
of 75 basis points), plus 1.00% to 2.75%, along with the commitment feeranging from 20 to 50 basis points.

During the Covenant Relief Period, the required ceiling on the Company’s total leverage ratiowill be 4.25 to 1.00 for quarters
ending June 30,2020 through andincluding December 31,2020, and will decline in quarterly increments to 3.25to 1.00 through the
quarterending December31,2021.

At December31,2020, our consolidated total leverage ratio was 1.46 to 1.00as compared to a covenantmaximum of4.25to
1.00 in accordance with the Second Amendment ofthe Credit Agreement.

At December31,2020, ourinterest coverage ratio was 9.07 to 1.00 as compared to a covenantminimum of3.00to 1.00under
the Credit Agreement.

Underthe Credit Agreement, interest is payable quarterly at the adjusted LIBOR plus anapplicable margin based on the current
funded indebtedness to adjusted EBITDA ratio. The interest rate was 2.50% and 3.25%as of December 31,2020 and December31,
2019, respectively. Additionally, the agreement has a fee onthe average daily unused portion ofthe aggregateunused revolving
commitments. This fee was 0.20% as of December31,2020and December31,2019.
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The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants of its credit agreements as of December31,2020and
December31,2019. The amount borrowed onthe revolving credit notes was $45,257 and $72,572as of December 31,2020 and
December31,2019, respectively.

Note 5. Capital lease obligation

Capitalleases consist of equipment with a capitalized cost of $3,825atDecember 31,2020 and December31,2019,and
accumulated depreciationof $1,245and $598 at December31,2020and December 31,2019, respectively. Depreciation of $644 and
$503 wasrecognized onthe capital leaseassetsduring the twelve months ended December31,2020and December31,2019,
respectively. Non-cash capital lease transactions amounted to zero, $1,776 and $2,051, for thetwelve months ended December31,
2020,2019and 2018, respectively. Future minimum lease payments required under the lease arcas follows:

Year ending December 31,

2021 $ 734
2022 734
2023 734
2024 514
2025 227
Therea fter —

Total 2,943
Less paymentamount allocated to interest 256
Present value of capital lease obligation $ 2,687
Current portion of capital lease obligation 626
Long-term portion of capital lease obligation 2,061

Totalcapital lease obligation $ 2,687

Note 6. Operating lease obligation

Operatingleases relate to property, plant and equipment. Future minimum lease payments required under the leaseare as
follows:
Year ending December 31,

2021 $ 3,256
2022 2,366
2023 2,294
2024 1,501
2025 895
Therea fter 2,162

Total $ 12,474

The Company leases certain office space, warehousing facilities, equipment and vehicles under operating lease arrangements
with third-partylessors. Theselease arrangements expire atvarious times through December 2028. Total rent expense under the
arrangements was approximately $4,471,$4,801 and $2,052 forthetwelve months ended December31,2020,2019,and 2018,
respectively.

Note 7. Employee stock ownership plan

Underthe ESOP, the Company can make annual contributions to the trust for the benefit of eligible employees in the form of
cash orshares of common stock of the Company. Priorto December 31,2019, the annual contribution was discretionary exceptthat it
must have beenat least 3% ofthe compensation forall sa fe harbor participants forthe plan year. Beginningon January 1,2020, all
contributions arediscretionary. Forthe twelvemonths ended December31,2020,2019 and 2018, the Company’s ESOP expense
amountedto zero, $5,453 and $4,000, respectively.

At various times following death, disability, retirement, termination of employment or the exercise of diversificationrights, an
ESOP participantis entitled to receivetheir ESOP accountbalance in accordance with various distribution methods as permitted under
the policies adopted by the ESOP. Priorto the IPO, all distributions were paid to participants in cash.

As of December31,2020,and December31,2019, the ESOP shares consisted 0£9,920,774and 11,790,113 in allocated shares,
respectively. Prior to its IPO, the Company was obligated to repurchaseshares in the trustthat were not distributed to ESOP
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participants as determined by the ESOP trustees, and thus the shares were mandatorily redeemable. Subsequent to the IPO, shares are
sold in the public market.

Note 8. Retirement plans

The Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. 401(k) Plan (the401(k) Plan) covers substantially allemployees meeting certain
eligibility requirements. The 401 (k) Plan isa defined contribution planand s intended for eligible employees to defer tax-free
contributions to save for retirement. Employees may contribute up to 50% of their eligible compensation plan tothe 401 (k) Plan,
subject tothe limits of Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code.

The 401 (k) Planalso provides for employer discretionary profit sharing contributions and the Board of Directors authorized
discretionary profit sharing contributions of approximately $1,833, zeroand $696 for the twelve months ended December 31,2020,
2019 and 2018, respectively, that are funded in the subsequentyears.

Note 9. Income taxes

Income taxes are included in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)atDecember31,2020 and 2019 as
below:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

Current incometax expense (benefit)

U.S Federal $ 129 § 401

State 98 1,544

Total 227 1,945
Deferred incometax expense (benefit)

U.S Federal (2,457) (4,197)

State 156 (1,836)

Total (2,301) (6,033)
Totalincometax benefit $ (2,074) $ (4,088)

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax expenseto the incometax expense from continuing operations provided at
December31,2020and 2019, is as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

Income tax expenseat the federal statutory rate-21% $ (1,925) $ (1,854)
State andlocalincome taxes - net of federal incometax benefits 79 (58)
Compensationdeduction limitation - section 162(m) adjustment (113) 357
Income taxed by shareholder before IPO (387) 867)
Other- perms 51 77
Transaction costs — 607
Change in tax status — (2,355)
Tax credits generated (409) (254)
Uncertaintax positions - current year 106 —
Uncertain tax positions - prioryear 115 —
Loan feeamorttization 698 —
Stock compensation 764 —
Section 48 1(a) adjustments (184) —
Fixed assets (452) —
State tax return to provision (121) —
Othermiscellaneous tax (296) 259
Totalincometax benefit $ 2,074) $ (4,088)
Effective taxrate 22.6% 47.5%

The Company’s two legacy businesses, MEC and DMP, filed separate returns priorto theIPO on May9,2019. Previous to this
date,the MEC legacy business was an S Corporation where the tax burden was born by the shareholders and the DMP legacy business
wasa consolidated C-Corporation.
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions ofthe deferred incometax assets and liabilities are
presented below:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Deferred tax assets:
Deferred compensation $ 8,295 $ 8,645
Inventory adjustments 1,506 1,837
Accrued expenses 409 211
Credits 508 279
Net operatingloss 2,626 3,120
Other 338 —
Totaldeferred tax assets 13,682 14,092
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plantand equipment 9,485 8,354
Intangibles 15,773 19,305
Inventory adjustment — —
Other 311 622
Totaldeferred tax liabilities 25,569 28,281
Valuationallowance — —
Net deferred tax liability $ (11,887) $ (14,188)

Consolidated federal net operating loss carryforwards are $11,833 and donotexpire. Inaddition, the Company has consolidated
and separate company net operating loss carryforwards of $2,042 in various states.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company has recorded a reserve ofuncertain tax positions expected to be taken on its December31,2020return as wellas
prioryears. The Company does notanticipate that there will be a material change in the balance of theunrecognized tax benefits in the
next twelve months. Any interest and penalties related touncertain tax positions are recorded in income tax expense. No amountshave
been recorded as tax expense for interest and penalties fortheyear ended December31,2020as theamount for the utilized portion of
the research and development credit onthe Wisconsin returnis considered to be immaterial. At December 31,2020, a total of $208 of
unrecognized tax benefits would, if recognized, impact the company's effective tax rate.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdictionand in various stateand local jurisdictions.
Federaltaxreturns fortax years beginning January 1,2017, and state tax returns beginning January 1,2016, are open for examination.

Details of Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The following is a reconciliation of beginning and ending amounts ofunrecognized tax benefits:

BalanceasofDecember31,2019 $ —
Increase from current year tax positions 106
Increase from prior year tax positions 115

Decrease from settlements with tax authority —
Decrease from expiration of statute of limitations —
BalanceasofDecember31,2020 $ 221

Note 10. Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may be involved in various claims and lawsuits, both forand againstthe Company, arising in
the normal course ofbusiness. Although the results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, in management’s
opinion, eitherthelikelihood of loss is remote, or any reasonably possible loss associated with the resolution of such proceedings is
not expected tohavea material adverseimpacton theconsolidated financial statements.

Note 11.Deferred compensation

The Mayville Engineering Deferred Compensation Planis available for certain employees designated to be eligible to
participate by the Company and approved by the Board of Directors. Eligible employees may elect to defera portion ofhis orher
compensation forany planyearandthedeferral cannot exceed 50% oftheparticipant’s base salary and may include the participant’s
annualshort-term cashincentive up to 100%. Theparticipant’s election must be madeprior to the first day of theplanyear.
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An employer contribution will be made for each participantto reflectthe amountof any reduced allocations to the ESOP and/or
401(k) employer contributions due solely to the participant’s deferralamounts, as applicable. In addition, a discretionary amount may
beawardedto a participantby the Company.

Prior to the IPO, all deferrals were deemed to havebeeninvested in the Company’s common stock ata price equalto theshare
value on thedate of deferraland the value of theaccountincreased or decreased with the change in the value of the stock. Individual
accounts are maintained for each participant. Each participant’s account is credited with the participant’s deferred compensation and
investment income or loss, reduced for charges, if any.

Forthe period subsequent to the IPO, deferrals areassumed to beinvested in an investment vehicle based onthe options made
available to theparticipant (which does not include Company stock).

The deferred compensation plan provides benefits payable upon separation of service or death. Payments are to be made 30 days
afterdate of separation from service, eitherin a ump-sum paymentorup to five annual installments as elected by the participant when
the participant first elects to defer compensation.

The deferred compensation plan is non-funded, and all future contributions are unsecured in that the employees havethe status
ofa generalunsecured creditor ofthe Company and the a greements constitute a promise by the Company to make benefit payments in
the future. During the twelve months ended December31,2020,2019and 2018, eligible employees elected to defer compensation of
$63,%1,296 and $856, respectively. As of December31,2020,and December31,2019, the totalamount accrued forallbenefit years
underthis planwas $25,631 and $24,949, respectively, which is included within the deferred compensation and long-term incentive
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Theseamounts include the initial deferral of compensation as adjusted for (a) subsequent changes
in the share value ofthe Company stock pursuantto the IPO or (b) following the IPO in the investment options chosenby the
participants. Total expense for the deferred compensation plan for the twelve months ended December31,2020,2019 and 2018
amountedto $725,$10,476and $1,647, respectively. These expenses are included in profit sharing, bonuses and deferred
compensation onthe Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Note 12.Long-Term incentive plan

Prior to the IPO, the Company’s long-term incentive plan (LTIP) was available forany employee who had been designated to be
eligible to participateby the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Annually, the LTIP provided for long-term cash
incentive awards to eligible participants based on the Company’s performance over a three-year performance period.

The LTIP was non-funded and each participantin the planwas considered a general unsecured creditor of the Company and
each agreementconstituteda promise by the Company to make benefit payments if the future conditions were met, or if discretion is
exercised in favorof a benefit payment.

The qualifying conditions for each award grantedundertheplanincluded a minimum increase in the aggregate fair value of the
Company of 12%during the three-year performance period and the eligible participants must havebeen employed by the Company on
the dateofthecash payment orhave retired afterattainingage 65, died or become disabled during the period from the beginning of
the performance period to the date of payment. [fthe qualifying conditions were not attained, discretionary payments were made, up
to a maximum amount specified in eachaward agreement. Discretionary payments were determined by the Compensation Committee
of the Board of Directors (for payment to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company) and by the Chief Executive Officer (for
payments to other participants in the plan).

If a participant was notemployed throughout the performance period due to retirement, death or disability, their maximum
benefit was prorated based onthe number of days employed by the Company during the performance periods.

The LTIP was terminated in May 2019 in conjunction with the IPO. Total expense forthelong-term incentive plan forthe
twelve months ended December31,2020,2019and 2018 amounted to zero, $10,000and $1,712, respectively. Theseexpenses are
included in profit sharing, bonuses and deferred compensation onthe Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Note 13. Self-Funded insurance

The Company is self-funded for the medical benefits provided to its employees and their dependents. Healthcare costs are
expensed as incurred and arebaseduponactual claims paid, reinsurance premiums, administration fees, and estimated unpaid claims.
As of March31,2020,the Company has consolidated benefit plans with no specific stop loss and anaggregate stop to limit risk.
Expenserelated tothis contract was approximately $20,849,$19,208 and $17,726 forthe twelve months ended December 31,2020,
2019 and 2018, respectively. An estimated accrued liability of approximately $1,721and$1,316 wasrecordedas of December31,
2020 and December 31,2019, respectively, for estimated unpaid claims and is included within other currentliabilities on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Note 14. Segments

The Company applies the provisions of ASC Topic 280, Segment Reporting. An operating segment is defined as a component
that engages in business activities whose operating results arereviewed by the chief operating decision maker and for which discrete
financial informationis available. Based on the provisions of ASC 280, the Company has determined it has one operating segment.
The Company does notearnrevenues or have long-lived assets located in foreign countries.

Note 15. Fair value of financial instruments

Fairvalue provides information on what the Company may realize if certain assets were sold ormight pay totransfer certain
liabilities baseduponanexit price. Financial assets and liabilities that aremeasured and reported at fair value are classified intoa
three-level hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation process. A financial instrument’s categorization within the
valuation hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The hierarchy is based
on the observability and objectivity of the pricing inputs, as follows:

. Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets foridentical assets or liabilities.

. Level2 — Significant directly observable data (other than Level 1 quoted prices) orsignificantindirectly observable data
through corroboration with observable market data. Inputs wouldnormally be (i) quoted prices in active markets for
similarassets or liabilities, (ii) quoted prices in inactivemarkets foridentical or similarassets or liabilities or
(iii) informationderived from or corroborated by observable marketdata. Longterm debt is classifiedas a Level 2 fair
value input.

. Level 3 — Prices or valuation techniques that require significant unobservable data inputs. These inputs would normally be
the Company’s own data and judgements about assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability.

The followingtable lists the Company’s financial assets and liabilities accounted for at fair value by the fair value hierarchy:

Fair Value Measurements at
Report Date Using

Balance at
December 31,
2020 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Deferred compensation liability $ 25,631 $ 4865 $ 20,766 $ —
Total $ 25631 $§ 4865 S 20,766 $ —
Fair Value Measurements at
Report Date Using
Balance at
December 31,
2019 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Deferred compensation lia bility $ 24949 § 2470 § 22479 § —
Total $ 24949 § 2470 § 22479 $ —

Fairvalue measurements for the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are classified basedupon Level | measurements because
such measurements are based upon quoted market prices in active markets foridentical assets.

Accountsreceivable, accounts payable, long-term debt and accrued liabilities are recorded in the financial statements atcostand
approximate fairvalue.

Deferred compensation liabilities are recorded atamounts due to participants atthe time of deferral. Deferrals are investedin an
investment vehicle based onthe options made available to the participant, considered to be Level | andLevel 2 on the fairvalue
hierarchy, with the majority ofthe balance as Level 2. The change in fair value is recorded in the profit sharing, bonuses, and deferred
compensation line item onthe Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). The balance due to participants is reflected
on the deferred compensationand long-term incentive line item on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company’s non-financial assets such as intangible assets and property, plant, and equipmentare re-measured at fair value
when there is an indication ofimpairment and adjusted only when an impairment charge is recognized.

Note 16. Revenue recognition
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Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities

The Company has contractassets and contractliabilities, which are included in other currentassets and other currentlia bilities
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, respectively. Contractassets include products wherethe Company has satisfied its performance
obligation, but receiptof payment is contingentupon delivery. Contract liabilities include deferred tooling revenue, where the
performanceobligation was not met. The performance obligation s satisfied when thetooling is completed and the customer signs off
through the PPAP. Cost of goods sold is recognized and released from the balance sheet when control of thetooling promised under
contractis transferred to the customer eitherat a point in time orovera period of time.

The Company’s contracts with customers are short-term in nature; therefore, revenue is typically recognized, billed and
collected within a 12-month period. The following table reflects the changes in our contractassets and liabilities during the twelve
months ended December31,2020.

Contract Contract
Assets Liabilities
As of December31,2019 $ 1,589 $ 914
Net activity 1,537 146
As of December31,2020 $ 3,126 $ 1,060
Disaggregated Revenue
The followingtable represents a disaggregation of revenue by product category:
Twelve Months Ended
December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Outdoorsports $ 7,225 $ 7,181 $ 6,862
Fabrication 227,476 334,340 147,099
Performance structures 60,597 71,881 84,231
Tube 49,868 71,108 80,715
Tank 19,431 40,033 39,641
Total 364,597 524,544 358,550
Intercompany sales elimination (6,991) (4,839) (4,024)
Total, net sales $ 357,606 $ 519,704 $ 354,526

Note 17. Temporary equity

Prior to ourIPOin May 2019, our common stock was considered redeemable under GAAP because of certain repurchase
obligations related to the ESOP. As a result, allcommon shares were recorded as temporary equity (redeemable common shares) on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their redemption value as ofthe respectivebalance sheetdates.

All contractual redemption features were removed at thetime ofthe IPO. As a consequence, all outstanding shares of common
stock ceased to be considered temporary equity and were reclassified to Shareholders’ Equity, including the associated balances of
retained earnings. As the common shares haveno par value, the amounts recorded in temporary equity for the shareredemption value
were recorded to additional paid-in capital within Shareholders’ Equity uponthe transfer.

The followingtable shows all changes to temporary equity during the period of January 1,2018 throughthe IPO.

Temporary Equity
Redeemable
Common Treasury Retained
Shares Shares Earnings
BalanceasofDecember31,2017 $ 125,042  $ (49,826) $ 17,671
Net income — — 17,936
Purchaseof treasury shares — (11,833) —
Redistribution of stockholders share — 4,000 —
Change in redemption value of outstanding redeemable common shares, net 8,764 — (8,764)
BalanceasofDecember31,2018 133,806 (57,659) 26,842
Net income pre-IPO — — 2,856
Transfer from temporary equity to common equity (133,800) 57,659 (29,698)
Balanceas ofDecember31,2019 $ — § — 3 =
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Note 18. Common equity

On May 13,2019, the Company issueda stock dividend specific to pre-IPO shares, of approximately 1,334.34-for-1. The share
dividend was accounted forasa 1,334.34-for-1 stock split and is retroactively reflected in these consolidated financial statements. All
share redemption provisions were removed effective with the IPO.

As disclosed in Note 2, /PO, the Company’s IPO of common stock was effectivein May 2019. In connection with the offering,
the Company sold a total of 6,402,209 shares of additional shares of common stock.

On June 28,2019, the Company cancelled 24,180,421 shares of common stock held in the Company’s treasury and returned
those shares to the status ofauthorized butunissued shares of common stock.

Note 19. Earnings per share

The company computes earnings per share in accordance with ASC Topic 260, Earnings per Share. In accordance with ASC
260, outstanding options will be considered to have beenexercised and outstandingas ofthe beginning of the period if the a verage
market price ofthe common stock during the period exceeds the exercise price ofthe options (theyare “in the money™), and the
assumedexercise of the options do not have an anti-dilutive impact on earnings per share.

Options in the money that were notincluded in the computation of diluted earnings per share because they would havehad

antidilutive impacton earnings per share were as follows:
Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Stock options 600,530 — —

Note 20. Concentration of major customers

The following customers accounted for 10% or greater of the Company’s recorded net sales and net trade receivables:

Net Sales Accounts Receivable
Twelve Months Ended December 31, As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2018 2020 2019
Customer

A 15.3% 15.1% 22.6% 11.3% <10%
B 11.1% 13.5% 19.3% <10% <10%
C 12.5% <10% 17.4% 12.2% <10%
D 11.6% 13.1% <10% <10% <10%
E <10% <10% <10% <10% 13.5%
F <10% <10% <10% <10% 10.4%
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Note 21. Stock based compensation

The Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Planallows the Company theability to provide monetary
payments based onthe value ofits common stock, up to two million shares.

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation using the fair value provisions prescribed by ASC Topic 718,
Compensation— Stock Compensation. Accordingly, compensation costs for awards of stock-based compensation settled in shares are
determined based on the fairvalue ofthe share-based instrumentatthe time of grantand are recognized as expense overthe vesting
period of the share-based instrument. Forunits, fair value is equivalentto the stock price atthe date of grant. The Black-Scholes
option pricing model is utilized to determine fair value for options.

Cancellations and forfeitures are accounted for as incurred.

Stock awards were granted on May 12,2020, February27,2020,andMay 8,2019. There were no stock awards granted prior to
thisand as a result, there is no informationincluded in the tables below fortheyear2018.

The Company’s stock-based compensation expenseby award typeis summarized as follows:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,
2020 2019
IPO unit awards $ 1,029 $ 1,871
Unit awards 2,305 1,080
Option awards 1,398 536
Stock based compensation expense, net oftax $ 4,732 $ 3487

[POunits were fully expensed during the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2020.
A rollforward of unrecognized stock-based compensation expenseis displayed in the table below. Unrecognized stock-based
compensation expense as of December 31,2020 will be expensed over theremaining requisite service period from which individual

award values relate, up to February27,2022.

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2020 2019
Units Options Total Units Options Total
Beginning balance $ 2,595 § 1,124  $ 3,719  §$ — 3 — 3 —
Grants 3,022 2,041 5,063 5,634 1,748 7,382
Forfeitures (738) (335) (1,073) (88) (88) (176)
Expense (3,334) (1,398) 4,732) (2,951) (536) (3,487)
Endingbalance $ 1,545 $ 1432 §$ 2977 § 2,595 8§ 1,124  $ 3,719

Units

A summary ofthe Company’s unit award activity is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019
‘Weighted-Average ‘Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair Grant Date Fair
Number of Units Value Number of Units Value

Nonvested, beginning of year 326,288  $ 17.00 — ¥ —
Grants 457369 $ 6.61 331,436 § 17.00
Forfeitures (62,409) $ 8.90 (5,148) $ 17.00
Vested (264,991) $ 17.00 — 3 —
Nonvested, end ofyear 456,257 $ 7.69 326,288 § 17.00
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Stock Options

A summary ofthe Company’s stock optionaward activityis as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019
Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Number of Options Exercise Price Number of Options Exercise Price
Nonvested, beginning of year 273479 $ 17.00 —  $ —
Grants 718,489 § 7.12 287,895 § 17.00
Forfeitures (148,026) $ 9.13 (14,416) $ 17.00
Vested (125.414) $ 17.00 — —
Nonvested, end ofyear 718,528 % 8.74 273479 § 17.00

As of December31,2020, there were 125,414 options issued and outstanding atan exercise price of $17.00 per share with a
remaining contractual life of 8.5 years. The intrinsic value of these outstanding options was zero based onthe Company’s stock price
asof December31,2020.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuationmodel to estimatethe fair value of stock options which were $2.84 and $6.07
forthose options granted during the years ended December 31,2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company utilized the following
assumptions in determining these fair values:

Inputs
Assumptions 2020 2019
Stock price at date of grant/exercise price $ 712 $ 17.00
Expected term (in years) 5.75 10.00
Estimated volatility 41.2% 21.3%
Estimatedrisk-free rate of return 1.2% 24%
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

The Company does nothave historical option exercise data to estimate the expected term. For options granted in 2020, the
Company began utilizing the simplified method prescribed by Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) Topic 14to estimate theexpected
term, which is calculated as the average of the vesting term and the contractual term. The 2020 option grants have a contractual life of
10 yearsanda requisite service period, or vesting term, of2 years with 50% vesting on the annual anniversary dates. Applying the
simplified method, the Company calculated the expected terms of each tranche to be 5.5 yearsand 6.0 years resulting in an average
expected temm of'5.75 years for these awards. The Company will continue to employ the simplified method untilmore relevant
detailed information becomes available from which to make this estimate.

Note 22. Greenwood facility closure and restructuring

Based onthe Company’s investments in new technology and automation, which have resulted in a smaller footprint requirement
to maintain manufacturing capacity, the Company announced it would be closing its Greenwood, SC facility on May 6,2020. The
facility closure was finalized during the third quarter of 2020 with all customer components re-distributed amongst five other MEC
manufacturing facilities. All customer relationships and manufactured components were maintained through this transition without
disruption to our customers.

Costs associated with the closureare beingaccounted forin accordance with ASC 420 Exitor Disposal Cost Obligations.

Forthe twelve months ended December 31,2020, the Company incurred $2,524 of costs associated with the facility closure and
restructuring, including $282 for severance and retentionbonus, $931 forthe loss on sale of manufacturing equipment not transferred
to another MEC facility, $78 forthebuyoutof operating leases, $622 for the disposition of inventory, and the remainder mostly
related to costs to close the facility and relocate equipmentto other facilities. These costs were recognized onthe costof sales line
item of the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).

The Greenwood facility has a netbook value ofapproximately $3,552as of December31,2020and is classifiedas assets held
forsale on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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The following table summarizes the activity related to the Greenwood restructuring through December31,2020:

Employee Severance Inventory Excess
and Retention Bonus and Obsolescence
Reserve Reserve Other Reserves Total Reserves

Balanceas ofDecember31,2019 $ — $ — 3 $ =
Charges 282 622 1,620 2,524
Cash receipts (payments) (282) 16 (1,620) (1,886)
Accrualadjustments — (638) — (638)
BalanceasofDecember31,2020 $ — $ — 3 = $ —

As a result of the Greenwood facility closure, future earnings and cash flows willno longerbe impacted by the depreciation
associated with the assets disposed of or the facility, maintenance costs of the facility, and facility personnel expenses.

Assets disposed ofhada netbook value 0f$2,475 with a remaining useful life of approximately 3 years resulting in
approximately $825 of annual depreciation expense that willno longerbe incurred. The facility has a net book value 0f$3,552 as of
December31,2020 with a remaining weighted a verage useful life of approximately 27 years resulting in approximately $133 of
annual depreciation expense that willno longer be incurred.

The Company incurred a pproximately $800 ofannual facility maintenance costs, including utilities, that willno longerbe
incurred.

Totalpersonnel costs associated with the facility were approximately $2,250 for the first quarter 2020 resulting in a pproximately
$9,000 ofannual personnel expenses, of which the majority ofthese costs will be transitioned to the other five MEC facilities that will
now be manufacturing these components. As previously mentioned, all customer rela tionships and manufacturing programs were
retained through the transition.

The aforementioned depreciation, maintenance costs, and personnel expenses associated with the Greenwood facility have been
classified as costof sales on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Note 23. Valuation and qualifying accounts

Balance at
beginning of Balance at
Description period Additions Deductions end of period
Yearended December31,2020
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 526 $ 1,582 $ 810 §$ 1,298
Yearended December31,2019
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 801 $ 308 % 583 §$ 526

Note 24. Subsequent events

The Company evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements
through March 5,2021, the date on which the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.
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Note 25. Quarterly results of operations (unaudited)

The followingtables present ourunaudited quarterly results of operations for the eight quarters in 2020and2019. This
unaudited information has been prepared on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial statements and includes all
adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring a djustments, that we consider necessary for fair statement of our consolidated
financial position and operating results for the quarters presented. This unaudited information should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Part I1, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Ouroperating
results forany quarter are not necessarily indicative ofresults for any future quarters or fora full year.

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Full Year
2020 2020 2020 2020 2020

Net sales $§ 108,605 $ 62,582 § 91,075 $ 95344 § 357,606
Costofsales 96,762 63,736 81,340 84,267 326,105
Amortization of intangibles 2,677 2,677 2,677 2,676 10,706
Profit sharing, bonuses, and deferred compensation 1,325 1,194 2,288 3,443 8,250
Employee Stock Ownership Plan expense 675 (675) — — —
Otherselling, generaland administrative expenses 5,599 4,552 4,490 4,402 19,043
Income (loss) from operations 1,567 (8,902) 280 556 (6,498)
Interest expense (826) (637) 647) (558) (2,668)
Income (loss) before taxes 741 (9,539) 367) ) 9,166)
Income tax expense (benefit) 691 (2,525) 733 (973) (2,074)
Net income (loss) and comprehensiveincome (loss) $ 50 $ (7,014)$ (1,100)9$ 971 $§  (7,092)
Earnings (loss) per share

Netincome (loss) available to shareholders $ 50 $ (7,014)$ (1,100)9$ 971 $§  (7,092)

Basic anddiluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.00 § (0.35)$ (0.05)$% 0.05 $ (0.36)

Basic anddiluted weighted average shares outstanding 19,533,533 19,902912 20,077,039 20,451203 19,898,122

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Full Year
2019 2019 2019 2019 2019

Net sales $ 143,732 § 145,130 § 128,511 $ 102,331 § 519,704
Costofsales 124,153 124,595 113,941 98,297 460,986
Amortization of intangibles 2,677 2,677 2,677 2,677 10,706
Profit sharing, bonuses, and deferred compensation 1,750 22,830 678 (153) 25,105
Employee Stock Ownership Plan expense 1,500 1,500 1,500 953 5,453
Otherselling, generaland administrative expenses 6,723 7,506 6,068 5,170 25,466
Contingent consideration revaluation 869 2,674 (9,598) — (6,054)
Income (loss) from operations 6,060 (16,652) 13,245 (4,612) (1,958)
Interest expense (2,832) (1,991) 987) 918) (6,728)
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (154) — — (154)
Income (loss) before taxes 3,228 (18,797) 12,258 (5,530) (8,840)
Income tax expense (benefit) 769 (3,513) 2,512 (3,857) (4,088)
Net income (loss) and comprehensiveincome (loss) $ 2459 § (15,284)8% 9,746 $ (1,673)$ (4,753)
Earnings (loss) per share

Net income (loss) available to shareholders $ 2,459 § (15,284)% 9,746 $ (1,673)$  (4,753)

Basic anddiluted earnings (loss) pershare $ 0.18 $ 091§ 049 $ 0.08)$ 0.27)

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding 13,443484 16,799915 19,740296 19,711921 17,447464
Tax-adjusted pro forma information

Net income (loss) available to shareholders $ 2459 § (15,284)% 9,746 $ (1,673)$ (4,753)

Pro forma provision forincometaxes 70 103 — — 173

Pro forma net income (loss) $ 2389 § (15,387)8% 9,746 $§ (1,673)$  (4,926)

Pro forma basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.18 $ 092)$% 049 $ 0.08)% (0.28)

Basic anddiluted weighted average shares outstanding 13,443484 16,799915 19,740296 19,711921 17,447464

IPOoccurred in Q2 0of2019
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

Notapplicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to
be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act 0f 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), isrecorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms ofthe SEC, and that such information s
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and ChiefFinancial Officer, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was
required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. The design of
any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions aboutthe likelihood of future events, and there
canbe no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals underall potential future conditions. Any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired objectives.

Our management, under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated theeffectiveness
of ourdisclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the
period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K and has concluded that, as of theend of such period, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effectiveatthe reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Rules 13a- 15(f)and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reportingis a process designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financialreportingand the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with GAAP. Our internal control over financial reporting includes thosepolicies and procedures that: (i)
pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our
assets, (i) provide reasonable assurance thattransactions arerecorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with GAAP, and that ourreceipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our
management and directors, and (iii) provide reasonable a ssurance regarding prevention or timely detection ofunauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect onour financial statements.

Our management, under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness
of ourinternal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations ofthe Treadway Commission. Based onthis evaluation, our management has concluded that,
asof December31,2020, ourinternal control over financial reporting was effective.

Because of'its inherentlimitations, internal control over financial reporting may not preventor detect misstatements. Also,
projections ofany evaluation ofeffectiveness to future periods are subjectto therisk thatthe controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Attestation Reportofthe Registered Public Accounting Firm

This AnnualReporton Form 10-K does notinclude anattestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm
due to an exemption established by the JOBS Act for “emerging growth companies.”
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

While preparing forthe IPOin 2019andas of December31,2019, we identified material weaknesses in the design and
operationof ourinternal control over financial reporting thathavebeen remediated as of December31,2020as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f)and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act.In2019 and 2020, we havetaken numerous steps to enhance our internal control
environmentand remediate the prior material weaknesses.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this I[tem with respectto directors and Section 16 compliance is included under the captions
“Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance— Committees” and “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports,” respectively, in the
Company’s definitive proxy statement forits 2021 annual meeting of shareholders (Proxy Statement) and is hereby incorporated
herein by reference. Information with respectto the executive officers ofthe Company appears in Item 1 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. The information required by this Item with respectto audit committees and audit committee financial experts is included
underthe caption “Corporate Governance” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct and Ethics thatapplies to allof the Company’s directors, officers and employees,
includingthe Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and other persons performing similar functions. The
Company has posteda copy of the Code of Conduct and Ethics on its website at www.mecinc.com. The Company intends to satisfy
the disclosure requirements under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding amendments to, or waivers from, the Code of Conduct and Ethics

by postingsuch information onits website at www.mecinc.com. We are not including the information contained on its website as part
of, orincorporating it by reference into, this report.

Item 11.Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item is included under the captions “Executive Compensation”and “2020 Director
Compensation” in the Proxy Statementand is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this Item with respectto security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is
included under the caption “Principal Shareholders” in the Proxy Statementand is hereby incorporated by reference.

The followingtable sets forth information with respect to compensation plans under which equity securities ofthe Company are
authorized forissuance as of December31, 2020:

Number of securities

Number of securities
issued or to be
issued upon vesting
of units or exercise

Weighted average
exercise price of

remaining available

for future issuance
under equity

compensation plans

of outstanding outstanding options, (excluding securities
options, warrants, warrants and rights reflected in column
Plan Category and rights 1) (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders ? 1,550,222 $ 8.74 449,778
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —
Total 1,550,222  $ 8.74 449,778

(O]

@ Consists of theMayville Engineering Company, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Represents weighted average exercise price of 718,528 outstanding options and does not take into account restricted stock units.

The information required by this Item is included under the caption “Corporate Governance” in the Proxy Statement and is

hereby incorporated by reference.

Item 14.Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item is included under the caption “Miscellaneous — Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm” in the Proxy Statement and is hereby incorporated by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index to the consolidated financial statements are filed as part
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules havebeen omitted because they are notapplicable or the required information is included in
the consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto.

Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the exhibit index below are filed as part ofthis Annual Reporton Form 10-K.
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Exhibit
Number

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

3.1

32

10.1t

10.21

103t

10.41

10.5t

10.6t

10.7t

10.81

10.91

10.101

10.11

10.12

10.13t

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. (incorporated by referenceto
Exhibit 3.1 to AmendmentNo. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-230840) filed on April 29,

2019).

Bylaws of Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. as amended to date (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December4,2020).

Description of Mayville Engineering Company, Inc.’s Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to the Company’s
AnnualReport on Form 10-K filed on March 2,2020).

Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 10.1to
Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statementon Form S-1 (File No. 333-230840) filed on April29,2019).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement(Non-Employee Director) under the Mayville Engineering Company,
Inc.2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Qfiled on June 18,2019).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement(Employee) under the Mayville Engineering Company, Inc.2019
Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on June 18,2019).

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under the Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8to AmendmentNo. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
230840) filed on April29,2019).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Non-Employee Director) under the Mayville Engineering Company, Inc.
2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registration
Statementon Form S-1 (File No. 333-230840) filed on April29,2019).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Employee) under the Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. 2019 Omnibus
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to AmendmentNo. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-
1 (File No. 333-230840) filed on April29,2019).

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under the Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan
(Full Term Exercise Period on Retirement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on January 29,2020).

Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective May 13,2019
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on June 18,2019).

Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registration Statementon Form S-1 (File No. 333-230840) filed on April 12,2019).

Form of Severance Agreement between Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. and each of Robert D. Kamphuis and Todd
M. Butz (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 tothe Registration Statementon Form S-1 (File No. 333-230840) filed
on April 12,2019).

Form of Change in Control Employment and Severance Agreementbetween Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. and
each of Robert D. Kamphuis and Todd M. Butz(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 3,2020).

Form of Change in Control Employment and Severance Agreementbetween Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. and
each of RyanF.Raberand Randall P. Stille (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 tothe Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed on November 3,2020).

Memorandum of Agreementbetween Mayville Engineering Company, Inc. and Robert D. Kamphuis (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-230840) filed on April 12,2019).
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Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of September 26,2019, by and among Mayville Engineering
Company, Inc., the lenders from time to time party thereto, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative
Agent forthe lenders, and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Current Reporton Form 8-K filed on October2,2019).

Second Amendment, datedas ofJune30,2020, to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of September
26,2019, by and among Mayville Engineering Company, Inc., the lenders from time to timeparty thereto, Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent forthelenders,and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC,as Sole Lead
Arrangerand Sole Bookrunner (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Current Report on Form §-K
filed on July 6,2020).

List of Subsidiaries of Mayville Engineering Company, Inc.

Consentof Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuantto Rules 13a-14(a)and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act
0f 1934, as Adopted Pursuantto Section 302 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002.

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a)and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act
0f 1934, as Adopted Pursuantto Section 302 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002.

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f 2002.

Proxy Statement forthe2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. [To be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commissionunder Regulation 14A within 120 days after December 31,2020; exceptto theextent specifically
incorporated by reference, the Proxy Statementforthe2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders shallnot be deemed to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionas part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K].

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* Filed herewith.
¥ Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirementsof Section 13 or 1 5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act 0£1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly
causedthis Reportto be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MAYVILLE ENGINEERING COMPANY, INC.

Date: March5,2021 By: /s/ Robert D. Kamphuis
RobertD. Kamphuis
Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirementsof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Reporthas been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrantin the capacities and on thedates indicated.

Name Title Date

Chairman, President, Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Robert D. Kamphuis (Principal Executive Officer) and Director March 5,2021
Robert D. Kamphuis

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial

/s/ Todd M. Butz and Accounting Officer) March 5,2021
Todd M. Butz
/s/ Allen J. Carlson Director March 5,2021
Allen J. Carlson
/s/ Timothy L. Christen Director March 5,2021
Timothy L. Christen
/s/ Steven L. Fisher Director March 5,2021
Steven L. Fisher
/s/ CraigE. Johnson Director March 5,2021
Craig E. Johnson
/s/ Jennifer J. Kent Director March 5,2021
Jennifer J. Kent
/s/ Patrick D. Michels Director March 5,2021
Patrick D. Michels
/s/ Jay O.Rothman Director March 5,2021

Jay O. Rothman
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OFFICERS & DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Robert D. Kamphuis
CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Todd M. Butz
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Ryan F. Raber
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT—STRATEGY, SALES AND MARKETING

Rand P. Stille
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

Eric J. Welak
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT—FABRICATION OPERATIONS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Allen J. Carlson
UNIVERSITY OF FLORIDA COLLEGE OF ENGINEERING

Timothy L. Christen

RETIRED BUSINESS EXECUTIVE
AND INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT

Steven L. Fisher
RETIRED BUSINESS EXECUTIVE

Craig E. Johnson
RETIRED BUSINESS EXECUTIVE

Jennifer J. Kent

EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT OF ADMINISTRATION,
GENERAL COUNSEL & SECRETARY—QUAD

Patrick D. Michels
PRESIDENT AND CEO—MICHELS CORPORATION

Jay O. Rothman
CHAIRMAN AND CEO—FOLEY & LARDNER LLP





